

ΕΘΝΙΚΟ ΚΑΙ ΚΑΠΟΔΙΣΤΡΙΑΚΟ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ

ΣΧΟΛΗ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΩΝ ΥΓΕΙΑΣ

ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗ ΣΧΟΛΗ

ΑΤΤΙΚΟΝ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΑΚΟ ΝΟΣΟΚΟΜΕΙΟ Δ' ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΑΚΗ ΠΑΘΟΛΟΓΙΚΗ ΚΛΙΝΙΚΗ ΔΙΕΥΘΥΝΤΗΣ: ΔΗΜΗΤΡΙΟΣ ΜΠΟΥΜΠΑΣ

ΜΗ ΚΛΑΣΙΚΑ ΜΟΝΟΚΥΤΤΑΡΑ ΣΤΟ ΣΥΣΤΗΜΑΤΙΚΟ ΕΡΥΘΗΜΑΤΩΔΗ ΛΥΚΟ (ΣΕΛ): ΜΟΡΙΑΚΟΣ ΚΑΙ ΛΕΙΤΟΥΡΓΙΚΟΣ ΧΑΡΑΚΤΗΡΙΣΜΟΣ

> ΕΙΡΗΝΗ-ΜΑΡΙΑ ΣΤΕΡΓΙΩΤΗ ΧΗΜΙΚΟΣ, MSc

ΔΙΔΑΚΤΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΤΡΙΒΗ

ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ 2023 ΑΘΗΝΑ



NATIONAL AND KAPODISTRIAN UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS

SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

ATTIKON UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL 4TH DEPARTMENT OF INTERNAL MEDICINE HEAD: DIMITRIOS BOUMPAS

NON-CLASSICAL MONOCYTES IN SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS (SLE): MOLECULAR AND FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERIZATION

> EIRINI-MARIA STERGIOTI CHEMIST, MSc

> > **DOCTORAL THESIS**

OCTOBER 2023 ATHENS

Ημερομηνία αίτησης: 02/09/2020

Ημερομηνία ορισμού τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής: 28/09/2020

Μέλη τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής:

Δημήτριος Μπούμπας (Επιβλέπων Καθηγητής) Γεώργιος Μπερτσιάς Παναγιώτης Βεργίνης

Ημερομηνία ορισμού θέματος: 19/10/2020

Ημερομηνία καταθέσεως της διδακτορικής διατριβής: 24/10/2023

Πρόεδρος Ιατρικής Σχολής:

Καθηγητής Γεράσιμος Δ. Σιάσος

Επταμελής Εξεταστική Επιτροπή:

- 1. Δημήτριος Μπούμπας (Επιβλέπων Καθηγητής), Καθηγητής, Ιατρική Σχολή, ΕΚΠΑ
- Γεώργιος Μπερτσιάς, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Ιατρική Σχολή, Πανεπιστήμιο
 Κρήτης

Παναγιώτης Βεργίνης, Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής, Ιατρική Σχολή, Πανεπιστήμιο
 Κρήτης

- 4. Δημήτριος Βασιλόπουλος, Καθηγητής, Ιατρική Σχολή, ΕΚΠΑ
- 5. Μαρία Ρουμπελάκη, Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια, Ιατρική Σχολή, ΕΚΠΑ
- 6. Θέμις Αλισσάφη, Επίκουρη Καθηγήτρια, Ιατρική Σχολή, ΕΚΠΑ
- 7. Αντώνης Φανουριάκης, Επίκουρος Καθηγητής, Ιατρική Σχολή, ΕΚΠΑ

Όρκος του Ιπποκράτη

Όμνυμι Άπόλλωνα ἰητρὸν, καὶ Ἀσκληπιὸν, καὶ Ὑγείαν, καὶ Πανάκειαν, καὶ Θεοὺς πάντας τε καὶ πάσας, ἴστορας ποιεύμενος, ἐπιτελέα ποιήσειν κατὰ δύναμιν καὶ κρίσιν ἐμὴν ὅρκον τόνδε καὶ ξυγγραφὴν τήνδε.

Ήγήσασθαι μὲν τὸν διδάξαντά με τὴν τέχνην ταύτην ἴσα γενέτῃσιν ἐμοῖσι, καὶ βίου κοινώσασθαι, καὶ χρεῶν χρηίζοντι μετάδοσιν ποιήσασθαι, καὶ γένος τὸ ἐξ ωὐτέου ἀδελφοῖς ἴσον ἐπικρινέειν ἄῥρεσι, καὶ διδάξειν τὴν τέχνην ταύτην, ἢν χρηίζωσι μανθάνειν, ἄνευ μισθοῦ καὶ ξυγγραφῆς, παραγγελίης τε καὶ ἀκροήσιος καὶ τῆς λοιπῆς ἁπάσης μαθήσιος μετάδοσιν ποιήσασθαι υἰοῖσί τε ἐμοῖσι, καὶ τοῖσι τοῦ ἐμὲ διδάξαντος, καὶ μαθηταῖσι συγγεγραμμένοισί τε καὶ ὡρκισμένοις νόμῳ ἰητρικῷ, ἄλλῳ δὲ οὐδενί.

Διαιτήμασί τε χρήσομαι ἐπ' ὠφελείῃ καμνόντων κατὰ δύναμιν καὶ κρίσιν ἐμὴν, ἐπὶ δηλήσει δὲ καὶ ἀδικίῃ εἴρξειν.

Οὐ δώσω δὲ οὐδὲ φάρμακον οὐδενὶ αἰτηθεὶς θανάσιμον, οὐδὲ ὑφηγήσομαι ξυμβουλίην τοιήνδε. Όμοίως δὲ οὐδὲ γυναικὶ πεσσὸν φθόριον δώσω. Άγνῶς δὲ καὶ ὁσίως διατηρήσω βίον τὸν ἐμὸν καὶ τέχνην τὴν ἐμήν.

Οὐ τεμέω δὲ οὐδὲ μὴν λιθιῶντας, ἐκχωρήσω δὲ ἐργάτῃσιν ἀνδράσι πρήξιος τῆσδε.

Ές οἰκίας δὲ ὁκόσας ἂν ἐσίω, ἐσελεύσομαι ἐπ' ὠφελείῃ καμνόντων, ἐκτὸς ἐὼν πάσης ἀδικίης ἑκουσίης καὶ φθορίης, τῆς τε ἄλλης καὶ ἀφροδισίων ἔργων ἐπί τε γυναικείων σωμάτων καὶ ἀνδρῷων, ἐλευθέρων τε καὶ δούλων.

Ά δ' ἂν ἐν θεραπείῃ ἢ ἴδω, ἢ ἀκούσω, ἢ καὶ ἄνευ θεραπηίης κατὰ βίον ἀνθρώπων, ἂ
μὴ χρή ποτε ἐκλαλέεσθαι ἔξω, σιγήσομαι, ἄρἑρητα ἡγεύμενος εἶναι τὰ τοιαῦτα.

Όρκον μὲν οὖν μοι τόνδε ἐπιτελέα ποιέοντι, καὶ μὴ ξυγχέοντι, εἴη ἐπαύρασθαι καὶ βίου καὶ τέχνης δοξαζομένῳ παρὰ πᾶσιν ἀνθρώποις ἐς τὸν αἰεὶ χρόνον. παραβαίνοντι δὲ καὶ ἐπιορκοῦντι, τἀναντία τουτέων.

Curriculum Vitae

PROFILE

• Personal data

Date of birth: November 1994 Place of residence: Marousi, Athens, Greece Nationality: Greek Languages: Greek, English (C2), French (C1)

EXPERIENCE

- Employment history & Research training
- <u>09.2020 current</u> PhD Candidate, Medical School, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens in collaboration with Attikon hospital and BRFAA
 - PhD Thesis: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and Functional characterization", Laboratory of Inflammation and Autoimmunity, Center of Clinical, Experimental Surgery & Translational Research, Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens (BRFAA), 3-Member Committee: Prof. Dr. Dimitrios T. Boumpas, Assoc. Prof. G. Bertsias, Assoc. Prof. P. Verginis (GSK funded)
- <u>10.2017 10.2019</u> MSc in Clinical Biochemistry-Molecular Diagnosis, Department of Biology, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece
 - MSc Thesis: "The role of interchromosomal

interactions in the regulation of gene expression", Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Center of Basic Research, BRFAA, Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Dimitris Thanos

- <u>09.2012 02.2017</u> BSc in Chemistry, Department of Chemistry, University of Patras, Greece
 - BSc Thesis: "Regulation of miR-145 in androgensensitive prostate cancer", Université Paris-Est Creteil -Faculté de Médecine, Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Alexandre de la Taille
 - Internship: "Heterologous expression and isolation of human ThPOK transcription factor from E.coli", Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Dimitris Thanos

EDUCATIONAL TRAJECTORY

- Academic studies
- 09.2020 current PhD in Immunology, Medical School, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens in collaboration with Attikon hospital and BRFAA
- <u>10.2017 10.2019</u> MSc in Clinical Biochemistry-Molecular Diagnosis, Department of Biology, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece
 Overall Diploma Grade: 8.60/10
- <u>09.2012 02.2017</u> BSc in Chemistry, Department of Chemistry, University of Patras, Greece Overall Diploma Grade: 7.58/10

SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS IN JOURNALS

- <u>E.M. Stergioti</u> et al. Transcriptomic and proteomic profiling reveals distinct pathogenic features of peripheral non-classical monocytes in systemic lupus erythematosus, <u>Clinical Immunology</u>. (2023) 109765. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2023.109765</u>
- <u>E.M. Stergioti</u> et al. Antiviral Innate Immune Responses in Autoimmunity: Receptors, Pathways, and Therapeutic Targeting, **Biomedicines**, 10 (2022) 2820. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10112820</u>.

PUBLICATIONS IN CONFERENCES (posters & oral presentations)

1. <u>31.05 – 03.06.2023:</u> 23rd European Congress of Rheumatology, EULAR, Milan, Italy.

Poster: "In SLE patients treated with Belimumab, type I IFN and BAFF gene signatures predict clinical response: Evidence for reversal of molecular pathways linked to activity and severity upon treatment" (G. S. Moysidou, P. Garantziotis, M. Grigoriou, <u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

2. <u>09-11.03.2023</u>: 42nd European Workshop for Rheumatology Research, EWRR, Dublin, Ireland.

Oral: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and functional characterization suggests differentiation to a functionally active macrophage phenotype that may promote tissue injury" (<u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

3. <u>25-26.11.2022:</u> 5th Lupus School, Athens, Greece.

Oral: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and Functional characterization" (<u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

4. <u>26-27.11.2021:</u> 4th Lupus School, Athens, Greece.

Oral: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and Functional characterization" (<u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

5. <u>26-28.11.2021</u>: 71st National Conference of the Hellenic Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (HSBMB), Congress Centre NCSR "Demokritos", Athens, Greece.

Poster: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and Functional characterization" (<u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

6. 04-05.12.2020: 3rd Lupus School, Athens, Greece.

Oral: "Non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE): Molecular and Functional characterization" (<u>E. Stergioti</u> et al)

GRANTS-SCHOLARSHIPS

- 1. EULAR Travel Bursary, EWRR, March 2023, Dublin, Ireland (top-selected student)
- 2. Onassis Seminar Lecture Series Travel Grant, July 2019, Crete, Greece (top-selected student)

SUMMER SCHOOLS

- 1. 11th International Summer School in Medical Biosciences Research & Management (WHBA), May 2023, Mani, Greece (*top-selected student*)
- 2. Onassis Foundation Science Lecture Series on Genome Editing, FORTH, July 2019, Crete, Greece (top-selected student)

Acknowledgements

The present thesis was performed at the Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens in collaboration with the 4th Pathology Clinic in Attikon University Hospital under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Dimitrios T. Boumpas. I express my heartfelt appreciation for the assignment of this project and the invaluable guidance provided during the course of my doctoral thesis. I am especially thankful to Dr. Aggelos Banos and Dr. Theodora Manolakou for their valuable help and enlightening discussions.

I would like to thank George Sentis, Dr. Martina Samiotaki, Prof. George Bertsias and Prof. Panayotis Verginis for sharing their expertise and the insightful discussions we had. In addition, I would also like to express my gratitude to my colleagues Dr. Maria Grigoriou, Athina Boumpa, Athina Varveri, Miranta Papadopoulou, Alexandros Grivas, Dr. Anastasia Filia, Dr. Katerina Hatzioannou, Lefteris Chavatzas, Dr. Nikos Papaioanou, and Dr. Dimitra Kerdidani. I could not be more thankful to the clinicians' team Prof. Antonis Fanouriakis, Dr. Noemin Kapsala, Dr. Sofia Flouda, Dr. Elena Sampatakaki and RN Anastasia Stergioti for providing invaluable support with human sample collection.

I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to a very special person, Panagiotis Iliopoulos, my partner, for his endless encouragement, understanding and for always being there for me. Finally, I could not forget my family that has always been a constant source of inspiration throughout my academic studies, my sister Anastasia Stergioti and my friends, Maria Balamatsi, Fotini Tsakalidi, Alexandra Mamagkaki and Dimitra Tsirba. Without their help and support, the completion of my thesis would have not been feasible.

Contents

ABSTRACT11
ПЕРІЛНѰН
GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT
Outline14
INTRODUCTION15
AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES
The Etiology of SLE: An In-Depth Examination of Causative Factors
26 Immunological mechanisms leading to SLE pathogenesis
MONOCYTES: KEY REGULATORS OF THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM 29 Exploring the Three Monocytic Subsets 29 Developmental Trajectories of the Three Monocytic Subsets 31
Monocyte Functions During Physiological Conditions
37 Proteomics
AIM OF THE STUDY41
RESULTS & PUBLICATIONS
ANTIVIRAL INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES IN AUTOIMMUNITY: RECEPTORS, PATHWAYS, AND THERAPEUTIC TARGETING43
TRANSCRIPTOMIC AND PROTEOMIC PROFILING REVEALS DISTINCT PATHOGENIC FEATURES OF PERIPHERAL NON-CLASSICAL MONOCYTES IN SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS72
DISCUSSION
LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY
REFERENCES

Abstract

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic, multisystem autoimmune disease that manifests diverse clinical and molecular abnormalities attributed to the loss of self-tolerance to nucleic acids and endogenous antigens and sustained autoantibody production. Excessive and irreversible tissue damage caused by autoantibodies and immune-complex deposition affects multiple organs leading to significant morbidity and increased mortality. Peripheral blood monocytes propagate inflammation and the development of end-organ damage in SLE. Three major populations of monocytes have been recognized namely classical (CM), intermediate (IM) and nonclassical monocytes (NCM). Aberrations in monocytic pathophysiology underlie the SLE pathology and lead to perpetuation of inflammation and tissue injury. Recent studies emphasize the involvement of terminally differentiated immune cell subsets on tissue damage and severity of the disease. Despite the compelling evidence that NCM substantially contribute to disease progression in the target tissues, they remain the least explored subtype. The aim of this study is to further investigate the role and function of NCM in SLE. Understanding the molecular pathways involved in NCM activation and function in the periphery of patients with active SLE, before migrating into the tissues can guide the development of targeted therapies to modulate their effects. To this end, we performed a comprehensive transcriptomic, proteomic and functional characterization of the three peripheral monocytic subsets from active SLE patients and healthy individuals. Our data demonstrate extensive molecular disruptions in circulating SLE NCM, characterized by enhanced inflammatory features such as deregulated DNA repair and cell cycle and heightened IFN signaling combined with differentiation and developmental cues. Enhanced DNA damage, elevated expression of p53, G₀ arrest of cell cycle and increased autophagy stress the differentiation potential of NCM in SLE. This immunogenic profile is associated with an activated macrophage phenotype of NCM exhibiting M1 features in the circulation, fueling the inflammatory response. Together, these findings identify circulating SLE NCM as a pathogenic cell type in the disease that could represent an additional therapeutic target.

Περίληψη

Ο Συστηματικός Ερυθηματώδης Λύκος (ΣΕΛ) είναι μια χρόνια, συστημική αυτοάνοση νόσος που εκδηλώνει ποικίλες κλινικές και μοριακές διαταραχές που αποδίδονται στην απώλεια αυτοανοχής στα νουκλεϊκά οξέα και άλλα ενδογενή αντιγόνα, με συνέπεια την παραγωγή αυτοαντισωμάτων. Η υπερβολική και μη αναστρέψιμη βλάβη των ιστών που προκαλείται από τα αυτοαντισώματα και την εναπόθεση των ανοσουμπλεγμάτων επηρεάζει τα υποκείμενα όργανα οδηγώντας σε σημαντική νοσηρότητα και αυξημένη θνησιμότητα. Τα μονοκύτταρα του περιφερικού αίματος επιδεινώνουν τη φλεγμονή και την ανάπτυξη βλάβης τελικών οργάνων στον ΣΕΛ. Τρεις κύριοι υποπληθυσμοί μονοκυττάρων έχουν αναγνωριστεί και συγκεκριμένα τα κλασικά, τα ενδιάμεσα και τα μη κλασικά μονοκύτταρα. Οι διαταραχές στην φυσιολογία των μονοκυττάρων αποτελούν βασικό πυλώνα της παθογένειας του ΣΕΛ και οδηγούν στη διαιώνιση της φλεγμονής και στη βλάβη των ιστών. Πρόσφατες μελέτες τονίζουν τη συμμετοχή τελικώς διαφοροποιημένων υποσυνόλων ανοσοκυττάρων στη βλάβη των ιστών και τη σοβαρότητα της νόσου. Πάρα τα σημαντικά ευρήματα ότι τα μη κλασικά μονοκύτταρα συμβάλλουν στην εξέλιξη της νόσου στους ιστούς στόχους, παραμένουν ο λιγότερο μελετημένος υπότυπος. Στόχος της παρούσας διατριβής είναι η περαιτέρω διερεύνηση του ρόλου και της λειτουργίας των μη κλασικών μονοκυττάρων στον ΣΕΛ. Η κατανόηση των μοριακών οδών που εμπλέκονται στην ενεργοποίηση και λειτουργία των μη κλασικών μονοκυττάρων στην περιφέρεια των ασθενών με ενεργό νόσο, πριν από τη μετανάστευση τους στους ιστούς στόχους, μπορεί να οδηγήσει στην ανάπτυξη στοχευμένων θεραπειών για τη ρύθμιση των αποτελεσμάτων τους. Για τον λόγο αυτό, στη παρούσα διατριβή πραγματοποιήσαμε έναν ολοκληρωμένο μεταγραφικό, πρωτεομικό και λειτουργικό χαρακτηρισμό των τριών περιφερικών μονοκυτταρικών υποπληθυσμών από ασθενείς με ενεργό ΣΕΛ και υγιή άτομα. Τα αποτελέσματά μας καταδεικνύουν εκτεταμένες μοριακές διαταραχές στα μη κλασικά μονοκύτταρα του περιφερικού αίματος, που χαρακτηρίζονται από ενισχυμένα φλεγμονώδη χαρακτηριστικά όπως η απορυθμισμένη επιδιόρθωση του DNA, ο κυτταρικός κύκλος και η αυξημένη σηματοδότηση ιντερφερόνης σε συνδυασμό με στοιχεία διαφοροποίησης και αναπτυξιακές διαδικασίες. Η ενισχυμένη βλάβη του DNA, η

αυξημένη έκφραση του p53, η διακοπή του κυτταρικού κύκλου στην G0 φάση και η αυξημένη αυτοφαγία, τονίζουν τη δυνατότητα διαφοροποίησης των μη κλασικών μονοκυττάρων στον ΣΕΛ. Αυτό το παθογονικό προφίλ σχετίζεται με έναν ενεργοποιημένο φαινότυπο των μη κλασικών μονοκυττάρων που εμφανίζει χαρακτηριστικά M1 στην κυκλοφορία, τροφοδοτώντας τη φλεγμονώδη απόκριση. Συμπερασματικά, τα ευρήματα αυτά υπογραμμίζουν τα μη κλασικά μονοκύτταρα ως ένα παθογόνο κυτταρικό τύπο στη νόσο που θα μπορούσε να χρησιμοποιηθεί ως ένας επιπλέον θεραπευτικός στόχος για την νόσο.

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



Outline

Herein, we performed a comprehensive transcriptomic, proteomic and functional characterization of the three peripheral monocytic subsets from active SLE patients and healthy individuals. Our data demonstrate extensive molecular and proteomic perturbations in peripheral SLE NCM, characterized by enhanced inflammatory features, increased DNA damage response, cell cycle arrest and enhanced autophagy. This immunogenic profile is associated with an activated macrophage phenotype of NCM exhibiting M1 characteristics in the circulation, fueling the inflammatory response. NCM differentiation in SLE may contribute to the vascular inflammation and tissue injury. Together, these findings identify circulating SLE NCM as a pathogenic cell type in the disease that might represent an additional target for therapeutic intervention.

Introduction

Autoimmune diseases

Autoimmune diseases (AD), with the exception of rheumatoid arthritis and autoimmune thyroiditis, are individually rare, but collectively they affect approximately one in ten individuals [1]. These disorders can involve essentially any organ system and affect individuals of any age, with a much greater prevalence among women [2–4]. They are chronic pathologies characterized by the loss of immunological tolerance to self-antigens. The manifestations range from acute, life-threatening organ failure to subtle laboratory abnormalities that can easily escape notice. Clinically, autoimmune diseases can be restricted in the pattern of organ involvement (organ-specific) or be generalized (systemic or non-organ-specific). An interplay of environmental, genetic and epigenetic factors leading to perturbation of complex biological networks has been well documented with a steady increase in prevalence after WWII that cannot be merely attributed to genetic factors [5].

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Understanding the Complex Landscape of SLE: Prognosis, Diagnosis and Management of the Disease

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a prototypic, chronic, multisystem autoimmune disease that manifests diverse clinical and molecular abnormalities attributed to the loss of self-tolerance to nucleic acids and endogenous antigens and sustained autoantibody production [6,7]. Excessive and irreversible tissue damage caused by autoantibodies or immune-complex deposition affects multiple organs such as skin, kidneys, blood, brain and heart, leading to significant morbidity and increased mortality [5,8]. SLE is a worldwide disease, with an annual occurrence rate ranging from 1.5 to 7.4 cases per 100,000 individuals in Europe [9]. While SLE can affect individuals across all age groups, the most significant risk factor is the female sex, with a female to male ratio of 9 to 1 [10,11]. SLE is defined by clinical

heterogeneity, with patients encountering a range of symptoms such as fatigue, skin rashes, fever, and painful or swollen joints (Figure 1). In some individuals, SLE symptoms can manifest periodically, referred as "flares", with intermittent occurrences that may span years, followed by symptom-free periods known as "remission". Moreover, symptoms can differ from one individual to another and may fluctuate depending on the affected part of the body, ranging in severity from mild to moderate or severe [5,12].



Figure 1. The multifaceted nature of SLE. SLE is a chronic, autoimmune inflammatory condition that can impact various organs, with each organ displaying distinct manifestations. Adopted by Fanouriakis et al [5].

Despite advances in the pathogenesis and treatment, several unmet needs exist in SLE. Flares are common, with an average of around 0.3 flares per year even in well controlled patients, elevating the risk of additional damage and increasing morbidity and mortality. Achieving remission is associated with a reduced likelihood of long-term damage accumulation in SLE. Remission rates can vary significantly across different studies. Unfavorable prognostic factors associated with persistent disease activity include hematological manifestations and glomerulonephritis [13,14].

Diagnosing lupus can be challenging due to its ability to mimic other medical conditions, necessitating the use of clinical and serologic criteria. Precise evaluation of disease activity and the establishment of well-defined criteria for measuring treatment response and disease states are pivotal, as they largely influence clinical decision-making in the management of SLE. A diagnostic approach to patients with SLE includes a combination of the ACR-1997, SLUCC-2012 and EULAR/ACR-2019 classification criteria [5]. SLE activity indices or assessment tools help in monitoring disease progression, guiding treatment decisions, and evaluating the response to therapy. Several activity indices are available, and the choice of which one to use may depend on clinical practice preferences and the specific need of the patient. Among them, SLEDAI is one of the most widely used indices as it assesses disease activity based on a set of 24 clinical and laboratory features. These parameters cover a wide range of SLE manifestations including skin rashes, joint involvement, kidney function, as well as laboratory tests and immunological features. Blood tests are a crucial part of the diagnostic process for SLE and include (i) the evaluation of serum complement levels (C3, C4) which may be low in active SLE, (ii) the measurement of complete blood count (CBC) to assess for anemia, leukopenia, or thrombocytopenia, (iii) the antinuclear antibodies (ANA) test, (iv) the autoantibody testing for specific autoantibodies such as anti-double-stranded DNA (anti-dsDNA) and anti-Smith (anti-Sm) antibodies, (v) the assessment of erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-Reactive Protein (CRP) and (vi) finally the urinalysis to check for proteinuria, hematuria, or cellular casts, which may indicate kidney damage. Each parameter is assigned a numerical score based on its severity or presence. Moreover, the Lupus Low Disease Activity State (LLDAS) is a state rather than an index and represents a desirable treatment goal. It signifies a state of low disease activity or quiescence based on specific criteria related to clinical and serological parameters. Of note, the current activity indices exhibit limitations affecting the success of clinical trials and the emergence of new therapeutic strategies to manage SLE pathogenesis [15,16].

Managing SLE remains a formidable task due to the unpredictable progression of the disease and its impact on multiple organs (Figure 2) [17]. Current therapeutic schemes in SLE include antimalarial drugs such as chloroquine (CQ), and

hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) and are commonly prescribed to manage skin rashes, joint pain, and fatigue and reduce the risk of disease flares. Antimalarial agents primarily exert their effects by suppressing lysosomal activity and autophagy, as well as by inhibiting the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and signaling cascades of the immune system [18]. Also, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as ibuprofen or naproxen, are used to relieve mild to moderate pain, joint pain, and inflammation associated with SLE. They exert their effects primarily through inhibition of enzymes known as cyclooxygenases (COX) which are responsible for converting a fatty acid called arachidonic acid into prostaglandins. Prostaglandins are signaling molecules that promote inflammation and pain when released in response to tissue injury or inflammation. By inhibiting COX enzymes, NSAIDs reduce the production of prostaglandins, which in turn leads to a decrease in the inflammatory response and a reduction in pain and fever [19]. Moreover, glucocorticosteroids (GCs) like prednisone are often prescribed to reduce inflammation and manage symptoms during SLE flares. In contrast, GCs can effectively manage disease activity by diminishing the secretion of cytokines, adhesion molecules and inflammatory mediators, as well as by inhibiting leukocyte activity and trafficking [20,21]. They can also inhibit the function of immune cells involved in the immune response, including T cells by modulating gene expression induced upon TCR (T Cell Receptor Signaling) triggering [22]. Moreover, a recent study unveiled that GCs orchestrate the metabolic processes of macrophages by suppressing glycolysis while enhancing the flow of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, fostering an anti-inflammatory response [23]. Due to the remarkable effectiveness of GCs in dampening disease flares, they have been used as basic treatment strategy for SLE over the years, however they are typically used at the lowest possible dose for the shortest duration in order to minimize side effects [24]. Furthermore, non-corticosteroid immunosuppressants are a group of medications that directly target the immune system and include cyclophosphamide (CYC), mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), azathioprine (AZA), and methotrexate (MTX). These medications are used to prevent or manage severe organ involvement, and control immune system activity and more aggressive forms of SLE. These agents are employed to target activated T cells and B cells [25–27]. In addition, another medication for SLE includes biologic agents such as belimumab,

anifrolumab, and rituximab, that especially target components of the immune system. Monoclonal antibodies, used in the treatment of patients with SLE, directly or indirectly influence the survival and activation of B-cells, leading to either B-cell depletion or the inhibition of their functional repertoire [28–30]. Currently, the treatment strategy for SLE centers around the "treat-to-target" principle, aiming to achieve low disease activity or, ideally, remission of systemic symptoms and organ manifestations in patients with SLE [31]. There exists a substantial demand for advancements in both the diagnosis and treatment of SLE. The inherently heterogeneous nature of SLE pose significant challenges in evaluating the effectiveness of pharmaceutical interventions in clinical trials.



Figure 2. Treatment strategy for the management of SLE. Assessing the severity of SLE relies on (i) the presence of major organ involvement or conditions that pose a threat to organs; (ii) concurrent activity affecting several non-major organs; and (iii) the necessity for administering elevated doses of GCs and/or immunosuppressive treatment. aPL, antiphospholipid antibody; AZA, azathioprine; BEL, belimumab; CNI, calcineurin inhibitors; CYC, pulse cyclophosphamide; EULAR, European League Against Rheumatism; GC, glucocorticoids; HCQ, hydroxychloroquine; MMF, mycophenolate mofetil; RTX, rituximab; SLEDAI, SLE Disease Activity Index. Adopted by Fanouriakis et al [5].

The Etiology of SLE: An In-Depth Examination of Causative Factors

Immunological tolerance is an active, tightly regulated, fine-tuned response of the immune system to autoantigens or against various environmental entities that prevent the immune system to mount possibly harmful responses. The discrimination between self- and nonself antigens is pivotal for the proper functioning of the immune system. Failure of immunological tolerance leading to an aberrant immune response against host antigens is critical for the development of autoimmunity [32]. The etiology remains elusive although the emergence of SLE is associated with genetic vulnerability, and a variety of factors such as environmental stresses, sex, stochastic events that can trigger disease onset in genetically susceptible individuals. Viral infections have been proposed as potential triggers or contributors to the pathogenesis of SLE, although their precise mechanism of action is still unclear (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The pathogenetic landscape of SLE. Genetic, environmental and hormonal factors, and stochastic events affect both innate and adaptive immune responses in various ways and culminate in organ failure. Additionally, identification and characterization of the molecular drivers of immune system activation may lead to

interventions that prevent autoimmunity or at least prevent progression to clinical disease. Adopted by Crow [33].

Environmental factors

Environmental factors play a crucial role in the development of SLE. One important environmental factor is ultraviolet (UV) light exposure [34]. Sunlight, specifically UVB radiation, is known to trigger or exacerbate SLE symptoms in susceptible individuals. UV radiation can induce reactive oxygen species (ROS) and DNA damage, production of self-antigens and autoreactive T cells and alter the expression of genes involved in immune regulation [35–37]. Additionally, UV exposure can trigger the secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and interleukin 1 alpha/beta (IL-1 α/β), that contribute to cutaneous inflammation [38–40]. As a result, these cytokines can stimulate the generation of inflammatory chemokines like chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5), chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 20 (CCL20), chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 22 (CCL22), and chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 8 (CXCL8) by epidermal keratinocytes, leading to increased recruitment of leukocytes into the skin [41]. In addition, monocytes have been identified as a source of type I interferon (IFN) production following UV exposure [42]. In the MRL-Fas^{lpr} lupus mouse model, UVB irradiation was found to elevate keratinocyte production of colony stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1), which is an essential factor for macrophage infiltration and the development of Cutaneous Lupus Erythematosus (CLE) - like skin lesions [43]. These findings underscore the significant role of monocytes in promoting skin inflammation in UV-induced injury in mice. Human studies have further substantiated the key role of monocytes in promoting inflammation in cutaneous lupus lesions [44]. Additionally, there is a correlation between type I IFN-stimulated gene expression and the infiltration of monocytes in the skin exposed to UV of lupus patients [45].

Another environmental factor linked to SLE is hormonal fluctuations, particularly in women. Hormones, such as estrogen, have been shown to influence the immune

system and may contribute to the development of SLE. For example, the female predominance of SLE suggests a hormonal role in disease susceptibility. During pregnancy or when taking oral contraceptives, which affect hormonal levels, some women with a genetic predisposition to SLE may experience disease flares [46–48]. The relationship between hormones and SLE is complex and various mechanisms are involved, including the modulation of immune cell activity and the production of autoantibodies. These highlight the importance of understanding the interplay between hormonal factors and genetic susceptibility in SLE pathogenesis.

Viral infections

Viral infection can alter immunological tolerance against self-antigens and has been associated with the initiating or flaring of several autoimmune and inflammatory phenomena in individuals with genetic susceptibilities [49-52]. These infections trigger the antiviral immune response mechanisms resulting in the activation of signaling pathways and the induction of cytokine and chemokine secretion, the production of autoantibodies, and the deposition of immune complexes in tissues some of which could overwhelm the immune regulatory mechanisms (Figure 4) [53]. Several mechanisms can explain how viruses might trigger a series of actions leading to the development of an autoimmune disease [49,54]. One proposed mechanism is molecular mimicry, where viral proteins or nucleic acids share structural similarities with self-antigens. In this concept, the immune system, while targeting the virus, may also mistakenly attack host tissues, leading to autoimmunity. Next, epitope spreading is another mechanism by which the immune response may be directed against specific viral antigens, however, as the infection progresses, the immune system can spread its response to include self-antigens that are structurally related to the viral antigens, leading to autoimmune reactions. Another proposed mechanism is bystander activation, where immune cells may become activated in a nonspecific manner and mistakenly attack healthy host tissues, promoting the autoimmune phenomena.



Figure 4. PRR signaling upon viral infection may either lead to acute inflammatory response and resolution or trigger autoimmune responses. Innate immunity is activated upon viral exposure, and the response is mediated through pattern recognition receptor (PRR) molecules that recognize the viral nucleic acids, the adaptor molecules that mediate the signal to downstream components, and the transcription factors that are responsible for the outcome. An acute inflammatory response is orchestrated by the release of antiviral molecules, such as interferons, proinflammatory cytokines, and chemokines at sites of infection. In autoimmune diseases, a combination of genetic susceptibility, such as gene copy variations and single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and environmental as well as hormonal factors including UV light, toxic chemicals, and genes defined by the X chromosome, leads to loss of self-tolerance and chronic inflammation. In this environment, when a viral infection occurs, the host defense mechanisms are exposed and may promote an exaggerated immune response, which can lead to initiation or exacerbation of autoimmunity. Adopted by Stergioti et al [53].

Viral infections have long been implicated in the complex pathogenesis of SLE, with several notable examples underscoring their potential role as triggers of the disease. One compelling instance involves the Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), a member of the herpesvirus family. Numerous studies have shown a strong association between EBV and SLE [55]. In fact, individuals with a history of EBV infection are more likely to develop SLE. Several studies have demonstrated an increased viral load of EBV DNA in patients with SLE compared to healthy individuals [56,57]. Furthermore, a serologic association to EBV infection has been reported with high titers of anti-early antigen (EA) IgG and IgA in lupus patients compared to healthy controls [55,58]. In addition, several reports have revealed the molecular similarity between the EBV nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) and the common lupus autoantigen Ro, as well as the inability of CD8⁺ T cells to control EBV-infected B cells, suggesting that viruses may influence the development of SLE pathogenesis [59-63]. In addition, EBV can persistently infect B cells and may induce abnormal activation of these cells, leading to the production of autoantibodies that are characteristic of SLE, such as ANAs and anti-dsDNA antibodies [64,65]. This viral-induced immune response may contribute to the breakdown of self-tolerance and the onset of autoimmune reactions seen in patients with SLE. Another illustrative example involves parvovirus B19, which has been linked to SLE pathogenesis [66]. Parvovirus B19 infection can trigger an immune response that leads to an overproduction of type I IFNs. In SLE, there is often a dysregulated type I IFN response, and viral infections like parvovirus B19 or EBV can exacerbate this response [67]. The resulting excessive production of type I IFNs can further fuel the autoimmune phenomena in patients with SLE. These viralinduced immune disruptions demonstrate how infections can contribute to the development and progression of SLE by perturbing the delicate balance of the immune system and promoting autoimmune responses.

Genetics

The pathogenesis of SLE is complex and multifactorial, with a strong genetic component. Genetic factors play a significant role in an individual's susceptibility to developing SLE and contribute to the dysregulation of the immune system [68]. Several key genetic factors and risk loci have been identified in SLE. The Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) was the first region reported as associated with SLE. The MHC region comprises the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) region, which is one of the most well-established genetic risk factors for SLE. Specific HLA alleles, such as HLA-DR2, HLA-DR3, and HLA-DRB1*15:01, are associated with an increased risk for developing SLE [69]. These genes are involved in antigen presentation and immune regulation, and their variants can contribute to the development of autoimmunity. Interestingly, HLA-DR and HLA-DQ alleles exhibit a strong connection with SLE autoantibodies [70,71]. Moreover, genetic variants in complement pathway genes, such as C1q, C2, and C4, have been linked to SLE susceptibility [72-74]. Deficiencies or abnormalities in complement components can impair the body's ability to clear immune complexes and apoptotic cells, potentially leading to increased inflammation and tissue damage. Moreover, the IFN signaling pathway plays a crucial role in SLE pathogenesis [75]. Genetic variants in genes involved in this signaling cascade, such as interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5), interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7), non-receptor tyrosine-protein kinase TYK2, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4), have been associated with SLE risk [76-79]. These variants can lead to enhanced levels of IFN and excessive activation of the innate and adaptive immune responses. In addition, genetic variations in TLR genes, particularly TLR7 and TLR9, predispose to SLE pathogenesis since overactivation of these receptors can contribute to the formation of autoantibodies and inflammation [80,81]. A recently published study revealed that a TLR7 gain-of-function genetic variation cause human SLE [82]. Finally, variants in Fcy receptor genes, such as Fcy receptor IIB (FcyRIIB) and Fcy receptor IIIA (FcyRIIIA), which play a crucial role in the clearance of immune complexes and regulation of immune signaling pathways, have been linked to the development of SLE [83]. Understanding the genetic basis of SLE has not only shed light on the disease's pathogenesis but also has important

implications for personalized medicine and targeted therapies. It is important to highlight that while genetic factors predispose to SLE pathology, they interact with environmental factors and epigenetic modifications in order to determine an individual's overall risk for developing an autoimmune syndrome.

Epigenetics

Epigenetics also play a vital role in the development and progression of SLE [84–86]. DNA methylation abnormalities is a key epigenetic mechanism involved in SLE pathogenesis. DNA methylation inhibits the expression of genes by methylating the deoxycytosine base at the 5' position in order to form deoxymethylcytosine [87]. DNA hypomethylation, an epigenetic modification, can influence gene expression and has been linked with the development of SLE. This can result in reduced or silenced gene expression by the methylation of C-G dinucleotides (CpG) [88,89]. In patients with SLE, there is often aberrant DNA methylation in specific genes that regulate immune responses such as CD11a and CD70 [90,91]. Furthermore, in patients with active lupus, CD11a and KIR genes exhibited elevated expression levels, and the corresponding sequences demethylated in proportion to disease activity and heightened overexpression of these genes [92]. In addition, hypomethylation has also been noted to disrupt the regulation of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) in naïve T cells from SLE patients. These genes include interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 1 (IFIT1), interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 3 (IFIT3), interferon-induced GTP-binding protein (MX1), signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), interferon-induced protein 44 like (IFI44L), ubiquitin specific peptidase 18 (USP18), tripartite motif-containing 22 (TRIM22), and bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2 (BST2), indicating an epigenetic transcriptional accessibility in these genetic loci [93]. This epigenetic change can help explain the increased levels of STAT1 and other ISGs in lupus immune cells. Also, hypomethylation of CpG sites in genes involved in several pathways has also been correlated with the production of autoantibodies in patients with SLE [94]. Additionally, epigenetic modifications can affect the expression of genes involved in the IFN pathway, such as IRF5 and IRF7, which are known to be involved in SLE

pathogenesis [95]. Abnormal DNA methylation in these genes can exacerbate the production of interferons and promote inflammation in patients with SLE.

Histone modifications are another epigenetic mechanism implicated in the pathogenetic landscape of SLE. Histories constitute a group of proteins that envelop DNA, creating the structural unit known as the nucleosome. Post-translational modifications of histone proteins are recognized as crucial epigenetic mechanisms that have a role in governing chromatin remodeling and gene expression. These modifications include processes such as phosphorylation, acetylation, and methylation [96]. Epigenetic codes exhibit a high degree of conservation and are responsible for shaping the phenotype and function of cells and tissues. One of the modifications within the histone code takes place at lysine residues 9 and 27 of histone H3, which can initiate chromatin compacting and gene silencing. In $CD4^{+}T$ cells of patients with SLE, there is evidence of reduced histone acetylation and diminished H3K9 methylation. The promoter region of hematopoietic progenitor kinase 1 (HPK1) exhibits trimethylation at lysine 27 of histone H3, which results in inhibition of HKP1 expression, contributing to the inflammatory response in SLE [97,98]. There is often increased acetylation and decreased methylation of histones in SLE, leading to a more permissive chromatin structure in immune cells. This chromatin structure allows for the enhanced expression of pro-inflammatory genes like TNF- α [99]. These cytokines can contribute to the inflammation and tissue damage observed in SLE. Additionally, it has been reported that histone modification revealed that histones H3 and H4 are hypoacetylated in lupus B cells [100]. Moreover, the overexpression of immune-related genes that drive CD4⁺ T cells autoreactivity in SLE is facilitated by histone acetylation and methylation [101]. In addition, gene expression perturbations in peripheral blood immune cells in SLE may be attributed to altered epigenetic profiles and chromatin accessibility. A recent study by Ntasis et al. [102] unveiled that the genomes of patients with SLE demonstrate more fragmented and less organized co-expression patterns, a trend that correlated with the severity of the disease. The defined Domains of Coordinated Expression (DCEs) demonstrate intricate dynamics, that are linked with the molecular signatures and clinical aspects of SLE. For instance, high disease

activity genomes display extensive redistribution of co-expression domains, featuring the expansion and emergence of new DCEs. This study sheds light on the connection between the SLE phenotype and the underlying genome structure, emphasizing the pivotal role of genome organization in influencing gene expression patterns in SLE. Overall, epigenetic modification in DNA methylation and histone marks are integral to the dysregulated immune responses seen in SLE and provide potential targets for therapeutic interventions.

Immunological mechanisms leading to SLE pathogenesis

A complex interplay between innate and adaptive immunity lies at the core of the autoimmune phenomena. This interplay is not static, since initial inflammatory cascades might change as organ damage accumulates. The loss of tolerance to self and the subsequent elevation in serum antinuclear antibody (ANA) levels is proposed to be a crucial first step in the development of SLE [103-105]. SLE progression unfolds through three interlinked phases. One phase comprises the breakdown of adaptive immune tolerance resulting in an elevated presence of autoreactive B cells. Various signals from self-antigens, Toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands, B-cell activating factor (BAFF)/a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL), and Tcell-derived cytokines contribute to the formation of germinal centers and the production of autoantibodies. Another phase involves deficiencies in innate immunity, including heightened NETosis, impaired clearance of apoptotic debris, and diminished phagocytosis, resulting in elevated levels of self-antigens. The interaction between self-antigens from immune complexes (ICs) with autoantibodies enables their internalization through FcRy receptors, subsequently triggering multiple downstream cascades. The final phase involves the release of mediators by recruited inflammatory cells and complement activation induced by ICs, ultimately leading to inflammation and tissue damage (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Overview of the immunological mechanisms leading to SLE pathogenesis. The development of the disease unfolds in three interlinked phases underscoring the interplay of innate and adaptive immunity and the complexity of the autoimmune phenomena. Adopted by Zharkova et al [106].

Monocytes: Key Regulators of the Innate Immune System

Exploring the Three Monocytic Subsets

Monocytes are blood mononuclear cells that arise from bone marrow phagocyte progenitors, circulate in the blood and then are recruited into tissues [107]. They represent about 10% and 4% of leukocytes in the human and mice peripheral blood, respectively. Three major populations of monocytes are identified both in mice and humans. Based on CD14 (lipopolysaccharide (LPS) coreceptor) and CD16 (Fc γ RIII) expression patterns on HLA-DR⁺ cells, human monocytes are divided into three phenotypically and functionally distinct subsets: the CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻ classical monocytes that make up to ~85% of the total circulating monocyte pool, whereas

the remaining ~15% consists of the CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺ intermediate monocytes, and the CD14^{dim}CD16⁺⁺ non-classical monocytes. In mice, classical monocytes are defined by the surface marker expression Ly6C^{high}CX3CR1^{int}CCR2⁺CD62L⁺CD43^{low}, whereas non-classical monocytes are characterized as Ly6C^{low}CX3CR1^{high}CCR2^{low}CD62L⁻CD43⁺ [108,109]. The ratio of circulating classical and non-classical monocytes fluctuates depending on factors such as monopoiesis, tissue infiltration and their emergence from either the bone marrow or peripheral reservoirs. Additionally, the number of non-classical monocytes is closely tied to the overall health of the organism, making it a potential valuable diagnostic indicator **(Figure 6)**.



Figure 6. The three monocyte subsets. Human monocyte subsets are defined as follows: Classical monocytes (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻), intermediate monocytes (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺) and non-classical monocytes (CD14^{dim}CD16⁺⁺). The corresponding murine markers and specific characteristics for each subset are presented. Adopted by Wacleche et al [110].

Developmental Trajectories of the Three Monocytic Subsets

In monocyte differentiation, there is a linear trajectory starting with the classical monocytes (CM) that exit the bone marrow and give rise to intermediate monocytes (IM) and sequentially to non-classical monocytes (NCM) in peripheral blood circulation with NCM representing the most mature monocytic subpopulation [107,111–114]. The three monocytic subsets exist in a state of dynamic equilibrium within the circulation, where the classical monocytes exhibit a circulating lifespan of approximately one day, while the intermediate and non-classical monocytes have longer circulating lifespans of four and seven days, respectively [107] (Figure 5). On the molecular level, the transition from classical to non-classical monocytes involves the increased expression of C/EBPB, NR4A1, and KLF2. The lack of NR4A1 results in diminished Ly6C^{low} monocyte survival and numbers [113]. Epigenetic studies have pinpointed a specific Nr4a1 enhancer (E2) specific to monocytes and deletion of this enhancer results in the absence of Ly6C^{low} monocytes [115]. In addition, KLF2 and C/EBP_β bind to the E2 enhancer in order to promote the expression of Nr4a1, and actively participate in the generation of Ly6C^{low} monocytes [113,115–117]. Moreover, computational transcriptional network analysis strongly suggests that C/EBPβ plays a pivotal role in human monocyte biology [118]. Furthermore, singlecell ATAC sequencing reveals clear enrichment of C/EBPB and NR4A1 motifs in human monocytes [119].

Monocyte Functions During Physiological Conditions

Monocytes are integral components of the immune system, actively engaging in the defense against both bacterial and viral infections. They also act as a bridge, linking mononuclear phagocyte precursors in the bone marrow (BM) with terminally differentiated immune cells [120,121]. Monocytes can give rise to either dendritic cells (DCs), tissue resident macrophages (M ϕ) or osteoclasts. This differentiation process is initiated when monocytes cross the endothelium. Plasticity and heterogeneity are monocyte hallmarks, allowing them to quickly adapt their functional characteristics in response to diverse immunological signals [122,123]. It is

believed that the local environment, especially the cytokines milieu, has a pivotal role in influencing their differentiation process [124]. The regulation of this differentiation process of monocytes to terminally differentiated immune cells remains ill-defined. Emerging literature implicates autophagy as a key regulatory pathway in preventing monocytes from apoptosis and inducing their differentiation towards macrophages [125].

Monocyte subsets possess also unique functional characteristics, influenced in part by variations in the methylation status of genes associated with the immune system [126]. More specifically, CM play a crucial role in phagocytosis and innate immune response, and they also display migratory capabilities. Furthermore, CD14⁺ human monocytes elevated expression levels of chemokine receptors, including CCR1, CCR2, CCR5, CXCR1, and CXCR2, underscoring their capacity to respond to signals from damaged or inflamed tissues [127,128]. In addition, they secrete pro-inflammatory molecules, such as IL-6, IL-8, CCL2, CCL3, and CCL5 [127,129] (Figure 5).

On the other hand, IM play a crucial role as effector cells in antigen presentation, and have been shown to release molecules such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and CCL3 when stimulated by TLR ligands [129–131]. They also express elevated levels of CCR5 compared to CM. Another study has revealed that IM are the main producers of IL-10 upon TLR activation [132] (Figure 5). Further investigation is needed to determine whether these cells can concurrently generate both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators, or if there are distinct patterns of expression for these factors over time.

However, when comparing CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ monocytes, it becomes evident that despite their striking resemblances, indicating a shared developmental origin, CD16⁺ cells exhibit a more advanced phenotype, as apparent by transcriptome profiling where they are associated with pathways such as cell-to-cell adhesion, cell trafficking, proliferation, and differentiation [133]. Furthermore, the elevated expression of CX3CR1 in CD16⁺ cells explains the fact they migrate and adhere more than CD16⁻ monocytes to fractalkine-secreting endothelium [134].

In contrast, NCM specialize in functions related to complement and Fc gammamediated phagocytosis, as well as cellular adhesion [127,135]. Similar to IM, they possess antigen presenting processing capabilities, but they differ from CM due to their involvement in wound healing processes [136]. NCM also exhibit patrolling behavior when adoptively transferred into immune-compromised mice [129]. This crawling behavior enables non-classical monocytes to effectively scavenge the endothelium for signs of damage (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Molecular characteristics and functions of the three human monocytic subsets in homeostasis. Human monocytes undergo maturation within the bone marrow and are subsequently released into the bloodstream as CM. Over time, CM differentiate into NCM via an intermediate stage involving IM. In humans, CM can be distinguished from the other two subsets with additional markers such as CD36, CCR2, and CD64. They play a crucial role in the host's antimicrobial responses, including functions like adhesion to the endothelium, migration, and phagocytosis. IM are characterized by their high expression of CCR5 and HLA-DR molecules and are primarily involved in processes related to antigen presentation and transendothelial migration. On the other hand, NCM are divided into SLAN⁺ and SLAN⁻ populations, express elevated levels of CX3CR1, and play a crucial role in complement and FCR-

mediated phagocytosis, transendothelial migration, and anti-viral responses. Adopted by Kapellos et al [137].

Non-classical Monocytes Abnormalities in SLE Pathogenesis

The equilibrium among monocyte subsets is frequently disrupted in several disease conditions. Recent findings underscore the pivotal role of innate immune cell subsets in the initiation and propagation of the systemic autoimmune response and the development of end-organ damage in SLE. Aberrations of monocytes underlie the SLE pathology and lead to perpetuation of inflammation and tissue injury, which positions monocytes at the core of SLE etiology. An interesting study using expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) analysis pinpointed an aberrant activation of both adaptive and innate immune cells, including monocytes, in the development of SLE [138]. The significance of the innate immune system in the development of SLE pathogenesis is becoming increasingly evident, as convincing susceptibility genes are now linked to not only T and B cell signaling but also TLRs and type I IFN signaling [139].

Notably, a growing body of evidence indicates that the concept of aberrant activation, rather than impaired function, of monocytes may better capture the dynamic role they play on the onset and development of the disease [140]. The specific monocytic subsets contributing to the severity of the disease may vary across studies; nevertheless, numerous reports indicate the pivotal role of NCM in the development of SLE [141–144]. Recent studies further underscore the involvement of terminally differentiated immune cell subsets on tissue damage and severity of the disease. For instance, it has been reported that CD16⁺ DCs arise from NCM in lupus skin contributing to the development of cutaneous lupus erythematosus (CLE) [145]. In addition, circulating Ly6C^{low} NCM undergo differentiation into M1 macrophages and are recruited to the joint, playing a pivotal role in coordinating the progression of autoimmune joint inflammation [146]. Furthermore, TLR-activated NCM infiltrate the glomerulus, representing important regulators in glomerular inflammation and kidney injury in SLE [147]. Moreover, a

significant correlation between serum levels of anti-dsDNA antibodies and the proportion of NCM in circulation has been reported [144]. Additionally, another study highlighted that NCM secrete increased levels of IL-1 β upon TLR stimulation [129]. Also, the contributions of NCM to antigen presentation, as well as the activation of T and B cells, have been documented in SLE patients [141,142]. These findings align with observations made in lupus models associated with the *Yaa* locus [147–149].

Despite the compelling evidence that NCM substantially contribute to disease progression in the target tissues, their precise role in the development and progression of SLE remains inadequately explored. Moreover, understanding the molecular pathways involved in NCM activation and function in the periphery of patients with active SLE, before migrating into the tissues can guide the development of targeted therapies to modulate their effects. Current non-specific immunosuppressive treatments for SLE sometimes cause serious side effects [150–152]. Thus, advances in monocyte immunology may pave the way for the development of novel, safer and more effective therapeutic schemes that target specific pathogenic features and pathways of monocyte biology. A better understanding of the core immune responses of NCM, could provide further insights for the design of more targeted therapies.
Multiomics

Omics technologies represent a groundbreaking approach to biological research that allows scientists to comprehensively study various biological molecules on a large scale. These technologies encompass fields such as genomics, proteomics, transcriptomics, metabolomics, and more. By analyzing the complete sets of genes, proteins, RNA molecules, metabolites, and other biomolecules within a biological system, omics technologies offer profound insights into the complexity of living organisms, their functions, and their responses to various conditions. These powerful tools have revolutionized our understanding of biology, medicine, and biotechnology, paving the way for personalized medicine, disease diagnostics, and the discovery of novel therapeutic targets **(Figure 8)** [153,154].



Figure 8. Illustrative depiction of the objectives in multi-omics investigations. Multi-omics datasets encompass a wide array of molecular profiling data modalities, including genomics, epigenomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, or metabolomics, along with high-throughput data types like FACS/CyTOF or radiomics measurements, and may also incorporate phenotypic or clinical variables. The categorization of multi-omics studies hinges on their primary analytical goals. When the emphasis is on the samples, these samples can undergo unsupervised clustering to unveil the underlying dataset structure or supervised analysis for predicting the classification of new samples. The attributes involved in these groupings may be extracted and utilized as biomarkers. Conversely, when the emphasis is on the attributes, the analysis aims to discern significant relationships among omic variables originating from different omics types, which can be visualized as a network. Adopted by Tarazona et al [153].

Transcriptomics

Transcriptomics is a field of molecular biology that focuses on studying the entire set of RNA molecules such as mRNA, non-coding RNA that are present in a cell or tissue at a given moment, providing valuable insights into gene expression patterns and regulation. Transcriptomics aids to understand the quantity, diversity, regulation, and function of these RNA molecules. The cornerstone of transcriptomics is RNAsequencing (RNA-seq), a powerful technique that enables the comprehensive analysis of an organism's transcriptome [155,156]. RNA-seq is a cutting-edge molecular biology technique used to determine the sequence of RNA molecules. It involves high-throughput sequencing of cDNA molecules, which are derived through reverse transcription of RNA from a biological sample. This effort aims to unveil the primary sequence and quantify the relative abundance of each RNA molecule within the sample [157].

The RNA-seq workflow involved several fundamental steps, starting with the isolation of RNA from the biological sample of interest. The extracted RNA represents the pool of RNA molecules present in the sample at the time of extraction. Subsequently, this RNA is converted into a sequencing library. This involves several steps, including RNA fragmentation, cDNA synthesis, adapter ligation, and PCR amplification. The RNA library is loaded onto a high-throughput sequencer in order to generate vast amounts of short sequence reads from the RNA fragments. The generated sequence reads are processed computationally. This includes aligning the reads to a reference genome or transcriptome, quantifying gene expression levels, identifying splice variants, and performing various downstream analyses, such as differential gene expression analysis. RNA-seq has

38

revolutionized our understanding of gene expression dynamics and has become an indispensable tool for diverse biological and medical research applications (Figure 9) [158]. The results of RNA-seq analysis can be used to understand gene expression patterns, regulatory mechanisms, and functional insights into the biological processes under investigation. It can also help in identifying biomarkers, studying disease mechanisms, and uncovering novel therapeutic targets. Notably, RNA-seq enables the identification of comprehensive transcriptome signatures that extent beyond gene expression patterns, providing a higher-resolution molecular characterization of the disease. In this context, a recent study by Panousis et al [159] has made a remarkable advancement in the field. They conducted a comprehensive RNA-seq analysis on whole-blood samples from 142 patients with SLE and 58 healthy individuals, unveiling a signature associated with disease susceptibility, a signature linked with disease activity and also a signature associated with disease severity. This discovery has the potential to enhance personalized care for lupus patients.



Figure 9. RNA-sequencing workflow. The standard procedure for RNA-sequencing experiments generally includes several key steps: first, the extraction of RNA from the selected samples, followed by the creation of sequencing libraries. Next, a high-throughput sequencer is employed to generate numerous short paired-end reads.

These reads are then aligned to a reference genome or transcriptome, and subsequent analysis is conducted. Adopted by Griffith et al [158].

Proteomics

The proteome encompasses all the proteins found within a cell, tissue, or organism at a specific moment, and this composition can vary with time, growth conditions, and between cell types due to disparities in gene expression. Proteomics investigates the functions, modifications, and interactions within protein complexes, unveiling their roles. Proteins are large, complex biomolecules composed of amino acid chains that play crucial roles in the structure, and regulation of cells and organisms. They exhibit a wide variety of functions based on their unique three-dimensional structures, which are determined by the sequence of amino acids in their chains. Proteomics is a field of biological research for the comprehensive study of proteins, the workhorses of cellular function. It seeks to understand the full complement of proteins within a biological system, including their structures, functions, interactions, modifications, and abundance levels.

The workflow of proteomics typically involves several key steps. First, proteins are extracted from the biological sample of interest, which can be cells, tissues, or fluids and digested using the single-pot, solid phase-enhanced sample-preparation (SP3) technology [160]. Next, these proteins are separated using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). In the first part of the process, a liquid sample is injected into a chromatography system. This system separates the peptides of the sample based on their chemical properties as they pass through a chromatographic column. After separation by the LC, the individual components of the sample are directed into a mass spectrometer. The compounds are ionized and converted into charged particles. These fragment ions are then analyzed in the mass spectrometer. This step provides information about the structure and composition of the selected compound. Data generated from mass spectrometry are then analyzed using specialized software to identify proteins, quantify their abundance, and characterize post-translational modifications (Figure 10). Proteomics is a cutting-edge technology that have significantly advanced our ability to comprehensively

40

analyze complex protein profiles within biological systems, allowing for the identification of novel biomarkers and therapeutic targets in diseases. These technological breakthroughs have also enabled researcher to gain deeper insights into the cellular signaling pathways, protein-protein interactions, and post-translational modifications, revolutionizing our understanding of cellular functions and molecular mechanisms.



Figure 10. The technical workflow of proteomics by LC-MS/MS. Adopted by https://www.creative-proteomics.com/services/dia-quantitative-proteomics-service.htm.

Aim of the study

Autoimmune conditions arise from the interplay of environmental, genetic and epigenetic elements, leading to downstream perturbations of complex and interactive biological networks. The aberrant immune response occurring in the inflammatory environment can potentially result in impaired antiviral responses, predispose to autoimmunity, or precipitate a flare of an existing autoimmune condition. For this reason, we review the literature on the crosstalk between antiviral immune responses within the innate immune branch, which includes monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and DCs, along with autoimmune responses. Additionally, we explore the pitfalls and challenges associated with the therapeutic targeting of the mechanisms involved.

Moreover, the equilibrium among monocyte subsets is frequently disrupted in several disease conditions. Aberrations of monocytes underlie the SLE pathology and lead to perpetuation of inflammation and tissue injury, which positions monocytes at the core of SLE etiology. Three major populations of monocytes have been recognized namely classical (CM), intermediate (IM) and non-classical monocytes (NCM). The specific monocytic subsets contributing to the severity of the disease may vary across studies; nevertheless, numerous reports indicate the pivotal role of NCM in the development of SLE. Understanding the molecular pathways involved in NCM activation and function in the periphery of patients with active SLE, before migrating into the tissues can guide the development of targeted therapies to modulate their effects. To this end, monocyte-based immunosuppressive approaches are being explored as potential strategies to modulate the immune response in patients with SLE. A better understanding of the core immune responses of NCM, could provide further insights for the design of more targeted therapeutic schemes.

Herein, by the use of transcriptomic and proteomic analyses as well as flow cytometry, microscopy and *ex vivo* studies, we sought to investigate disease-specific signatures of the three monocytic subsets in SLE. The main goals of this study are: i)

42

to delineate the transcriptome profile of the three monocytic subsets and identify the signaling cascades involved in the pathogenic SLE landscape; ii) to investigate the proteomic disparities of the three monocytic subsets in SLE; iii) to identify specific signaling pathways involved in NCM function and determine the pathogenic aspect of SLE NCM.

Results & Publications

Antiviral Innate Immune Responses in Autoimmunity: Receptors, Pathways, and Therapeutic Targeting





Review Antiviral Innate Immune Responses in Autoimmunity: Receptors, Pathways, and Therapeutic Targeting

Eirini Maria Stergioti ^{1,2,*}, Theodora Manolakou ^{1,2}, Dimitrios T. Boumpas ^{1,3} and Aggelos Banos ^{1,*}

- ¹ Laboratory of Autoimmunity and Inflammation, Center of Clinical, Experimental Surgery and Translational Research, Biomedical Research Foundation Academy of Athens, 115 27 Athens, Greece
- ² School of Medicine, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, 115 27 Athens, Greece
- ³ 4th Department of Internal Medicine, Attikon University Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, 124 62 Athens, Greece
- * Correspondence: eirinister@yahoo.gr (E.M.S.); abanos@bioacademy.gr (A.B.)

Abstract: Innate immune receptors sense nucleic acids derived from viral pathogens or self-constituents and initiate an immune response, which involves, among other things, the secretion of cytokines including interferon (IFN) and the activation of *IFN-stimulated genes* (*ISGs*). This robust and well-coordinated immune response is mediated by the innate immune cells and is critical to preserving and restoring homeostasis. Like an antiviral response, during an autoimmune disease, aberrations of immune tolerance promote inflammatory responses to self-components, such as nucleic acids and immune complexes (ICs), leading to the secretion of cytokines, inflammation, and tissue damage. The aberrant immune response within the inflammatory milieu of the autoimmune diseases may lead to defective viral responses, predispose to autoimmunity, or precipitate a flare of an existing autoimmune disease. Herein, we review the literature on the crosstalk between innate antiviral immune responses and autoimmune responses and discuss the pitfalls and challenges regarding the therapeutic targeting of the mechanisms involved.



Citation: Stergioti, E.M.; Manolakou, T.; Boumpas, D.T.; Banos, A. Antiviral Innate Immune Responses in Autoimmunity: Receptors, Pathways, and Therapeutic Targeting. *Biomedicines* 2022, *10*, 2820. https:// doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10112820

Academic Editor: Andrea Galli

Received: 22 September 2022 Accepted: 2 November 2022 Published: 4 November 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). **Keywords:** viral infection; autoimmunity; innate immunity; antiviral response; monocytes; macrophages; dendritic cells; NK cells; neutrophils; therapeutic opportunities

1. Introduction

The innate immune system provides an immediate defense mechanism by recognizing molecular structures produced by microbial pathogens and allows the adaptive immune responses to mediate an antigen-specific response. The initial sensing of a virus infection depends on the detection of molecules derived from pathogens by cellular receptors of innate immune cells that are encoded by inherited genes (germline-encoded host sensors) and called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) [1,2], having a critical role in the host defense against viral particles. PRRs detect two classes of molecules: a. pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which are small molecular nonself motifs, such as viral nucleic acids, DNA, or RNA, and b. damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are produced by or released from damaged or dying cells. PRRs that recognize viral PAMPs consist of the Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), C-type lectinlike receptors (CLRs), and DNA sensors, such as IFI16 and the cGAS–STING signaling pathway [3–5]. The binding of PAMPs to PRRs triggers the activation of several signaling cascades in the host immune cells that lead to the expression of proinflammatory cytokines, type I interferons (type I IFNs), and *interferon-stimulated genes* (ISGs), to orchestrate the antiviral response and promote inflammation. The infection activates a robust and finetuned immune response that is crucial for the clearance of the virus. Short-term activation of the innate immune system is beneficial for host defense mechanisms, while overactivation of PRRs or downstream components may lead to a sustained immune system response and irreversible changes in organ structure and function [6–10]. The breakdown of immune

regulatory mechanisms may culminate in the loss of self-tolerance, leading to an immunemediated attack directed against both viral and self-antigens.

In autoimmune diseases, the imbalance between innate and adaptive immune responses may lead to hyperinflammation. Moreover, the exaggerated response of the immune cells with a hyperproduction of cytokines called a "cytokine storm" plays an important role in the manifestation and progression of autoimmunity. Cytokine storms occur in various autoimmune diseases, though the presence of a viral infection often serves as a trigger [11]. Cytokine storms are characterized by the hyperproduction of proinflammatory cytokines in response to various triggering stimuli (e.g., viral infection) leading the immune system to cause tissue damage. This aberrant immune response in autoimmunity in combination with a viral infection may lead to defective antiviral immunity or precipitate a disease flare. Herein, we review the literature on how antiviral mechanisms may drive autoimmune disease pathogenesis. Specifically, we report PRR-driven responses of innate immune cells that are involved in autoimmunity and discuss the pitfalls and challenges regarding the therapeutic targeting of the mechanisms involved.

1.1. Innate Detection of Viral Infection by PRRs

1.1.1. Toll-like Receptors (TLRs)

TLRs serve as the first-line defense mechanism of the host in order to trigger the innate immune response and then orchestrate the initiation of the adaptive immune response [12]. The TLRs are type I integral membrane glycoproteins that contain leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) flanked by characteristic cysteine-rich motifs (involved in ligand binding) in their extracellular domain (ECD), a middle transmembrane domain (TM), and a C-terminus cytoplasmic Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) homology domain, which is essential for signaling. The formation of an M-shaped dimer or multimer is essential for the activation of all TLRs, so that the C-terminus regions of the two TLR ECDs are in proximity. The next step is the multimerization of cytoplasmic tails, which will then recruit the downstream adaptors Tollinterleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain-containing adapter-inducing *IFN-β* (TRIF) or myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) through homotypic interaction leading to the activation of specific transcription factors and inducing an antiviral type I interferon response and cytokine production.

The cellular localization of TLRs correlates with their functions in sensing invading pathogens [13]. To date, 10 human TLRs (TLR 1–10) and 12 mouse TLRs (TLR 1–9, 11–13) have been identified, each one of them having a unique ligand specificity [14]. They collectively sense a wide range of bacteria, viruses, fungi, and endogenous ligands. In the current review, we focus on the TLRs that detect viral PAMPs. TLRs, based on their cellular localization, respond to different types of molecules. TLRs 3, 7, 8, and 9 are mainly expressed inside cells on the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and endosomal membranes where they detect different viral nucleic acids [15]. TLRs found on the cell surface, such as TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, and TLR6, are able to mediate innate immune responses to viral pathogens or more specifically viral envelope and capsid proteins (Figure 1).

TLR2 is expressed in various immune cells including neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages (MΦs), and dendritic cells (DCs). TLR2 detects a variety of microbial components, such as lipoproteins, peptidoglycan, and lipoteichoic acids, derived from Gram-positive bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Recognition of specific ligands by the host immune cells and the downstream signaling from TLR2 occurs with the heterodimerization with either TLR1 or TLR6. TLR1 and TLR6 contain highly homologous structures to TLR2 and are also expressed on the plasma membrane of all innate immune cells, such as monocytes, macrophages, and DCs [16]. TLR2/1 heterodimers mainly recognize bacterial triacylated lipopeptides, while TLR2/6 heterodimers tend to interact with mycoplasmal diacylated lipopeptides [17]. This ligand-mediated dimerization is important for the recruitment of the adaptor proteins, which are crucial for transmitting the signal to downstream effector molecules leading to proinflammatory cytokine production and the activation of an innate immune response. Although these heterodimers are best known for recognizing bacterial

components, studies in mice have revealed that TLR2 contributes to the antiviral response in murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV), respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), and vaccinia virus infections [18]. More specifically, in mice with an RSV infection, the association of TLR2 with TLR6 in leukocytes mediates an immune response with the secretion of various costimulatory molecules, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), chemokine (C—C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2), and chemokine (C–C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) [19]. Moreover, TLR2 senses virus envelope proteins and glycoproteins in order to mediate antiviral immunity [20–22]. For example, the glycoproteins B and H from the cytomegalovirus (CMV) are detected by TLR2, resulting in nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cell (NF- κ B) activation in activated B cells and the production of proinflammatory cytokines [23]. In addition, the activation of TLR2 in Ly6C^{high} "inflammatory" mouse monocytes leads to the production of type I IFNs and the blocking of viral replication [24].

TLR3 is expressed in myeloid DCs and macrophages and is not found in neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and is localized in the endosomes [3]. TLR3 is a sensor of viral double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and its synthetic analogue, polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly I:C). TLR3 can also sense the presence of viral genomes derived from damaged host cells and viral particles, such as ssRNA and DNA viruses [22,25–27]. TLR3, in contrast to all other known TLRs, upon activation with synthetic or viral dsRNAs, does not recruit the adaptor molecule MyD88 and instead associates with TRIF [28]. TRIF binds to TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) and the receptor-interacting protein-1 (RIP-1) in order to favor the induction of NF-κB and MAPKs via TAK1 in a similar manner to MyD88. In addition, TRIF associates with TNF receptor-associated factor 3 (TRAF3) and binds TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK1) and IκB kinase ε (IKK ε) to favor the production of type I interferon by phosphorylating the interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) and interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7). This allows their dimerization and entrance to the nucleus where they associate with NF-κB and activator protein 1 (AP-1) in order to transcriptionally activate inflammatory genes [29].

TLR4-expressing cells are mainly myeloid cells, such as monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. TLR4 is an important PRR for Gram-negative bacterial components, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS). Most myeloid cells express high levels of CD14, which facilitates the activation of the TLR4/MD2 complex by LPS. TLR4 association with myeloid differentiation 2 (MD2) on the cell surface is crucial for the activation of downstream adaptor proteins MyD88 and TRIF resulting in the expression of proinflammatory cytokines. CD14 also controls the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM)-mediated tyrosine kinase Syk and its effector molecule phospholipase C gamma 2 (PLC γ 2) to promote endocytosis and favor TLR4 internalization into endosomes for the activation of the TRIFdependent signaling cascade [30]. It has also been revealed that TLR4 is an important sensor in the detection of endogenous molecules, such as DAMPs, released by inflamed tissues and necrotic cells [31]. In addition, TLR4 can also detect several viral glycoproteins that are found on the surface of an enveloped virus and mediate attachment with the target host cell by interacting with a cellular receptor and then fusion with the host membrane through the hydrophobic peptide. TLR4 mediates the production of IL-6 through the F protein upon RSV infection [32–34]. Moreover, TLR4 senses the envelope proteins of mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) and promotes the maturation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) by increasing the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-6, and interleukin-12 subunit p40 (IL-12p40). Contrarily, in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) upon MMTV infection, TLR4 enhances the expression of the MMTV entry receptor CD71 on these cells thus promoting viral infection [35,36]. Like viral glycoproteins, cellular glycoproteins are also detected by the immune system, potentially leading to autoimmune disorders. For instance, YKL-40, also known as chitinase 3-like 1 glycoprotein, is a member of chitinase-like glycoproteins and is produced in inflammatory conditions by neutrophils and macrophages. In joint tissues of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients, this glycoprotein is recognized as a potential biomarker of disease activity [37]. Moreover, dickkopf-related protein 1 (DKK-1) is another glycoprotein that plays a significant role

in the inhibition of Wnt/b-catenin signaling by binding to the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP-5/6) complex and favoring its degradation. DKK-1 is considered as a potential target for diseases associated with enhanced Wnt signaling activity. For instance, DKK-1 is elevated in the sera and urine samples of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients, and it is used as a positive biomarker for the identification of active lupus nephritis patients [38].



Figure 1. Innate immune cells sense viruses using distinct pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Surface Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and TLRs located in endosomes, cytosolic nucleic acid sensors, RLRs, and DNA sensors detect viral nucleic acids or viral proteins. Most viral proteins are either components of the capsid or the envelope of the virus. Viral envelope glycoproteins are sensed via surface TLRs, such as TLR1/2, TLR2/6, and TLR4. Homo- or heterodimer formation initiates signaling to the two major downstream adaptor molecules, myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) and Toll-interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN- β (TRIF). Downstream signaling from surface TLRs requires the MyD88-dependent pathway. In endosomes, TLR3 detects double-stranded RNA (dsRNA); TLR7/8 detects single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), while TLR9 detects CpG DNA. TLR7/8 and TLR9 recruit the signaling adaptor molecule MyD88 to activate the IkB kinase (IKK) complex, resulting in the activation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cell (NF-KB) and interferon regulatory factor (IRF) family members. In contrast, TLR3 binds with TRIF in order to activate downstream signaling, resulting in IRF3/7 translocation to the nucleus. The cytosolic sensors, retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) and melanoma differentiationassociated gene 5 (MDA-5), sense viral dsRNA, and signal transduction occurs through the adaptor molecule mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) located at the mitochondria that activates the TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK1) and I κ B kinase ε (IKK ε) complex resulting in activation of NF- κ B and IRFs. Cytoplasmic DNA is sensed through cytosolic DNA sensor cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS), which synthesizes cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate (cGAMP) in order to induce the ER-resident stimulator of interferon genes (STING) and leads to the activation of downstream molecules through the TBK1/IKKε complex. When NF-κB and IRFs are activated, they translocate to the nucleus and trigger the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and type I interferon (IFN) production. Secretion of these proteins promotes interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) production, which results in the establishment of the "antiviral state", recruitment of innate immune cells to sites of infection, and activation of the adaptive immunity to shape the overall antiviral immune response.

After ligand recognition by TLR4, the activation of two distinct signaling pathways are triggered, the MyD88-dependent and the MyD88-independent/TRIF-dependent pathways. TIRAP, which is a Toll-interleukin-1 receptor domain-containing adapter protein, mediates the signal from TLR4 to MyD88, whereas TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) mediates the signal from TLR4 to TRIF. A balanced activation between the MyD88- and TRIF-dependent pathways is crucial in order to elicit specific antiviral responses for controlling tumor cell growth and autoimmune diseases. A recent study by Mlcochova et al. [39] revealed that upon HIV-1 infection in macrophages, TLR4 binds to TRIF and induces G0 arrest and SAMHD1 antiretroviral activity by a MyD88/NF-κB-independent pathway.

TLR7 and TLR8 recognize single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) molecules. TLR7 is predominantly expressed in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and monocytes and is involved in the induction of IFN- α gene transcription. On the other hand, human TLR8 is expressed in monocytes, macrophages, and conventional dendritic cells (cDCs) and in low-levels in B cells and pDCs [40-42]. Both receptor genes are located on the X chromosome, encode proteins that recognize self-RNA-containing autoantigens, and induce the production of IFN- α . The *TLR7* gene escapes X chromosome inactivation, and that may contribute to stronger female antiviral immunity and the female predisposition to SLE pathogenesis since IFN stimulation by TLR7 is a fundamental driver of SLE pathogenesis [43,44]. TLR7 and TLR8 also sense synthetic oligoribonucleotides (ORNs), such as imiquimod (R837), resiquimod (R848), and guanine analogue. TLR7/8 agonists have also been used as vaccine adjuvants due to their beneficial properties in host defense [39,40]. Upon ligand activation of TLR7 and TLR8, the dimer conformation changes, and the cytoplasmic TIR domains multimerize in order to recruit the downstream adaptor molecule MyD88 through homotypic interaction. MyD88 contains a C-terminus TIR (Toll IL-1R) domain for association with other receptors or adaptor molecules that contain a TIR domain and a N-terminus death domain (DD) for interacting with the interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) family members. The association of MyD88 and TLR through their TIR domains results in the activation of the IRAKs, IRAK-1, and IRAK-4. In turn, IRAK-4 phosphorylates IRAK-1, which allows the binding to the C-portion of TRAF6 and enables the dissociation from the TLR complex. Upon activation, TRAF6 performs K63-linked polyubiquitination of the tumor growth factor beta (TGF- β)-activated kinase 1 (TAK1) and I κ B kinase gamma (IKK γ), also known as NEMO (NF- κ B essential modulator). IKK γ then interacts with the TAK1binding protein 1 (TAB1), TAB2, and TAB3, resulting in IKK-mediated phosphorylation and the degradation of IkB. NF-kB is now able to translocate to the nucleus and induce gene transcription. Moreover, TAK1 forms a complex with TAB1, TAB2, and TAB3 that triggers the MAPK pathway leading to the formation of the activator protein 1 (AP-1) and its translocation to the nucleus. AP-1 and NF-KB are key modulators to orchestrate the expression of many proinflammatory genes. The formation of a complex by IRAK4, IRAK1, TRAF6, TRAF3, and the downstream transcription factors NF-κB and IRF7 leads to the activation and induction of proinflammatory cytokines and IFNs [44,45]. The complex of IRAKs and TRAF6 also associates with IRF5 and IRF7, leading to the subsequent IRAK1dependent phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of both transcription factors. IRF5 is a key transcription factor in the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-12p40, while IRF7 is primarily involved in type I IFN production [46,47]. A recent study by Marcken et al. [48] in human blood CD14⁺ classical monocytes infected with different RNA viruses, such as coxsackie (CV), encephalomyocarditis (EMCV), influenza A (IAV), measles (MV), Sendai (SV), or vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), revealed that the RNA virus infection triggered distinct responses in the human monocytes, and the engagement of TLR7 or TLR8 is virus-specific. In detail, TLR7 favors the production of cytokines involved in CD4⁺ T helper 17 (Th17) cell polarization (IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-23) after virus infection with MV and VSV, whereas TLR8 promotes the T_H1-promoting cytokine response and type I IFN production after viral infection with ECMV. On the contrary, the influenza A virus promoted the secretion of both types of cytokines. They also revealed that FOS-like 1 (FOSL1), which is an AP-1 transcription factor subunit, was increased upon

TLR7 stimulation resulting in a reduced secretion of T_H1 -type cytokines, such as IL-27 and TNF- α in monocytes [48]. Moreover, an enhanced Ca²⁺ flux was induced by TLR7 rather than TLR8 signaling leading to a blockade of type I IFN production suggesting a contradictory role between these two receptors. Overall, these studies suggest that TLR7 and TLR8 activate different signaling cascades in human monocytes during RNA virus infection with different phenotypes in antiviral immunity.

TLR9 is the only known endosomal ssDNA sensor. This receptor preferentially binds single- or double-stranded DNA and unmethylated CpG motif-containing viral DNA, such as herpes simplex virus (HSV) type 1 and type 2, leading to the production of type I IFNs and an antiviral immune response. TLR9 along with TLR7 is highly expressed in pDCs, also known as type I IFN-producing DCs and B cells among the rest of the immune cells [12,18,49]. CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) are short synthetic DNA molecules containing cytosine ("C") and guanine ("G") motifs linked with a phosphodiester bond. They are naturally occurring analogs derived from viral and bacterial DNA. In addition, CpG ODNs are used as vaccine adjuvants in order to enhance the function of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and favor the generation of vaccine-specific immune responses. There are three structurally distinct categories of CpG ODN: CpG-A, CpG-B, and CpG-C. The sequence of CpG ODNs, the secondary domains, and the effect on other immune cells play an important role in this separation. CpG-A preferentially induces the production of type I IFNs from pDCs and the maturation of APCs, but low B-cell stimulation. CpG-B favors strong activation of the B cells, induction of the TLR9-dependent NF-κB signaling cascade, and weakly stimulates type I IFNs and maturation of APCs. CpG-C combines functions of both classes as they strongly activate the secretion of IFN- α from pDCs, and they also stimulate B cells. TLR9 is located in the ER, and upon activation with CpG-DNA, it interacts with Unc93b and translocates to the endosomal compartments resulting in optimal TLR9 signaling [50]. In the endosome, ligand binding induces conformational change and the dimerization of TLR9, which results in the recruitment of the signaling adaptor molecule MyD88 [51]. The interaction between the TIR domains of MyD88 and TLR9 activates the IRAK4 and IRAK1. IRAK-4 is an essential modulator for the gene transcription of proinflammatory cytokines upon TLR9-induced activation of the signaling cascade. The activation of IRAK4 results in the recruitment of TRAF6, which in turn leads to the activation of TAK1. The phosphorylation of the $I\kappa B$ kinase (IKK) complex by TAK1 leads to the activation of NF- κ B, MAPKs, and AP-1. The key transcription molecules NF-KB and AP-1 are then responsible for the induction of cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-12, and TNF, and the upregulation of costimulatory molecules, such as CD80 and CD86 [52]. Depending on the functional and morphological differences, endosomes can be classified as early or late. More specifically in pDCs, in the early endosomes, a signaling complex including IRAK4, IRAK1, TRAF6, and TRAF3 is formed, resulting in IRF7 activation and type I IFN production. In contrast, in the late endosomes of pDCs, the signaling complex includes IRAK4, TRAF6, TAK1, NF-κB, MAPKs, and IRF5, leading to the production of proinflammatory cytokines [53].

Failure to restore homeostasis by the uncontrolled expression of inflammatory mediators may predispose the host to autoimmune diseases, such as SLE and RA. To this end, fine-tuning of the TLR signaling cascades is pivotal in order to obtain a balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory immune responses for eliminating invading pathogens without damaging the host. Several regulatory checkpoints in the TLR pathways are developed in order to tightly regulate the immune system's response including (i) removal of receptors from the cell surface, (ii) expression of negative regulators of the signaling cascades, (iii) adaptor complex destabilization, (iv) phosphorylation and ubiquitin–proteasomemediated control of the signaling molecules, (v) manipulation of the expression of the other receptors and downstream components, and (vi) transcriptional control [54,55]. Potentially harmful TLR signaling pathways can be regulated by negative feedback mechanisms and by anti-inflammatory factors, such as interleukin (IL)-10 and steroids [56,57]. A study by Curtale et al. [57] revealed an increased expression of miR-146b upon LPS stimulation through an IL-10-dependent loop. They also highlighted that this miRNA exhibited antiinflammatory features in human monocytes by targeting TLR4 and several other components of the TLR4 signaling cascade, such as MyD88, IRAK-1, and TRAF6, thus suggesting that miR-146b is a negative modulator of the TLR-induced inflammatory response. In addition, many combinations of TLR-TLR and TLR-NOD modulate inflammatory responses. For instance, the NOD-like receptor family CARD domain containing 3 (NLRC3) regulates the activation of the transcription factor NF- κ B upon TLR stimulation by inhibiting the TRAF6 activation. In a study by Schneider et al. [58], the expression levels of NLRC3 were reduced upon LPS stimulation, and mice lacking the NLRC3 developed enhanced secretion of proinflammatory mediators, proposing a negative role of NLRC3 in the TLR signaling cascade.

1.1.2. RIG-like Receptors (RLRs)

RIG-like receptors (RLRs) are cytoplasmic sensors of viral infection and key players in the recognition of viral nucleic acids by inducing the secretion of type I IFNs and chemokines. RLRs can sense double-stranded RNA and DNA/RNA heteroduplex oligonucleotides, including regions of the genome of RNA viruses and RNA transcripts of RNA and DNA viruses. The two best-characterized RLRs are the retinoic acid-inducible gene I, RIG-I, and the melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5, MDA5. RLRs are characterized by a conserved domain of a central DExD/H-box helicase region and a C-terminus domain (CTD), both of which are implicated in the recognition of viral RNA. In addition, both RLRs contain two N-terminus caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARDs), and upon sensing of viral components, they induce the activation of downstream signaling molecules resulting in type I IFN production [59]. More specifically, RIG-I and MDA5 detect distinct types of viral dsRNAs. RIG-I senses short dsRNA (<1000 bp) and a 5' triphosphate (5' ppp) moiety, found in the genomic RNA of several viruses, in association with short blunt-end double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), such as "panhandle" domains, that are important for RIG-I's ability to discriminate viral from self-RNA. Host cell RNA evades recognition by RIG-I due to post-transcriptional modifications, such as 5'ppp capping with 7-methyl guanosine (m7G) and 2'-0-methylation of 5'-end nucleotides [60,61]. MDA5 recognizes long-chain dsRNA fragments (at least 2 kbp) organized in web-like structures [62]. Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) acts as a central hub for signal transduction initiated by RIG-I and MDA5 via TBK1 and IKK ε in order to activate NF- κ B and IRFs, leading to the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and type I interferons [63]. RIG-like receptors are expressed in a wide variety of cell types, including bone marrow-derived leukocytes and various tissue cells, and enable them to participate in innate immune responses to these viruses.

1.1.3. The cGAS-STING Pathway

Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) is a protein consisting of four transmembrane regions (TMs) and a CTD and is located in the ER. Human STING contains a transmembrane domain in the N-terminus for the regulation of its cellular localization and homodimerization and an intracellular soluble portion in the C-terminus for interacting with downstream molecules, including TBK1/IKK ϵ and IRF3/IRF7. Upon recognition of cytoplasmic DNA from DNA viruses and abnormal endogenous DNA, the **cytosolic DNA sensor cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS)** synthesizes cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate (2',3'-cGAMP) in order to induce translocation of the ER-resident adaptor protein STING to the endoplasmic reticulum–Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and then the Golgi apparatus and the endosomes for degradation in lysosomes. The activated STING dimer recruits TBK1 to form the translocation complex from the ER to the perinuclear lysosomal compartments through an autophagy-like process. The STING–TBK1 complex phosphorylates IRF3 and NF- κ B to promote entry into the nucleus. Then, IRF3 and NF- κ B induce the production of *type I IFN* genes and other

proinflammatory cytokines through the TBK1–IRF3 axis and NF-κB signaling pathway, establishing an antiviral state [64–66].

2. Viral Infection and Autoimmunity

Immunological tolerance is an active, tightly regulated, fine-tuned response of the immune system to self-antigens or against various environmental entities that prevent the immune system to mount possibly harmful responses. There are two types of immune tolerance, central and peripheral tolerance, and both provide and maintain self-tolerance. The discrimination between self- and nonself antigens is pivotal for the proper functioning of the immune system. Failure of immunological tolerance leading to an aberrant immune response against host antigens is critical for the development of autoimmunity [67]. Several triggering factors have been linked to autoimmune responses, such as genetics, environment, age, and viral infections. Viral infection can alter immunological tolerance against self-antigens and has been associated with the initiating or flaring of several autoimmune and inflammatory phenomena in individuals with genetic susceptibilities [68–71]. These infections trigger the antiviral immune response mechanisms resulting in the activation of signaling pathways and the induction of cytokine and chemokine production, the production of autoantibodies, and the deposition of immune complexes (ICs) in tissues some of which could overwhelm the immune regulatory mechanisms. Several mechanisms, such as molecular mimicry, bystander activation of dendritic cells and T-cells, and epitope spreading can explain how viruses might trigger a series of actions leading to the development of an autoimmune disease [68,72]. For instance, the possibility that Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) may trigger several autoimmune diseases, such as SLE and multiple sclerosis (MS), has been reported during the past decades [73,74]. Several studies have demonstrated an increased viral load of EBV DNA in SLE patients compared to healthy individuals [75,76]. Furthermore, a serologic association to EBV infection has been reported with high titers of anti-early antigen (EA) IgG and IgA in SLE patients compared to healthy controls [73,77]. In addition, several reports have revealed the molecular similarity between the EBV nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) and the common lupus autoantigen Ro, as well as the inability of CD8⁺ T cells to control EBV-infected B cells suggesting that viruses may influence the development of SLE pathogenesis [78–82]. Therefore, environmental factors, such as viral infections, may influence the function of PRRs and the expression of downstream molecules involved in the signaling cascades. In innate immune cells, PRR signaling upon viral infection may exaggerate immune responses in autoimmunity (Figure 2). How risk alleles in PRR signaling pathways and genetics contribute to autoimmunity and how viral-induced autoimmunity can be carried out through the above-mentioned mechanisms, is outside the scope of the current review and is discussed elsewhere [68,72,83–87]. However, in the current review, we focus on the crosstalk between innate antiviral immune responses and autoimmune responses mediated by PRR molecules and downstream components and discuss the potential therapeutic targeting of the mechanisms involved.

2.1. The Role of Innate Immune Cells in Antiviral Responses in an Autoimmune Background

2.1.1. Linking Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell (pDC) Antiviral Response with Autoimmunity

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), members of the dendritic cell (DC) family, are key players in antiviral immunity and are known to secrete large amounts of type I IFNs in response to viremia. They represent a heterogeneous cell population with 0.2–0.8% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) that links innate and adaptive immune responses [88]. The main function of these cells is to detect viral nucleic acids through TLR7 and TLR9; capture, process, and present antigens to adaptive immune response [89,90]. TLR7-and TLR9-mediated PRR signaling in pDCs has been reported in various autoimmune conditions suggesting their role in the aberrant immune response, such as cytokine storm and excessive activation of the innate and adaptive immune system observed in many autoimmune and inflammatory phenomena. The emerging literature indicates how type I



IFN produced by pDCs in antiviral immunity may contribute to autoimmune pathology and how similar pathways are triggered and may drive disease pathogenesis [91–94].

Figure 2. PRR signaling upon viral infection may either lead to acute inflammatory response and resolution or trigger autoimmune responses. Innate immunity is activated upon viral exposure, and the response is mediated through pattern recognition receptor (PRR) molecules that recognize the viral nucleic acids, the adaptor molecules that mediate the signal to downstream components, and the transcription factors that are responsible for the outcome. An acute inflammatory response is orchestrated by the release of antiviral molecules, such as interferons, proinflammatory cytokines, and chemokines at sites of infection. In autoimmune diseases, a combination of genetic susceptibility, such as gene copy variations and single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and environmental as well as hormonal factors including UV light, toxic chemicals, and genes defined by the X chromosome, leads to loss of self-tolerance and chronic inflammation. In this environment, when a viral infection occurs, the host defense mechanisms are exposed and may promote an exaggerated immune response, which can lead to initiation or exacerbation of autoimmunity.

Hillen et al. [95] demonstrated that in primary Sjögren's Syndrome (pSS), which is a systemic autoimmune disease characterized by salivary and lacrimal gland dysfunction, circulating pDCs from pSS patients display an activated transcriptional profile and are primed for enhanced proinflammatory cytokine secretion compared to healthy donor (HD) pDCs. More specifically, they exhibit high levels of proinflammatory cytokines upon stimulation with endosomal TLR ligands as the activation of TLR7 triggered more type I IFN production in pSS pDCs compared to HD, similar to an antiviral response. Moreover, in a study by Mavragani et al. [96], endogenous virus-like genomic repeat elements in pSS patients triggered the IFN-I pathway through the activation of TLR7/8 signaling cascade in pDCs further influencing the initiation or amplification of SS. Thus, such studies provide insights into the role of viral infection in the initiation or propagation of several autoimmune diseases. Another recent study by Wang et al. [97] revealed that TLR7 signaling influences the development of Sjögren's syndrome (SS) since TLR8-deficient mice that develop SLE due to enhanced TLR7 signaling by DCs also develop a secondary pathology similar to SS. This highlights that the development of the SS phenotype is dependent on TLR7 signaling. In light of this, they also revealed an increased TLR7 expression and enhanced inflammatory cytokine and chemokine secretion, such as TNF, LT- α , CXCL13, and CXCR5 in pDCs of pSS

patients. These data substantiate the role of TLR signaling in mediating the inflammatory features of pDCs in pSS immunopathology supporting their contribution in the initiation or progression of autoimmunity. This enhanced signaling in pSS pathology through TLR7/8, often triggered by viral entities, suggests that PRRs promote and influence the progression of autoimmune diseases by favoring a sustained inflammatory response.

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic multisystem autoimmune disease that manifests a wide range of clinical and molecular abnormalities and is characterized by the loss of self-tolerance to nuclear antigens [98]. An elevated expression of type I IFNs and type I IFN-regulated genes termed as the IFN signature has been reported in the majority of SLE patients [99–102]. The IFN gene signature observed in SLE patients is characterized by the increased expression of IFN-regulated genes, such as ISG15, IFI16, and FcgRI (CD64), and is mainly reflected by the circulating type I IFNs [101,103]. The disease activity correlates with *IFN*- α expression levels and the strength of the IFN signature [104–106]. In lupus, IFN- α -driven immunologic alterations culminate into persistent self-directed immune responses against autologous nucleic acids, mimicking a sustained antiviral response. In detail, an initial viral infection that can be sensed by different PRR molecules and mediated by several signaling cascades as discussed previously, can promote type I IFN secretion and release of cellular material from dying or apoptotic cells. Then, apoptotic cells release DNA- or RNA-containing autoantigens as well as neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which triggers B cells to produce autoantibodies against CpG-rich DNA or ss-RNA and associated proteins. The formation of interferogenic ICs will act as an endogenous adjuvant for triggering type I IFNs, leading to a prolonged activation of the immune system to produce IFNs. This will result in the chronic activation of the IFN system, which will enable the development of autoimmune phenomena, chronic inflammatory processes, and tissue damage in a vicious circle [107].

IFN- α has multiple immunostimulatory properties that include the expression of several pivotal molecules in the response of the immune system, such as MHC II, CXCL10, CXCR3, CD40, CD80, and CD86. Depending on the cell type exposed to IFN, the effects will vary and may be detrimental. For example, type I IFNs influence the function of B cells through several mechanisms, such as the production of B-cell activating factor (BAFF) from monocytes and neutrophils, thus leading to prolonged survival and activation of B cells and enhanced T-cell-independent and -dependent antibody production [108,109]. Genetic, epigenetic, environmental, and immunoregulatory factors influence the outcome of SLE pathogenesis (Figure 2) [110,111]. It is also well established that SLE is a femalepredominant disease, although the causes of sex bias are ill-defined. Moreover, mounting evidence suggests that PRRs promote and influence the progression of autoimmune diseases by favoring a sustained inflammatory response to self-components [112,113]. In addition, enhanced TLR7-mediated IFN- α production was also demonstrated in pDCs from SLE patients in a study by Murayama et al. [114]. It was also reported that pDCs stimulated with the TLR7 agonist promoted an autoimmune Th17 phenotype and increased levels of type I IFNs were correlated with high amounts of Th17 cytokines in the serum of SLE patients [115,116]. In addition, a distinctive feature of SLE immunopathology is the increased numbers of ICs in the serum of SLE patients correlating with disease severity [117]. It was revealed that these nucleic acid-containing immune complexes are internalized by pDCs via FcyRIIa into endosomes where they stimulate TLR7 and TLR9 leading to type I IFN secretion. Also, type I IFN production by pDCs stimulated with ICs is robustly enhanced in the presence of activated T cells [118,119]. Furthermore, it is well established that EBV RNA and DNA enhance the secretion of IFN- α through TLR7 and TLR9 in pDCs and SLE patients demonstrate high titers of EBV and increased latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) expression levels, which is a well-known oncoprotein of the EBV latent gene products [114,120]. Thus, these studies highlight that EBV might be linked with the initiation and progression of SLE since the type I IFN pathway is activated. In addition to this, it has also been reported that IFN- α and several other proinflammatory cytokines are able to induce LMP-1 expression in B cells infected with EBV thus supporting the notion that

EBV and its products are involved in key pathways modulating SLE activity and severity and may exacerbate the autoimmune phenotype observed via promoting IFN production through PRR pathways [121]. Interestingly, it seems that viruses can trigger autoimmunity through several mechanisms, one of them being the stimulation of intracellular PRR inflammatory cascades thus leading to the production of IFNs and cytokines that may excessively activate the immunoregulatory mechanisms and predispose to autoimmunity or exacerbate the pathology. Another study by Dominique et al. [122] on systemic sclerosis (SSc), which is a multisystem, fibrosing autoimmune disorder characterized by immune dysregulation, revealed that SSc pDCs demonstrated enhanced expression of TLR8 leading to the promotion of IFN- α production. This study underlines the key role of pDCs in the sensing of RNA and the subsequent activation of TLR inflammatory cascades in the establishment of fibrosis (Table 1). Moreover, a possible pathogenic association of viral infection and the development of SSc has been proposed, with the human parvovirus B19 (B19) and human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) as the important triggering agents in SSc pathology. Further studies are needed in order to expand our knowledge on the crosstalk between SSc viral products, PRR inflammatory pathways, and SSc immunopathology.

In summary, pDCs are important players in the mechanisms underlying several autoimmune diseases and demonstrate enriched inflammatory responses through the activation of TLR7/8 and TLR9 signaling pathways and the IFN system. Frequently, this activation is either triggered by environmental agents, such as viruses or self-components, both resulting in the excessive stimulation of the immune response. It is of great importance to evaluate how these cells can orchestrate an effective antiviral immune response with type I IFN production and cytokine secretion in autoimmunity.

2.1.2. Linking Monocyte Antiviral Response with Autoimmunity

Monocytes are blood mononuclear cells that arise from bone marrow progenitors. Based on CD14 (lipopolysaccharide (LPS) coreceptor) and CD16 (Fc γ RIII) expression levels, human monocytes are divided into three phenotypically and functionally distinct populations: the CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻ classical, CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺ intermediate, and CD14^{low}CD16⁺⁺ nonclassical [123,124]. They are key players in recognizing pathogen-associated molecular patterns via PRRs and eliciting an immune response via the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines. By sensing the inflammatory environment, circulating monocytes can replenish the pool of tissue monocyte-derived macrophages (moM φ s) and inflammatory monocyte-derived dendritic cells (moDCs) [125,126]. Several lines of evidence showed that monocyte activation is associated with the disease progression and severity in several autoimmune diseases [127]. Nucleic acid sensing leads to the activation of IFN- α immunity, which in combination with clearance pathways, orchestrates the antiviral response. However, how can the aberrant activation of the PRR signaling pathways in monocytes through the sensing of nucleic acids or other triggering factors be implicated in the development of autoimmunity?

A recent study by Kyogoku et al. [128] revealed that monocytes from SLE patients demonstrated a pathogenic IFN signature (activation of IRFs, GTPases, and kinases) [102] observed in autoimmune conditions augmented by the expression of cytokines, such as IL-9, IL-10, and IL-15 and mediated by the JAK/STAT signaling pathway. This can be compared to monocytes from HDs immunized with the yellow fever vaccine (YFV), which express more normal cell-specific and virus-induced signatures. A common IFN signature is a pure virus-induced signature detected in healthy donors immunized with the influenza vaccine and has a composition of mainly type I IFNs, which are the major antiviral cytokines. In contrast, type I IFNs are also dominant in SLE pathogenesis and govern the immune responses of CD4⁺ T cells and monocytes, but at the same time, these responsible for the difference observed between "common" and "autoimmune-specific" IFN signatures, reflecting the sustained IFN response in SLE patients. Moreover, the IFN signature observed in SLE patients leads circulating monocytes to differentiate into

potent antigen-presenting dendritic cells (DCs) with an increased capacity to orchestrate T and B cell responses [129]. In a study by Gkritzimanaki et al. [130], mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) was accumulated in the cytosol of CD14⁺ monocytes due to a deregulation of the mitochondrial metabolism caused by IFN- α and the dysfunction of autophagic digestion and was sensed via STING to favor the differentiation to autoinflammatory DCs and enhance the autoimmune response. Specifically, autoinflammatory DCs activate T cells and then contribute to the expansion and survival of autoantibody-producing cells by T–B cell aberrant communication [131]. STING and one of its ligands, mtDNA, cause an immune stimulatory output through NF-κB and/or TBK1/IRF3 similar to an antiviral response and have a critical involvement in disease pathogenesis. Moreover, the overexpression of *TLR7* due to the duplication of the $Y\alpha\alpha$ (Y-chromosome-linked autoimmune acceleration) locus leads to the exacerbation of autoimmunity in murine lupus [132]. In addition, a recent study by Brown et al. [133] showed that a TLR7 gain of function gene variant may cause human SLE. In addition, another recent study by Murakami et al. [134] demonstrated that TLR7 drives autoantibody production and lupus-associated monocytosis in NZBWF1 mice. The antiTLR7 mAb, but not antiTLR9, ameliorated nephritis in lupus-prone mice by inhibiting IgG deposition in glomeruli and autoantibody production in B cells and monocytes. They also revealed that Ly6C^{low} patrolling monocytes were enhanced in the circulation, spleen, and glomeruli of NZBWF1 mice and displayed an overexpression of genes linked with lupus pathogenesis, such as TLR7, IL-10, CD115, CD31, and TNFSF15. This evidence suggests the importance of TLR7 in the progression of the disease as the hyperactivation of TLR7 may cause the uncontrolled sensing of several triggering components and an aberrant inflammatory response.

In addition, germline mutations in the human SAMHD1 gene represent the main cause of the progression of the autoinflammatory Aicardi–Goutières Syndrome (AGS). SAMHD1 protein is known to restrict HIV-1 infection in cells of the myeloid lineage, such as monocytes/macrophages and DCs, by inhibiting the synthesis of viral DNA. AGS mimics congenital viral infection as defective nucleases in AGS are involved in the deficient removal of endogenous nucleic acids resulting in the accumulation of ssDNA and the chronic activation of the innate immune response and the DNA damage response network [135–137]. The phenotypic overlap of AGS with congenital infection and some traits of SLE pathogenesis highlights the IFN- α -mediated immune response upon viral and host nucleic acids triggering the PRR signaling cascades [138]. A recent study [139] revealed that SAMHD1 KO human monocytic THP-1 cells displayed nucleic acid deposition in the cytosol and spontaneous expressions of type I IFNs and ISGs, replicating the phenotype observed in patients with AGS. The inhibition of the TBK1-IRF3 pathway, through BX795, which is an inhibitor of the catalytic activity of TBK1/IKK ε thus attenuating the phosphorylation of IRF3 and blocking its activation, overruled the secretion of type I IFNs observed in the SAMHD1 KO cells. Therefore, in AGS patients, monocytes exhibit a failure to process nucleic acids leading to the activation of autoimmune responses.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease in which many cells from the innate and adaptive immune branch take part in the development of inflammation in synovial joints. Focusing on monocytes, these cells display a significant role in the progression of synovial inflammation since they are recruited at sites of infection by interacting with chemotactic ligands that are present in fibroblasts, such as synoviocytes (FLS), and other autoimmune cells, and sustain the perpetuation of autoimmunity [140]. The interplay between genetic and environmental factors as well as a defective immune response is of great importance in the development and progression of RA pathogenesis [141]. Furthermore, infection by viral particles, such as EBV, has been linked with multiple malfunctions in RA, increasing the prevalence of flares of disease activity [72]. It is well established that human B cells are the main targets of EBV, although several reports indicate that EBV can also infect other cells including monocytes [79,142,143]. In a study by Lacerte et al. [144], active RA patients demonstrated an overexpression of TLR2 and TLR9 in blood and synovial monocytes upon

induction with synthetic and viral ligands for TLR2 and TLR9. They also demonstrated that the EBV genome was present in monocytes and neutrophils, strengthening its role in the exaggeration of the disease [144,145]. Another study revealed that the expression of TLR2 in CD16⁺ blood monocytes contributed to the production of TNF- α in RA patients [146]. The above-mentioned findings suggest that both classical and intermediate monocytes are key players in the development of inflammation in the tissues of active RA patients through the PRR-mediated activation of inflammatory cascades. In addition, classical monocytes produce costimulatory molecules and chemoattracting factors and regulate the progression of inflammation. Viral components, such as EBV, virions can induce the activation of TLR2 and TLR9 in the synovial compartment and sustain the inflammatory response, causing the exacerbation of the disease in susceptible RA patients. Moreover, the removal of pathogenic components through phagocytosis could also trigger TLR activation. Neutrophils and macrophages are the main phagocytes of the immune system as they engulf dead cells and then elicit an inflammatory response. Activation of the innate immune response may also occur, for instance, when the genetic material of dead cells is not effectively degraded, leading to B cell activation through B cell receptor (BCR) and TLR stimulation [147]. Complement deficiencies is another way of promoting autoimmune features in SLE through insufficient clearance [148]. This insufficient clearance may lead to the break of self-tolerance and then to autoimmunity [149].

Another study by Farina et al. [150] revealed that newly lytic EBV mRNA enhanced TLR8 expression in infected SSc and HD monocytes. MyD88 and IRF7 expression was also induced in infected EBV monocytes from SSc patients and HDs. This increase was associated with a robust induction of *IFN-regulated genes* and chemokines, such as CXCL9, OAS3, Siglec1, CCL2, IL-6, and TNF α , in SSc- and EBV-infected monocytes, which are markers associated with the activation state of monocytes. Studies with THP-1 cells indicated that EBV was influencing the immune system in a TLR8-dependent manner. Moreover, viral mRNA and proteins were detected in freshly isolated SSc monocytes where a microarray analysis demonstrated an increased IFN proinflammatory response and an altered level of TLR8 expression in EBV-infected SSc monocytes compared to HD monocytes. Overall, through the EBV paradigm, this study highlights that TLR8 possesses a central role in the activation of SSc monocytes in SSc through TLR8 might be attributed to an EBV infection, thus supporting the notion that viral infection promotes autoimmunity through PRR signaling cascades, which affects the IFN innate immune responses.

Primary Sjögren's Syndrome is also associated with the altered immune response of monocytes. Additional research by Lopes et al. [151] demonstrates that the transcriptome of pSS monocytes is enriched for gene expression profiles associated with intermediate and nonclassical monocytes. Monocytes from pSS patients exhibit an activating profile with dysregulation in gene expression for translation, IFN signaling, and TLR signaling pathways, such as TLR4, TLR5, and TLR7/8. Serum from pSS patients primed monocytes to an increased secretion of TNF- α upon activation with TLR ligands compared to HD monocytes, and that may promote inflammation and the activation of other immune cells and contribute to pSS immunopathology. As it has been previously shown [152], monocytes from pSS patients exhibit an impaired phagocytic capacity of apoptotic cells and fail to promote an immunosuppressant cytokine profile to resolve inflammation and tissue injury. The interferon- α/β receptor (IFNAR) is a cell surface receptor that binds type I IFNs leading to the activation of the JAK–STAT signaling and the MAPK, PI3K, and Akt signaling cascades and therefore favoring the production of *ISGs*. IFNAR blockade partially abrogated the alterations observed, suggesting that the transcriptome profile of pSS monocytes can be characterized as IFN-dependent and independent (Table 1). However, it remains to be established whether monocytes in pSS pathology are functional in order to mediate antiviral immune responses. In this direction, characterizing the mechanisms of actions mediating the sustained activation of monocytes in pSS seems to be of great importance.

Collectively, these studies highlight the activating profile of monocytes with aberrant PRR response in various autoimmune diseases. This abnormal PRR response is often triggered by viral components culminating in the initiation or exacerbation of autoimmunity. The exact causes for the observed PRR manifestations and the differential roles of PRR signaling in autoimmunity but also how the antiviral response is affected remain to be defined in more detail.

2.1.3. Linking Macrophage Antiviral Response with Autoimmunity

Macrophages are tissue-resident or infiltrated immune cells with critical immunoregulatory, antimicrobial, and tissue-repairing roles to decrease immune reactions and promote tissue regeneration. They either originate from yolk sac (YS) progenitors during embryonic development and are maintained in postnatal life in certain adult tissues, or they derive from bone marrow (BM) hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) progenitors and circulating monocytes [125,153–155]. M1-like (classically activated) and M2-like (alternatively activated or wound-healing) macrophages are the two major subsets of activated macrophages with distinct cellular and molecular functions. Both subsets are involved in inflammatory responses with the difference that M1 macrophages have an important role in proinflammatory response, whereas M2 macrophages are mostly involved in tissue repair and anti-inflammatory responses [156,157]. Recent data have demonstrated that the activation of macrophages cannot be fully described using the M1/M2 paradigm. Macrophage phenotype alternates in response to various stimuli. For example, an increased number of macrophages in the circulation expresses both M1 surface markers, such as CD80, CD86, and TLR4 and M2 molecules, such as CD204 and CD163. In addition, macrophages express various TLRs, such as TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, and TLR7/8, and have many functions in restoring cell homeostasis. Some of their roles include the recognition and elimination of invading pathogens through phagocytosis and the subsequent presentation of antigens to T cells in order to orchestrate an inflammatory response [158]. There is also growing evidence supporting a causal link between the presence or activation of macrophages and the development of autoimmune diseases [159]. Their contribution to autoimmunity and inflammation comes through their ability to present autoantigens and their potent effector mechanisms, unleashed during innate and adaptive immune responses [159]. However, the emerging literature highlights a causal link between antiviral response mechanisms in macrophages and autoimmune phenomena [159–162].

IRF3-induced type I interferon production has an important role in antiviral responses and SLE. Serine/threonine kinase AKT2 regulates the type I IFN production by phosphorylating IRF3 at Thr207 to attenuate IRF3 nuclear translocation, resulting in diminished type I IFN production. To this end, a recent study by Zheng et al. [163] demonstrated that in viralinfected macrophages or monocytes and samples from SLE patients and mouse models, AKT2 expression is decreased, and *Akt2* deficiency promotes IFN β 1 and the production of *ISGs* to enhance an antiviral defense while heightening SLE in mouse models. These findings indicate that cells in autoimmune diseases, such as lupus, may be already prone to PRR defects, and the infection of viral pathogens further exacerbates the pre-existing deregulated PRR signaling [81,82,164–167].

Macrophages also play an important role in the progression of rheumatoid arthritis (RA). A study by Quero et al. [168] revealed that differentiated M2 macrophages from monocytes of HD or RA patients depicted an impeded anti-inflammatory profile due to the production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-8, upon TLR2 stimulation. The critical role of TLR signaling in the pathogenesis of RA has been already stated by various studies in murine arthritis models. Abdollahi et al. [169] demonstrated that the development of streptococcal cell wall (SCW)-induced arthritis in mice was dependent on TLR2 during the acute phase, and this effect was changed to TLR4 dependency during the chronic joint inflammation phase. They have also previously reported that the inhibition of TLR4 by a TLR4 antagonist in a collagen-induced RA mouse model (CIA) repressed the clinical manifestations and the severity of arthritis [170]. Moreover, TLR7 displays

high levels in synovial tissue (ST) lining and sublining macrophages (CD68⁺ macrophages identified in synovial biopsies) from RA patients. In a study by Kim et al. [171], it was revealed that miR-let-7b is a TLR7 endogenous ligand and is found in RA synovial fluid macrophages. The activation of TLR7 by miR-let-7b favors the differentiation of antiinflammatory into inflammatory M1 macrophages and promotes the progression of arthritis. It was also shown [172] that ligands present in the inflamed joint of RA patients, stimulate TLR3 and TLR7 leading to a proinflammatory cytokine production in an IRF5-dependent manner. Therefore, since TLR signaling is enhanced in the macrophages of RA patients in a similar manner to an antiviral response, it would be intriguing to extend the investigation beyond the systemic autoimmune phenotype and delineate how nucleic acids and viral infection mediated by these TLRs would be affected.

Another recent study by Witas et al. [173] demonstrated that when C57BL/6 (B6) and Sjögren's syndrome-susceptible (SS⁵) bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) were incubated with apoptotic cells (ACs), an inflammatory profile was induced in SS⁵ BMDMs. This profile was characterized by the overexpression of genes involved in the IFN signaling pathway, costimulatory molecules, and myeloid activation genes as well as inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-12b, IL-1 β , and IL-10. Witas et al. also demonstrated an increased TLR7 and TLR9 expression in PBMCs of pSS patients and increased secretion of IL-1 β and TNF. By inhibiting TLR7 and TLR9, they showed a decreased inflammatory response of SS^S BMDMs to ACs. A separate study by Wang et al. [97] also indicated that TLR7 expression is enhanced in SS patient salivary gland tissue leading to the secretion of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as TNF, CXCL12, and CXCR5. This group also reported that TLR8 KO mice developed SS pathology that was driven by enhanced TLR7 signaling. After the inhibition of TLR7 and TLR9, a diminished ACinduced secretion of inflammatory genes in SS^S BMDMs was observed. This underlines that the inflammatory response observed upon AC activation in SS^S BMDMs is mediated by the stimulation of *TLR7* and *TLR9*. In addition, monocytes from SS patients that are IFN positive exhibit a high expression of *TLR7* and downstream effector molecules *MyD88*, RSAD2, IRF7, RIG-I, and MDA5 [174]. To conclude, the AC stimulation of TLR9 resembles the inflammatory milieu in SS autoimmune disease as in many other autoimmune diseases, and the enhanced inflammatory cytokine and costimulatory response in SS^S BMDMs may contribute to the initiation of an autoimmune environment. In general, macrophages, as well as DCs, are efferocytic cells that can elicit a rapid and efficient clearance of apoptotic cells and debris in order to maintain cell homeostasis and sustain self-tolerance. Through efferocytosis, macrophages ensure the well-organized elimination of apoptotic cells without antigen presentation and inflammation. When efferocytosis is disturbed, apoptotic cells can rupture, secreting cellular components and inducing a hyperactivation of the innate and adaptive immunity resulting in autoimmunity. These findings indicate an expanded role of macrophages in SS pathology and autoimmunity, with apoptotic cells stimulating an inflammatory response in a similar way to an antiviral response through different TLRs (Table 1).

To summarize, macrophages are key modulators in the host defense mechanisms, such as the PRR signaling pathways, that are often exposed in an autoimmune context. Since these cells are essential components of the innate immune response, it is of interest to determine whether pathogenic components might trigger the autoimmune phenotype observed through PRR molecules and the impact in the antiviral response mechanisms.

2.1.4. Linking Neutrophil Antiviral Response with Autoimmunity

Neutrophils are polymorphonuclear (PMN) leukocytes of the innate immune system that play a significant role in the defense against invading pathogens. They patrol the organism for signs of tissue damage or infection and participate in mediating inflammation through phagocytosis and intracellular degradation, release of granules, and NET formation after the detection of pathogenic invaders [175,176]. NETs are extracellular fibers that are composed of nuclear chromatin associated with proteins released upon neutrophil lysis.

Released NETs display antimicrobial functions as they are able to capture and kill pathogens. Neutrophils may also be a source of the DNA, through NET formation, that triggers PRRs and leads to hyper-responses [177]. In lupus, DNA-containing ICs released upon NETosis are able to activate TLR9 in pDCs and induce the production of IFN- α [178]. Moreover, NET formation can trigger complement activation leading to the exacerbation of SLE pathogenesis [179]. NETs also activate neutrophils as reported by recent data through the TLR8 and TLR9 signaling cascades, although further studies need to elucidate the exact receptors and molecules involved [177,180,181]. Neutrophils are also important producers of cytokines and chemokines in order to boost the inflammatory response and recruit other immune cells at the sites of infection during viral invasion and autoimmunity [182,183].

During viral infection, neutrophils engulf virions and apoptotic cells through phagocytosis in order to eliminate viral replication and favor the clearance of the virus. NET formation can also promote viral elimination by capturing the viral particles and inactivating the virus [184,185]. Within lupus serum, ICs induce NETs and the production of type I IFNs through the activation of neutrophil Fcg receptors and TLR7 receptors [186,187]. Lood et al. [188] revealed that the TLR7/8-mediated shedding of Fc gamma receptor II A (FcgRIIA), which is the most widely expressed FcgR of the human leukocytes, shifts neutrophil function from the phagocytosis of nucleic acid-containing ICs to NETosis, a programmed form of necrosis, thus favoring their inflammatory potential while also impairing the phagocytic capacity of other immune cells, such as monocytes and DCs. They also reported that in SLE patients, FcgRIIA shedding in monocytes and neutrophils is present and correlated with the activation of neutrophils. Therefore, neutrophils seem to play an important role in regulating inflammation and autoimmunity through TLR7/8 activation and in influencing other immune cell effector functions. However, another study revealed that SLE-derived ICs activate neutrophils to release ROS and chemokines in a FcgRIIA-dependent and TLR7- and TLR9-independent manner contributing to local tissue inflammation and injury [189]. To this end, in SLE, a switch in neutrophil activity with a diminished phagocytic capacity but an increased NET formation is observed. Therefore, it remains unexplored how efficiently neutrophils will facilitate antiviral responses in an autoimmune setting (Table 1).

Taken together, these studies support the complex role of neutrophils in mediating immune responses during viral infections and autoimmune diseases. However, a direct causative link of antiviral response mechanisms of neutrophils with flares in autoimmunity remains to be established.

2.1.5. Linking Natural Killer (NK) Cell Antiviral Response with Autoimmunity

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are a recently discovered group of innate immune cells that originate from common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs). There are five subsets of ILCs based on the differences observed in development, phenotype, and function: NK cells, ILC1s, ILC2s, ILC3s, and lymphoid tissue-inducer (LTi) cells [190]. Natural killer (NK) cells, which belong to the family of ILCs, represent 5–20% of all human circulating lymphocyte subsets. There are two subsets of human NK cells: the CD3⁻CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ and the CD3⁻CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ subsets. CD56^{dim} display cytotoxic functions, whereas CD56^{bright} are important players in cytokine secretion [191]. Altered functional and regulatory profiles of NK cells could influence the outcome of several autoimmune diseases [192,193]. Upon TLR activation, NK cells produce cytokines, such as IL6, TNF- α , and (MIP)-1 α , and crosstalk with other immune cells, thus having an important role in the development of inflammation and the severity of the disease. Moreover, an important role of NK cells in antiviral innate immunity has been demonstrated [194]. Upon viral infection, type I IFNs have the ability to directly regulate the activation of NK cells by promoting their proliferation and cytotoxic properties for efficient clearance of the virus [195,196].

A study by Cossu et al. [197] reported that an increase in activated CD56^{bright} NK cells with SSc progression from early to definite SSc was shown upon TLR1/2 stimulation. This increase was further combined with an enhanced secretion of IL6, TNF- α , and

MIP-1α/CCL3 underlying the role of NK cells in SSc onset. CD56⁺ cells from patients at different stages of SSc respond in a different manner to TLR activation, highlighting the role of immunity in the developmental and prefibrotic SSc (Table 1). The interplay of NK cells with other immune cells, such as DCs, following TLR activation is an important home-ostatic control that balances the efficiency of innate and adaptive immune responses with the risk to develop autoimmune events. Interestingly, in a study by Schuster et al. [198], it was revealed that a TRAIL⁺ NK cell subset controls immune responses during chronic murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection by eliminating the effector CD4⁺ T cells thus reducing the antiviral response and hindering the clearance of the virus. In addition, they demonstrated that upon MCMV infection, mice that lack the TRAIL⁺ NK cell subset develop an autoimmune disorder that has the clinical and histopathological characteristics of SS. It is apparent that in this setting, NK cells act in a protective manner and limit autoimmune responses. This well-coordinated balance between homeostasis and chronic viral infection underlines the mechanisms of action that may culminate in systemic autoimmune phenomena with a viral etiology.

Although NK cells seem to have a significant role in the fine-tuning of antiviral response mechanisms and adaptive immune responses that may lead to autoimmune features, further studies are needed to establish their functions in the pathophysiology of autoimmune diseases and the mechanisms of action.

Cell Type	Autoimmune Context	Affected Molecule	Type of Defect/Triggering	Reference
pDCs	pSS	TLR7	Activation	[95–97]
pDCs	ŜLE	TLR7	Activation	[114–116]
pDCs	SLE	TLR7, TLR9	Activation (ICs stimulation, EBV genome)	[118,119]
pDCs	SSc	TLR8	Activation	[122]
Monocytes	SLE	STING	Activation (mtDNA)	[130]
Monocytes	SLE	TLR7	Activation (inflamm [43])	
Monocytes	AGS	SAMHD1	SAMHD1 deficiency	[139]
Monocytes	RA	TLR2, TLR9	Activation (inflammation and EBV virions)	[144]
Monocytes	RA	TLR2	Activation (inflammation)	[146]
Monocytes	SSc	TLR8	Activation (viral EBV mRNA and proteins and inflammation)	[150]
Monocytes	SSc	MyD88, IRF7	Activation (viral EBV mRNA and proteins and inflammation)	[150]
Monocytes	pSS	TLR4, TLR5, TLR7/8	Dysregulation (inflammation)	[151]
Macrophages	SLE	AKT2	Decreased AKT2 expression (viral infection or inflammation)	[163]
Macrophages	RA	TLR2	Activation (inflammation)	[168]
Macrophages	RA	TLR2, TLR4	Activation (inflammation)	[169,170]
Macrophages	RA	TLR7	Activation (inflammation)	[171]
Macrophages	RA	TLR3, TLR7, IRF5	Activation (inflammation)	[172]
Macrophages	SS	TLR7, TLR9	Activation (inflammation)	[97,173]
Macrophages	SS	TLR7, MyD88, RSAD2, IRF7, RIG-I, MDA5	Activation (ACs and inflammation)	[174]
Neutrophils	SLE	TLR7	Activation (ICs and inflammation)	[186,187,197]
Neutrophils	SLE	TLR7/8	Activation (ICs and inflammation)	[186–188]
NK cells	SSc	TLR1/2	Activation (inflammation)	[188,197]

3. Therapeutic Manipulation of PRR Signaling in Autoimmunity

PRRs are essential elements in innate immunity and play a significant role in the host defense mechanism against viral microbes. The overactivation of PRRs or downstream molecules disrupts the homeostasis of the immune system resulting in excessive inflammatory cytokine secretion. The involvement of nucleic acid-sensing mechanisms in the immune response against infections and in autoimmune diseases makes these pathways interesting targets for drug design. The exaggerated response of the immune cells with a hyperproduction of cytokines called a "cytokine storm" plays an important role in the manifestation and progression of autoimmunity [11]. In this context, targeting the PRR signaling cascades in autoimmunity could be accomplished within the following frames: (a) blocking the binding of TLR ligands or the dimerization of the receptors and (b) interfering and inhibiting the signal transduction downstream of the PRRs [5,199].

The development of therapeutic agents for inhibiting PRR signaling, such as small molecule inhibitors, antibodies, oligonucleotides, lipid-A analogs, microRNAs, new emerging nano-inhibitors, and drugs, may help to control the hyperinflammation observed in autoimmune diseases induced by various factors, such as the uncontrolled recognition of self-nucleic acids and autoantibodies. Antimalarial drugs, such as chloroquine (CQ), hydroxychloroquine sulfate (HQ), and quinacrine, serve as antagonists for TLR7, 8, and 9 and have been used for the treatment of autoimmune diseases, such as SLE and RA. More specifically, hydroxychloroquine is a widely used antimalarial to treat both RA and SLE by modulating neutrophil function. It has recently been reported that the inhibition of TLR9 can lead to the inhibition of NET formation [200]. Antimalarial drugs are also lysosomotropic agents that target the lysosomal compartment leading to the permeabilization of the lysosomal membrane and secretion of enzymes along with signaling for apoptosis. These lysosomotropic agents could affect the PRR signaling cascades and dampen the hyper-responses to self-nucleic acids. For instance, HCQ and CQ can inhibit the uptake of nucleic acids and therefore the activation of nucleic acid sensors, such as TLR3, TLR8, TLR9, and cyclic cGAS, leading to the inhibition of the PRR-mediated activation of downstream molecules and the subsequent secretion of type I IFNs and inflammatory cytokines [201]. Another TLR7/8 inhibitor, M5049, inhibits TLR7/8 activation in pDCs, neutrophils, and monocytes, thus reducing IFN and inflammatory cytokine production. In addition, it was reported that M5049 may also block adaptive inflammation by inhibiting autoreactive B cells and seems to be a promising drug candidate [202]. Moreover, there is no evidence of inhibitors targeting CLRs and RLRs for the treatment of autoimmune diseases in clinical trials [199]. However, ARL5B, which is an MDA5-binding protein, has been reported to block the interaction of MDA5 with dsRNA [203]. In addition, DNAJB1 binds to MDA5 and prevents multimer formation attenuating type I IFN production and innate immune response [204]. In addition, another good therapeutic target could be the UNC93B1, as it has recently been demonstrated to block the cGAS-STING signaling cascade by attenuating IRF3 nuclear translocation and decreasing STING stability by promoting its intracellular degradation via the autophagy pathway [205]. Various therapeutic agents are in clinical trials targeting TLRs in order to control inflammation and hyper-responses in autoimmune diseases. This observation highlights the importance of TLRs in the initiation and progression of autoimmunity and places their agonists as ideal candidates for drug discovery in order to suppress the inflammatory response. However, the main concern of the TLRfocused effective treatment strategy should be to maintain the generic function of TLRs as they are important receptors for indicating and responding to a viral infection and other cell abnormalities of various pathology. It is of great interest to explore what happens when we suppress the response of TLRs to treat several autoimmune diseases while a viral infection occurs, as a balancing act is pivotal in order to restore homeostasis. In addition, other PRRs, such as MDA5 and STING, also play a significant role in the response to viral infections as well as autoimmunity, but their therapeutic targeting seems to be more challenging than anticipated. Attenuating STING and other PRR activities, which are important regulators of the immune response to ameliorate inflammation in the context of autoimmunity, may give rise to new challenges in order to combat viral infection.

Several molecules have a significant role in the signal transduction downstream of PRRs, including MyD88, IRAK4, TRAF6, TAK1, TRIF, TBK1, and NF-κB, as mentioned previously. The development of inhibitors targeting these molecules is of great importance in order to treat autoimmune diseases. Three IRAK4 inhibitors have entered clinical trials with promising results for the treatment of RA [206,207]. Many studies use mouse models

in order to explore the treatment efficiency of the inhibitors. For example, polyphyllin I (PPI) is an NF- κ B inhibitor, as it diminished the phosphorylation of the NF- κ B subunit p65 and the subsequent p65 accumulation in the nucleus. It was revealed that PPI seem to ameliorate synovial inflammation by suppressing the NF-κB-induced inflammatory signaling observed in macrophages in an RA mouse model [208]. Taraxasterol (TAR) diminished IL-1 β -induced synovial inflammation in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes RA (HFLS-RA) in vitro and the progression of the disease in a RA mouse model in vivo. TAR seems to be a considerable therapeutic compound for RA by suppressing the NF- κ B and NLRP3 inflammasome-induced synovial inflammation [209]. In addition, the role of IRFs in the regulation of the immune response makes these transcriptional regulators important therapeutic candidates for drug discovery [210]. Recently, it was reported by Li et al. [211] that dysregulated IRF5 activity is a driver of SLE disease onset and severity. Preclinical treatment of NZBWF1 mice with an IRF5 inhibitor led to reduced antinuclear autoantibodies, dsDNA titers, and circulating plasma cells and attenuated SLE pathology to improve survival. In ex vivo human studies, the inhibitor blocked SLE serum-induced IRF5 activation and reversed basal IRF5 hyperactivation in SLE immune cells [212].

To conclude, chemical agents targeting several TLRs and downstream effector molecules and cytokines offer novel opportunities for the prevention of or intervention against virusinduced infectious diseases and autoimmunity. Targeting PRRs with drugs may also induce harmful immune activation or unwanted immunosuppression dampening antiviral responses. From this perspective, targeting selective innate immune cell types, such as monocytes, macrophages, DCs, or neutrophils, that play critical roles in host defense against viral compounds could result in improved therapeutic outcomes in the treatment of viral infection and autoimmunity.

4. Synthesis, Concluding Remarks, and Open Questions

In this review, we discussed the effects of an excess or a deficiency of PRR signaling in autoimmune diseases and its relation with viral infection, focusing on the cells of the innate immune arm, such as monocytes, macrophages, DCs, and neutrophils, and the cells that bridge the innate with adaptive immune responses, such as NK cells. In autoimmune diseases, aberrant cytokine production, tissue damage, and hyperinflammation inflammation along with the genetic predisposition and environmental factors influence the function of PRRs and the expression of downstream molecules. The aberrant innate immune response influences the adaptive immune cells leading to a disrupted antiviral response and increasing the risk for autoimmunity or disease flares when an autoimmune disease is already present. Further research is needed to expand our knowledge regarding the influence of abnormal PRR signaling in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases.

Over the last years, the emerging role of antiviral responses in innate immune cells during autoimmune manifestations has posed new challenges and questions about the host defense mechanisms. To provide insight into the PRR cascade in innate immune cell inflammatory response in autoimmunity, it is crucial to determine whether PRR alterations drive or exaggerate autoreactive phenotype (e.g., inflammatory cytokine production, interplay with adaptive immune cells to promote NET formation, and autoantibody production) and if these signals imprint on the inflammatory cascade. Moreover, it is of interest to determine whether the currently used therapeutic agents or drug candidates for the treatment of autoimmune disorders may deregulate the antiviral response in innate immune cells. Regarding the targeting of TLRs for the treatment of autoimmunity, it is essential to preserve their physiological function in the context of viral immunity while ameliorating their effects on autoimmune responses. In this context, it is of great importance to delineate whether the antiviral and/or inflammatory response pathways that are activated differ during systemic autoimmunity as compared to organ-specific autoimmunity. Modulating specific PRR activity in innate immune cells in patients suffering from such PRR-dependent autoimmune diseases, such as SLE, RA, SSc, and Sjogren's syndrome, may be of therapeutic value. To accomplish that, it is essential to focus on the discovery of inhibitors or

other molecules that could efficiently modulate the immune response and with reduced off-target effects. Addressing such questions may revolutionize therapeutic approaches for autoimmune diseases.

Author Contributions: Writing—review: E.M.S.; Conceptualization and editing: E.M.S., T.M., D.T.B. and A.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was funded by the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program (agreement no. 742390).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Kawai, T.; Akira, S. The roles of TLRs, RLRs and NLRs in pathogen recognition. *Int. Immunol.* 2009, 21, 317–337. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kumar, H.; Kawai, T.; Akira, S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int. Rev. Immunol. 2011, 30, 16–34. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Chen, N.; Xia, P.; Li, S.; Zhang, T.; Wang, T.T.; Zhu, J. RNA sensors of the innate immune system and their detection of pathogens. *IUBMB Life* 2017, *69*, 297–304. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Kawasaki, T.; Kawai, T. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Front. Immunol. 2014, 5, 461. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. El-Zayat, S.R.; Sibaii, H.; Mannaa, F.A. Mannaa, Toll-like receptors activation, signaling, and targeting: An overview. *Bull. Natl. Res. Cent.* **2019**, *43*, 187. [CrossRef]
- 6. Li, D.; Wu, M. Pattern recognition receptors in health and diseases. Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. 2021, 6, 291. [CrossRef]
- Herrada, A.A.; Escobedo, N.; Iruretagoyena, M.; Valenzuela, R.A.; Burgos, P.I.; Cuitino, L.; Llanos, C. Innate Immune Cells' Contribution to Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Front. Immunol.* 2019, 10, 772. [CrossRef]
- 8. Pan, L.; Lu, M.-P.; Wang, J.-H.; Xu, M.; Yang, S.-R. Immunological pathogenesis and treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *World J. Pediatr.* 2020, *16*, 19–30. [CrossRef]
- 9. Edilova, M.I.; Akram, A.; Abdul-Sater, A.A. Innate immunity drives pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Biomed. J.* 2021, 44, 172–182. [CrossRef]
- Laurent, P.; Sisirak, V.; Lazaro, E.; Richez, C.; Duffau, P.; Blanco, P.; Truchetet, M.-E.; Contin-Bordes, C. Innate Immunity in Systemic Sclerosis Fibrosis: Recent Advances. Front. Immunol. 2018, 9, 1702. [CrossRef]
- 11. Marcuzzi, A.; Melloni, E.; Zauli, G.; Romani, A.; Secchiero, P.; Maximova, N.; Rimondi, E. Autoinflammatory Diseases and Cytokine Storms—Imbalances of Innate and Adaptative Immunity. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, 22, 11241. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Iwasaki, A.; Medzhitov, R. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 2004, 5, 987–995. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Heil, F.; Ahmad-Nejad, P.; Hemmi, H.; Hochrein, H.; Ampenberger, F.; Gellert, T.; Dietrich, H.; Lipford, G.; Takeda, K.; Akira, S.; et al. The Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **2003**, *33*, 2987–2997. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Wang, Y.; Song, E.; Bai, B.; Vanhoutte, P.M. Toll-like receptors mediating vascular malfunction: Lessons from receptor subtypes. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2016**, *158*, 91–100. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kawai, T.; Akira, S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: Update on toll-like receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 2010, 11, 373–384. [CrossRef]
- 16. Bsibsi, M.; Ravid, R.; Gveric, D.; van Noort, J.M. Broad Expression of Toll-Like Receptors in the Human Central Nervous System. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* **2002**, *61*, 1013–1021. [CrossRef]
- 17. Takeda, K.; Takeuchi, O.; Akira, S. Recognition of lipopeptides by Toll-like receptors. J. Endotoxin Res. 2002, 8, 459–463. [CrossRef]
- 18. Lester, S.N.; Li, K. Toll-like receptors in antiviral innate immunity. J. Mol. Biol. 2014, 426, 1246–1264. [CrossRef]
- Murawski, M.R.; Bowen, G.N.; Cerny, A.M.; Anderson, L.J.; Haynes, L.M.; Tripp, R.A.; Kurt-Jones, E.A.; Finberg, R.W. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Activates Innate Immunity through Toll-Like Receptor 2. J. Virol. 2009, 83, 1492–1500. [CrossRef]
- 20. Akira, S.; Uematsu, S.; Takeuchi, O. Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity. Cell 2006, 124, 783–801. [CrossRef]
- Jin, M.S.; Lee, J.-O. Structures of the Toll-like Receptor Family and Its Ligand Complexes. *Immunity* 2008, 29, 182–191. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Carty, M.; Guy, C.; Bowie, A.G. Detection of Viral Infections by Innate Immunity. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2021, 183, 114316. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Boehme, K.W.; Guerrero, M.; Compton, T. Human Cytomegalovirus Envelope Glycoproteins B and H Are Necessary for TLR2 Activation in Permissive Cells. *J. Immunol.* 2006, 177, 7094–7102. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 24. Barbalat, R.; Lau, L.; Locksley, R.M.; Barton, G.M. Toll-like receptor 2 on inflammatory monocytes induces type i interferon in response to viral but not bacterial ligands. *Nat. Immunol.* 2009, *10*, 1200–1207. [CrossRef]
- Liu, G.Q.; Gack, M.U. Distinct and Orchestrated Functions of RNA Sensors in Innate Immunity. *Immunity* 2020, 53, 26–42. [CrossRef]
- 26. Takeuchi, O.; Akira, S. Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. Cell 2010, 140, 805–820. [CrossRef]
- 27. Gosu, V.; Son, S.; Shin, D.; Song, K.D. Insights into the dynamic nature of the dsRNA-bound TLR3 complex. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 3652. [CrossRef]
- Edelmann, K.H.; Richardson-Burns, S.; Alexopoulou, L.; Tyler, K.L.; Flavell, R.A.; Oldstone, M.B.A. Does Toll-like receptor 3 play a biological role in virus infections? *Virology* 2004, 322, 231–238. [CrossRef]
- 29. Chen, Y.; Lin, J.; Zhao, Y.; Ma, X.; Yi, H. Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) regulation mechanisms and roles in antiviral innate immune responses. *J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B* 2021, 22, 609–632. [CrossRef]
- Zanoni, I.; Ostuni, R.; Marek, L.R.; Barresi, S.; Barbalat, R.; Barton, G.M.; Granucci, F.; Kagan, J.C. CD14 Controls the LPS-Induced Endocytosis of Toll-like Receptor 4. *Cell* 2011, 147, 868–880. [CrossRef]
- 31. Yu, L.; Wang, L.; Chen, S. Endogenous toll-like receptor ligands and their biological significance. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* **2010**, *14*, 2592–2603. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Olejnik, J.; Hume, A.J.; Mühlberger, E. Toll-like receptor 4 in acute viral infection: Too much of a good thing. *PLoS Pathog.* 2018, 14, e1007390. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Banerjee, N.; Mukhopadhyay, S. Viral glycoproteins: Biological role and application in diagnosis. *VirusDisease* **2016**, *27*, 1–11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kurt-Jones, E.A.; Popova, L.; Kwinn, L.; Haynes, L.M.; Jones, L.P.; Tripp, R.; Walsh, E.E.; Freeman, M.W.; Golenbock, D.T.; Anderson, L.J.; et al. Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat. Immunol.* 2000, 1, 398–401. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Burzyn, D.; Rassa, J.C.; Kim, D.; Nepomnaschy, I.; Ross, S.R.; Piazzon, I. Toll-Like Receptor 4-Dependent Activation of Dendritic Cells by a Retrovirus. J. Virol. 2004, 78, 576–584. [CrossRef]
- Ross, S.R.; Schofield, J.J.; Farr, C.J.; Bucan, M. Mouse transferrin receptor 1 is the cell entry receptor for mouse mammary tumor virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2002, 99, 12386–12390. [CrossRef]
- 37. Jafari-Nakhjavani, M.R.; Ghorbanihaghjo, A.; Bagherzadeh-Nobari, B.; Malek-Mahdavi, A.; Rashtchizadeh, N. Serum YKL-40 levels and disease characteristics in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Casp. J. Intern. Med.* **2019**, *10*, 92–97. [CrossRef]
- 38. Xue, J.; Yang, J.; Yang, L.; Zhou, S.; Ji, C.; Wang, X.; Yu, N.; Liu, X.; Chi, S. Dickkopf-1 Is a Biomarker for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Active Lupus Nephritis. *J. Immunol. Res.* **2017**, 2017, 6861575. [CrossRef]
- Mlcochova, P.; Winstone, H.; Zuliani-Alvarez, L.; Gupta, R.K. TLR4-Mediated Pathway Triggers Interferon-Independent G0 Arrest and Antiviral SAMHD1 Activity in Macrophages. *Cell Rep.* 2020, 30, 3972–3980.e5. [CrossRef]
- Takeda, K.; Kaisho, T.; Akira, S.; Ozinsky, A. Species-Specific Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA via Toll-like Receptor 7 and 8. 2003. Available online: www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/303/5663/1522/ (accessed on 31 October 2022).
- Vijay, K. Toll-like receptors in immunity and inflammatory diseases: Past, present, and future. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 2018, 59, 391–412. [CrossRef]
- Ishii, N.; Funami, K.; Tatematsu, M.; Seya, T.; Matsumoto, M. Endosomal Localization of TLR8 Confers Distinctive Proteolytic Processing on Human Myeloid Cells. J. Immunol. 2014, 193, 5118–5128. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Souyris, M.; Mejía, J.E.; Chaumeil, J.; Guéry, J.-C. Female predisposition to TLR7-driven autoimmunity: Gene dosage and the escape from X chromosome inactivation. *Semin. Immunopathol.* **2019**, *41*, 153–164. [CrossRef]
- 44. Jensen, S.; Thomsen, A.R. Sensing of RNA Viruses: A Review of Innate Immune Receptors Involved in Recognizing RNA Virus Invasion. J. Virol. 2012, 86, 2900–2910. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Akira, S.; Takeda, K. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2004, 4, 499–511. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pan, H.; Yan, B.-S.; Rojas, M.; Shebzukhov, Y.V.; Zhou, H.; Kobzik, L.; Higgins, D.E.; Daly, M.J.; Bloom, B.R.; Kramnik, I. Ipr1 gene mediates innate immunity to tuberculosis. *Nature* 2005, 434, 767–772. [CrossRef]
- 47. Yanai, H.; Chen, H.-M.; Inuzuka, T.; Kondo, S.; Mak, T.W.; Takaoka, A.; Honda, K.; Taniguchi, T. Role of IFN regulatory factor 5 transcription factor in antiviral immunity and tumor suppression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2007**, *104*, 3402–3407. [CrossRef]
- 48. de Marcken, M.; Dhaliwal, K.; Danielsen, A.C.; Gautron, A.S.; Dominguez-Villar, M. TLR7 and TLR8 activate distinct pathways in monocytes during RNA virus infection. *Sci. Signal* 2019, 12, eaaw1347. [CrossRef]
- 49. Tabeta, K.; Georgel, P.; Janssen, E.; Du, X.; Hoebe, K.; Crozat, K.; Mudd, S.; Shamel, L.; Sovath, S.; Goode, J.; et al. Toll-like receptors 9 and 3 as essential components of innate immune defense against mouse cytomegalovirus infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2004**, *101*, 3516–3521. [CrossRef]
- 50. Brinkmann, M.M.; Spooner, E.; Hoebe, K.; Beutler, B.; Ploegh, H.L.; Kim, Y.M. The interaction between the ER membrane protein UNC93B and TLR3, 7, and 9 is crucial for TLR signaling. *J. Cell Biol.* **2007**, *177*, 265–275. [CrossRef]
- Latz, E.; Verma, A.; Visintin, A.; Gong, M.; Sirois, C.M.; Klein, D.C.G.; Monks, B.G.; McKnight, C.; Lamphier, M.S.; Duprex, W.P.; et al. Ligand-induced conformational changes allosterically activate Toll-like receptor 9. *Nat. Immunol.* 2007, *8*, 772–779. [CrossRef]
- 52. Huang, X.; Yang, Y. Targeting the TLR9MyD88 pathway in the regulation of adaptive immune responses. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* **2010**, *14*, 787–796. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 53. Bao, M.; Liu, Y.J. Regulation of TLR7/9 signaling in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Protein Cell 2013, 4, 40–52. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Kondo, T.; Kawai, T.; Akira, S. Dissecting negative regulation of Toll-like receptor signaling. *Trends Immunol.* **2012**, *33*, 449–458. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Anwar, M.A.; Basith, S.; Choi, S. Negative regulatory approaches to the attenuation of Toll-like receptor signaling. *Exp. Mol. Med.* **2013**, 45, e11. [CrossRef]
- Broering, R.; Montag, M.; Jiang, M.; Lu, M.; Sowa, J.-P.; Kleinehr, K.; Gerken, G.; Schlaak, J.F. Corticosteroids shift the Toll-like receptor response pattern of primary-isolated murine liver cells from an inflammatory to an anti-inflammatory state. *Int. Immunol.* 2011, 23, 537–544. [CrossRef]
- 57. Curtale, G.; Mirolo, M.; Renzi, T.A.; Rossato, M.; Bazzoni, F.; Locati, M. Negative regulation of Toll-like receptor 4 signaling by IL-10–dependent microRNA-146b. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, *110*, 11499–11504. [CrossRef]
- 58. Schneider, M.; Zimmermann, A.G.; Roberts, R.A.; Zhang, L.; Swanson, K.V.; Wen, H.; Davis, B.K.; Allen, I.C.; Holl, E.K.; Ye, Z.; et al. The innate immune sensor NLRC3 attenuates Toll-like receptor signaling via modification of the signaling adaptor TRAF6 and transcription factor NF-κB. *Nat. Immunol.* **2012**, *13*, 823–831. [CrossRef]
- 59. Loo, Y.M.; Gale, M. Immune Signaling by RIG-I-like Receptors. *Immunity* **2011**, *34*, 680–692. [CrossRef]
- 60. Schlee, M. Master sensors of pathogenic RNA—RIG-I like receptors. Immunobiology 2013, 218, 1322–1335. [CrossRef]
- Devarkar, S.C.; Wang, C.; Miller, M.T.; Ramanathan, A.; Jiang, F.; Khan, A.G.; Patel, S.S.; Marcotrigiano, J. Structural basis for m7G recognition and 2'-O-methyl discrimination in capped RNAs by the innate immune receptor RIG-I. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2016, 113, 596–601. [CrossRef]
- 62. Wu, B.; Peisley, A.; Richards, C.; Yao, H.; Zeng, X.; Lin, C.; Chu, F.; Walz, T.; Hur, S. Structural Basis for dsRNA Recognition, Filament Formation, and Antiviral Signal Activation by MDA5. *Cell* **2012**, *152*, 276–289. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Ren, Z.; Ding, T.; Zuo, Z.; Xu, Z.; Deng, J.; Wei, Z. Regulation of MAVS Expression and Signaling Function in the Antiviral Innate Immune Response. *Front. Immunol.* **2020**, *11*, 1030. [CrossRef]
- 64. Ni, G.; Ma, Z.; Damania, B. cGAS and STING: At the intersection of DNA and RNA virus-sensing networks. *PLOS Pathog.* **2018**, 14, e1007148. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, Z.; Cai, S.; Sun, Y.; Li, L.; Ding, S.; Wang, X. When STING Meets Viruses: Sensing, Trafficking and Response. *Front. Immunol.* 2020, 11, 2064. [CrossRef]
- 66. Smith, J.A. STING, the Endoplasmic Reticulum, and Mitochondria: Is Three a Crowd or a Conversation? *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *11*, 611347. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Rosen, A.; Casciola-Rosen, L. Autoantigens as Partners in Initiation and Propagation of Autoimmune Rheumatic Diseases. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2016**, *34*, 395–420. [CrossRef]
- 68. Smatti, M.K.; Cyprian, F.S.; Nasrallah, G.K.; al Thani, A.A.; Almishal, R.O.; Yassine, H.M. Viruses and Autoimmunity: A Review on the Potential Interaction and Molecular Mechanisms. *Viruses* **2019**, *11*, 762. [CrossRef]
- Lerner, A.; Arleevskaya, M.; Schmiedl, A.; Matthias, T. Microbes and Viruses Are Bugging the Gut in Celiac Disease. Are They Friends or Foes? *Front. Microbiol.* 2017, *8*, 1392. [CrossRef]
- 70. Arleevskaya, M.I.; Manukyan, G.; Inoue, R.; Aminov, R. Editorial: Microbial and Environmental Factors in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2017**, *8*, 243. [CrossRef]
- 71. Ercolini, A.M.; Miller, S.D. The role of infections in autoimmune disease. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 2008, 155, 1–15. [CrossRef]
- 72. Hussein, H.M.; Rahal, E.A. The role of viral infections in the development of autoimmune diseases. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* **2019**, 45, 394–412. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 73. Draborg, A.H.; Duus, K.; Houen, G. Epstein-Barr Virus and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2012, 2012, 370516. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bjornevik, K.; Cortese, M.; Healy, B.C.; Kuhle, J.; Mina, M.J.; Leng, Y.; Elledge, S.J.; Niebuhr, D.W.; Scher, A.I.; Munger, K.L.; et al. Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis. *Science* 2022, 375, 296–301. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Moon, U.Y.; Park, S.J.; Oh, S.T.; Kim, W.-U.; Park, S.-H.; Lee, S.-H.; Cho, C.-S.; Kim, H.-Y.; Lee, W.-K.; Lee, S.K. Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus have abnormally elevated Epstein–Barr virus load in blood. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 2004, *6*, R295–R302. [CrossRef]
- Yu, S.-F.; Wu, H.-C.; Tsai, W.-C.; Yen, J.-H.; Chiang, W.; Yuo, C.-Y.; Lu, S.-N.; Chiang, L.-C.; Chen, C.-J. Detecting Epstein-Barr virus DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells in adult patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwan. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 2004, 194, 115–120. [CrossRef]
- 77. Draborg, A.H.; Jorgensen, J.M.; Müller, H.; Nielsen, C.T.; Jacobsen, S.; Iversen, L.V.; Theander, E.; Nielsen, L.P.; Houen, G.; Duus, K. Epstein–Barr virus early antigen diffuse (EBV-EA/D)-directed immunoglobulin A antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.* 2012, 41, 280–289. [CrossRef]
- 78. Poole, B.D.; Scofield, R.H.; Harley, J.B.; James, J.A. Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity* **2006**, *39*, 63–70. [CrossRef]
- Savard, M.; Bélanger, C.; Tardif, M.; Gourde, P.; Flamand, L.; Gosselin, J. Infection of Primary Human Monocytes by Epstein-Barr Virus. J. Virol. 2000, 74, 2612–2619. [CrossRef]
- Poole, B.D.; Templeton, A.K.; Guthridge, J.M.; Brown, E.J.; Harley, J.B.; James, J.A. Aberrant Epstein-Barr viral infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 2009, *8*, 337–342. [CrossRef]

- Larsen, M.; Sauce, D.; Deback, C.; Arnaud, L.; Mathian, A.; Miyara, M.; Boutolleau, D.; Parizot, C.; Dorgham, K.; Papagno, L.; et al. Exhausted Cytotoxic Control of Epstein-Barr Virus in Human Lupus. *PLOS Pathog.* 2011, 7, e1002328. [CrossRef]
- Draborg, A.H.; Sandhu, N.; Larsen, N.; Larsen, J.L.; Jacobsen, S.; Houen, G. Impaired Cytokine Responses to Epstein-Barr Virus Antigens in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients. J. Immunol. Res. 2016, 2016, 6473204. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 83. Gokuladhas, S.; Schierding, W.; Golovina, E.; Fadason, T.; O'Sullivan, J. Unravelling the Shared Genetic Mechanisms Underlying 18 Autoimmune Diseases Using a Systems Approach. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 693142. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 84. Byrne, J.C.; Gabhann, J.N.; Lazzari, E.; Mahony, R.; Smith, S.; Stacey, K.; Wynne, C.; Jefferies, C.A. Genetics of SLE: Functional Relevance for Monocytes/Macrophages in Disease. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* **2012**, 2012, 582352. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 85. Son, M.; Kim, S.J.; Diamond, B. SLE-associated risk factors affect DC function. Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 2015, 21, 4. [CrossRef]
- 86. Devarapu, S.K.; Anders, H.J. Toll-like receptors in lupus nephritis. J. Biomed. Sci. 2018, 25, 35. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 87. Kochi, Y. Genetics of autoimmune diseases: Perspectives from genome-wide association studies. *Int. Immunol.* **2016**, *28*, 155–161. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 88. Tang, F.; Du, Q.; Liu, Y.-J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in antiviral immunity and autoimmunity. *Sci. China Life Sci.* 2010, 53, 172–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marongiu, L.; Valache, M.; Facchini, F.A.; Granucci, F. How dendritic cells sense and respond to viral infections. *Clin. Sci.* 2021, 135, 2217–2242. [CrossRef]
- 90. Martin-Gayo, E.; Yu, X.G. Role of dendritic cells in natural immune control of HIV-1 infection. *Front. Immunol.* **2019**, *10*, 1306. [CrossRef]
- 91. Barrat, F.J.; Su, L. A pathogenic role of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in autoimmunity and chronic viral infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 2019, 216, 1974–1985. [CrossRef]
- 92. Swiecki, M.; Colonna, M. Unraveling the functions of plasmacytoid dendritic cells during viral infections, autoimmunity, and tolerance. *Immunol. Rev.* 2010, 234, 142–162. [CrossRef]
- Gilliet, M.; Cao, W.; Liu, Y.-J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: Sensing nucleic acids in viral infection and autoimmune diseases. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2008, *8*, 594–606. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 94. Ye, Y.; Gaugler, B.; Mohty, M.; Malard, F. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell biology and its role in immune-mediated diseases. *Clin. Transl. Immunol.* **2020**, *9*, e1139. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 95. Hillen, M.; Pandit, A.; Blokland, S.L.M.; Hartgring, S.A.Y.; Bekker, C.P.J.; Van Der Heijden, E.H.M.; Servaas, N.H.; Rossato, M.; Kruize, A.A.; Van Roon, J.A.G.; et al. Plasmacytoid DCs From Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome Are Transcriptionally Primed for Enhanced Pro-inflammatory Cytokine Production. *Front. Immunol.* **2019**, *10*, 2096. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 96. Mavragani, C.P.; Sagalovskiy, I.; Guo, Q.; Nezos, A.; Kapsogeorgou, E.K.; Lu, P.; Zhou, J.L.; Kirou, K.A.; Seshan, S.V.; Moutsopoulos, H.M.; et al. Expression of Long Interspersed Nuclear Element 1 Retroelements and Induction of Type I Interferon in Patients With Systemic Autoimmune Disease. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **2016**, *68*, 2686–2696. [CrossRef]
- 97. Wang, Y.; Roussel-Queval, A.; Chasson, L.; Kazazian, N.H.; Marcadet, L.; Nezos, A.; Sieweke, M.H.; Mavragani, C.; Alexopoulou, L. TLR7 Signaling Drives the Development of Sjögren's Syndrome. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 1747. [CrossRef]
- Rönnblom, L.; Pascual, V. The innate immune system in SLE: Type I interferons and dendritic cells. *Lupus* 2008, 17, 394–399.
 [CrossRef]
- 99. Han, G.-M.; Chen, S.-L.; Shen, N.; Ye, S.; Bao, C.-D.; Gu, Y.-Y. Analysis of gene expression profiles in human systemic lupus erythematosus using oligonucleotide microarray. *Genes Immun.* **2003**, *4*, 177–186. [CrossRef]
- Crow, M.K.; Kirou, K.A.; Wohlgemuth, J. Microarray Analysis of Interferon-regulated Genes in SLE. *Autoimmunity* 2003, 36, 481–490. [CrossRef]
- 101. Baechler, E.C.; Batliwalla, F.M.; Karypis, G.; Gaffney, P.M.; Ortmann, W.A.; Espe, K.J.; Shark, K.B.; Grande, W.J.; Hughes, K.M.; Kapur, V.; et al. Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2003, 100, 2610–2615. [CrossRef]
- Bennett, L.; Palucka, A.K.; Arce, E.; Cantrell, V.; Borvak, J.; Banchereau, J.; Pascual, V. Interferon and Granulopoiesis Signatures in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Blood. J. Exp. Med. 2003, 197, 711–723. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 103. Cooles, F.A.H.; Isaacs, J.D. The interferon gene signature as a clinically relevant biomarker in autoimmune rheumatic disease. *Lancet Rheumatol.* **2022**, *4*, e61–e72. [CrossRef]
- 104. Feng, X.; Wu, H.; Grossman, J.M.; Hanvivadhanakul, P.; FitzGerald, J.D.; Park, G.S.; Dong, X.; Chen, W.; Kim, M.H.; Weng, H.H.; et al. Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2006, 54, 2951–2962. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 105. Kirou, K.A.; Lee, C.; George, S.; Louca, K.; Peterson, M.G.E.; Crow, M.K. Activation of the interferon-α pathway identifies a subgroup of systemic lupus erythematosus patients with distinct serologic features and active disease. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2005, 52, 1491–1503. [CrossRef]
- 106. Bengtsson, A.; Sturfelt, G.; Truedsson, L.; Blomberg, J.; Alm, G.; Vallin, H.; Rönnblom, L. Activation of type I interferon system in systemic lupus erythematosus correlates with disease activity but not with antiretroviral antibodies. *Lupus* 2000, *9*, 664–671. [CrossRef]
- 107. Rönnblom, L.; Eloranta, M.-L.; Alm, G.v. The type I interferon system in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2006, 54, 408–420. [CrossRef]

- 108. Sjöstrand, M.; Johansson, A.; Aqrawi, L.; Olsson, T.; Wahren-Herlenius, M.; Espinosa, A. The Expression of BAFF Is Controlled by IRF Transcription Factors. *J. Immunol.* **2016**, *196*, 91–96. [CrossRef]
- Kiefer, K.; Oropallo, M.A.; Cancro, M.P.; Marshak-Rothstein, A. Role of type I interferons in the activation of autoreactive B cells. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 2012, 90, 498–504. [CrossRef]
- Fanouriakis, A.; Tziolos, N.; Bertsias, G.; Boumpas, D.T. Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 2021, 80, 14–25. [CrossRef]
- 111. Zucchi, D.; Elefante, E.; Schilirò, D.; Signorini, V.; Trentin, F.; Bortoluzzi, A.; Tani, C. One year in review 2022: Systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* **2022**, *40*, 4–14. [CrossRef]
- 112. Horton, C.G.; Farris, A.D. Toll-like Receptors in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Potential Targets for Therapeutic Intervention. *Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep.* 2012, 12, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 113. Celhar, T.; Fairhurst, A.-M. Toll-like receptors in systemic lupus erythematosus: Potential for personalized treatment. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2014**, *5*, 265. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 114. Murayama, G.; Furusawa, N.; Chiba, A.; Yamaji, K.; Tamura, N.; Miyake, S. Enhanced IFN-α production is associated with increased TLR7 retention in the lysosomes of palasmacytoid dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 2017, 19, 234. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 115. Yu, C.-F.; Peng, W.-M.; Oldenburg, J.; Hoch, J.; Bieber, T.; Limmer, A.; Hartmann, G.; Barchet, W.; Eis-Hübinger, A.M.; Novak, N. Human Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Support Th17 Cell Effector Function in Response to TLR7 Ligation. *J. Immunol.* 2009, 184, 1159–1167. [CrossRef]
- López, P.; Rodríguez-Carrio, J.; Caminal-Montero, L.; Mozo, L.; Suárez, A. A pathogenic IFNα, BLyS and IL-17 axis in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, 20651. [CrossRef]
- 117. Papp, K.; Végh, P.; Hóbor, R.; Szittner, Z.; Vokó, Z.; Podani, J.; Czirjak, L.; Prechl, J. Immune Complex Signatures of Patients with Active and Inactive SLE Revealed by Multiplex Protein Binding Analysis on Antigen Microarrays. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, e44824. [CrossRef]
- Leonard, D.; Eloranta, M.-L.; Hagberg, N.; Berggren, O.; Tandre, K.; Alm, G.; Rönnblom, L. Activated T cells enhance interferon-α production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells stimulated with RNA-containing immune complexes. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 2015, 75, 1728–1734. [CrossRef]
- 119. Kaewraemruaen, C.; Ritprajak, P.; Hirankarn, N. Dendritic cells as key players in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Asian Pac. J. Allergy Immunol.* **2020**, *38*, 225–232. [CrossRef]
- 120. Quan, T.E.; Roman, R.M.; Rudenga, B.J.; Holers, V.M.; Craft, J.E. Epstein-Barr virus promotes interferon-α production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* **2010**, *62*, 1693–1701. [CrossRef]
- 121. Valente, R.M.; Ehlers, E.; Xu, D.; Ahmad, H.; Steadman, A.; Blasnitz, L.; Zhou, Y.; Kastanek, L.; Meng, B.; Zhang, L. Toll-Like Receptor 7 Stimulates the Expression of Epstein-Barr Virus Latent Membrane Protein 1. *PLoS ONE* **2012**, *7*, e43317. [CrossRef]
- 122. Dominique, M.; Tripodo, C.; Fernandez, D.; Kirou, K.A.; Spiera, R.F.; Crow, M.K.; Gordonand, J.K.; Barrat, F.J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote systemic sclerosis with a key role for TLR8. 2018. Available online: http://stm.sciencemag.org/ (accessed on 31 October 2022).
- Merah-Mourah, F.; Cohen, S.O.; Charron, D.; Mooney, N.; Haziot, A. Identification of Novel Human Monocyte Subsets and Evidence for Phenotypic Groups Defined by Interindividual Variations of Expression of Adhesion Molecules. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, 10, 4397. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 124. Kapellos, T.S.; Bonaguro, L.; Gemünd, I.; Reusch, N.; Saglam, A.; Hinkley, E.R.; Schultze, J.L. Human Monocyte Subsets and Phenotypes in Major Chronic Inflammatory Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2019**, *10*, 2035. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ginhoux, F.; Guilliams, M. Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. *Immunity* 2016, 44, 439–449. [CrossRef]
 [PubMed]
- Jakubzick, C.v.; Randolph, G.J.; Henson, P.M. Monocyte differentiation and antigen-presenting functions. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2017, 17, 349–362. [CrossRef]
- 127. Hirose, S.; Lin, Q.; Ohtsuji, M.; Nishimura, H.; Verbeek, J.S. Monocyte subsets involved in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. Immunol.* **2019**, *31*, 687–696. [CrossRef]
- 128. Kyogoku, C.; Smiljanovic, B.; Grün, J.R.; Biesen, R.; Schulte-Wrede, U.; Häupl, T.; Hiepe, F.; Alexander, T.; Radbruch, A.; Grützkau, A. Cell-Specific Type I IFN Signatures in Autoimmunity and Viral Infection: What Makes the Difference? *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e83776. [CrossRef]
- Blanco, P.; Palucka, A.K.; Gill, M.; Pascual, V.; Banchereau, J. Induction of Dendritic Cell Differentiation by IFN-α in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Science* 2001, 294, 1540–1543. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gkirtzimanaki, K.; Kabrani, E.; Nikoleri, D.; Polyzos, A.; Blanas, A.; Sidiropoulos, P.; Makrigiannakis, A.; Bertsias, G.; Boumpas, D.T.; Verginis, P. IFNα Impairs Autophagic Degradation of mtDNA Promoting Autoreactivity of SLE Monocytes in a STING-Dependent Fashion. *Cell Rep.* 2018, 25, 921–933.e5. [CrossRef]
- 131. Tai, Y.; Wang, Q.; Korner, H.; Zhang, L.; Wei, W. Molecular Mechanisms of T Cells Activation by Dendritic Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2018**, *9*, 642. [CrossRef]
- 132. Subramanian, S.; Tus, K.; Li, Q.-Z.; Wang, A.; Tian, X.-H.; Zhou, J.; Liang, C.; Bartov, G.; McDaniel, L.D.; Zhou, X.J.; et al. A *Tlr7* translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2006**, *103*, 9970–9975. [CrossRef]

- Brown, G.J.; Cañete, P.F.; Wang, H.; Medhavy, A.; Bones, J.; Roco, J.A.; He, Y.; Qin, Y.; Cappello, J.; Ellyard, J.I.; et al. TLR7 gain-of-function genetic variation causes human lupus. *Nature* 2022, 605, 349–356. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 134. Murakami, Y.; Fukui, R.; Tanaka, R.; Motoi, Y.; Kanno, A.; Sato, R.; Yamaguchi, K.; Amano, H.; Furukawa, Y.; Suzuki, H.; et al. Anti-TLR7 Antibody Protects Against Lupus Nephritis in NZBWF1 Mice by Targeting B Cells and Patrolling Monocytes. *Front. Immunol.* 2021, 12, 4751. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 135. Stetson, D.B.; Ko, J.S.; Heidmann, T.; Medzhitov, R. Trex1 Prevents Cell-Intrinsic Initiation of Autoimmunity. *Cell* 2008, 134, 587–598. [CrossRef]
- O'Driscoll, M. TREX1 DNA exonuclease deficiency, accumulation of single stranded DNA and complex human genetic disorders. DNA Repair. 2008, 7, 997–1003. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Manolakou, T.; Verginis, P.; Boumpas, D.T. DNA Damage Response in the Adaptive Arm of the Immune System: Implications for Autoimmunity. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22, 5842. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 138. Crow, Y.J.; Manel, N. Aicardi-Goutières syndrome and the type I interferonopathies. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2015**, *15*, 429–440. [CrossRef]
- Martinez-Lopez, A.; Martin-Fernandez, M.; Buta, S.; Kim, B.; Bogunovic, D.; Diaz-Griffero, F. SAMHD1 deficient human monocytes autonomously trigger type I interferon. *Mol. Immunol.* 2018, 101, 450–460. [CrossRef]
- 140. Rana, A.K.; Li, Y.; Dang, Q.; Yang, F. Monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis: Circulating precursors of macrophages and osteoclasts and, their heterogeneity and plasticity role in RA pathogenesis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2018**, *65*, 348–359. [CrossRef]
- Klareskog, L.; Rönnelid, J.; Saevarsdottir, S.; Padyukov, L.; Alfredsson, L. The importance of differences; On environment and its interactions with genes and immunity in the causation of rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Intern. Med.* 2020, 287, 514–533. [CrossRef]
- 142. Mrozek-Gorska, P.; Buschle, A.; Pich, D.; Schwarzmayr, T.; Fechtner, R.; Scialdone, A.; Hammerschmidt, W. Epstein–Barr virus reprograms human B lymphocytes immediately in the prelatent phase of infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2019**, *116*, 16046–16055. [CrossRef]
- 143. Hatton, O.L.; Harris-Arnold, A.; Schaffert, S.; Krams, S.M.; Martinez, O.M. The interplay between Epstein–Barr virus and B lymphocytes: Implications for infection, immunity, and disease. *Immunol. Res.* **2014**, *58*, 268–276. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 144. Lacerte, P.; Brunet, A.; Egarnes, B.; Duchêne, B.; Brown, J.P.; Gosselin, J. Overexpression of TLR2 and TLR9 on monocyte subsets of active rheumatoid arthritis patients contributes to enhance responsiveness to TLR agonists. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 2016, 18, 10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Brown, J.P.; Gosselin, J. Does Epstein-Barr Virus Infection Contribute to Disease Flares in Rheumatoid Arthritis? J. Arthritis 2016, 5. [CrossRef]
- 146. Iwahashi, M.; Yamamura, M.; Aita, T.; Okamoto, A.; Ueno, A.; Ogawa, N.; Akashi, S.; Miyake, K.; Godowski, P.J.; Makino, H. Expression of toll-like receptor 2 on CD16+ blood monocytes and synovial tissue macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2004, *50*, 1457–1467. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 147. Nagata, S.; Hanayama, R.; Kawane, K. Autoimmunity and the Clearance of Dead Cells. Cell 2010, 140, 619–630. [CrossRef]
- 148. Macedo, A.C.L.; Isaac, L. Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Deficiencies of Early Components of the Complement Classical Pathway. *Front. Immunol.* **2016**, *7*, 55. [CrossRef]
- 149. Cuda, C.M.; Pope, R.M.; Perlman, H. The inflammatory role of phagocyte apoptotic pathways in rheumatic diseases. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* **2016**, *12*, 543–558. [CrossRef]
- 150. Farina, A.; Peruzzi, G.; Lacconi, V.; Lenna, S.; Quarta, S.; Rosato, E.; Vestri, A.R.; York, M.; Dreyfus, D.H.; Faggioni, A.; et al. Epstein-Barr virus lytic infection promotes activation of Toll-like receptor 8 innate immune response in systemic sclerosis monocytes. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 2017, 19, 39. [CrossRef]
- 151. Lopes, A.P.; Bekker, C.P.J.; Hillen, M.R.; Blokland, S.L.M.; Hinrichs, A.C.; Pandit, A.; Kruize, A.A.; Radstake, T.R.D.J.; van Roon, J.A.G. The Transcriptomic Profile of Monocytes from Patients With Sjögren's Syndrome Is Associated With Inflammatory Parameters and Is Mimicked by Circulating Mediators. *Front. Immunol.* 2021, 12, 701656. [CrossRef]
- 152. Hauk, V.; Fraccaroli, L.; Grasso, E.; Eimon, A.; Ramhorst, R.; Hubscher, O.; Leirós, C.P. Monocytes from Sjögren's syndrome patients display increased vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor 2 expression and impaired apoptotic cell phagocytosis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **2014**, *177*, 662–670. [CrossRef]
- 153. Elhag, S.; Stremmel, C.; Zehrer, A.; Plocke, J.; Hennel, R.; Keuper, M.; Knabe, C.; Winterhalter, J.; Gölling, V.; Tomas, L.; et al. Differences in Cell-Intrinsic Inflammatory Programs of Yolk Sac and Bone Marrow Macrophages. *Cells* **2021**, *10*, 3564. [CrossRef]
- 154. Perdiguero, E.G.; Geissmann, F. The development and maintenance of resident macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* **2016**, *17*, 2–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 155. Gomez Perdiguero, E.; Klapproth, K.; Schulz, C.; Busch, K.; Azzoni, E.; Crozet, L.; Garner, H.; Trouillet, C.; de Bruijn, M.F.; Geissmann, F.; et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. *Nature* 2015, *518*, 547–551. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 156. Mills, C. M1 and M2 Macrophages: Oracles of Health and Disease. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 2012, 32, 463–488. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 157. Yunna, C.; Mengru, H.; Lei, W.; Weidong, C. Macrophage M1/M2 polarization. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 2020, 877, 173090. [CrossRef]
- 158. Zhang, C.; Yang, M.; Ericsson, A.C. Function of Macrophages in Disease: Current Understanding on Molecular Mechanisms. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 620510. [CrossRef]
- 159. Ma, W.T.; Gao, F.; Gu, K.; Chen, D.K. The role of monocytes and macrophages in autoimmune diseases: A comprehensive review. *Front. Immunol.* **2019**, *10*, 1140. [CrossRef]

- 160. Gerasimova, E.V.; Popkova, T.V.; Gerasimova, D.A.; Kirichenko, T.V. Macrophage Dysfunction in Autoimmune Rheumatic Diseases and Atherosclerosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2022**, *23*, 4513. [CrossRef]
- Funes, S.C.; Rios, M.; Escobar-Vera, J.; Kalergis, A.M. Implications of macrophage polarization in autoimmunity. *Immunology* 2018, 154, 186–195. [CrossRef]
- Gordon, S.; Plüddemann, A. Role of Macrophages in Autoimmunity. In *The Autoimmune Diseases*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2014; pp. 161–174. [CrossRef]
- 163. Zheng, X.; Xiao, J.; Jiang, Q.; Zheng, L.; Liu, C.; Dong, C.; Zheng, Y.; Ni, P.; Zhang, C.; Zhang, F.; et al. AKT2 reduces IFNβ1 production to modulate antiviral responses and systemic lupus erythematosus. *EMBO J.* **2022**, *41*, e108016. [CrossRef]
- 164. Su, R.; Li, Z.; Wang, Y.; Liu, Y.; Zheng, X.; Gao, C.; Li, X.; Wang, C. Imbalance between Th17 and regulatory T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus combined EBV/CMV viraemia. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* **2020**, *38*, 864–873. [PubMed]
- 165. Draborg, A.H.; Jacobsen, S.; Westergaard, M.; Mortensen, S.; Larsen, J.L.; Houen, G.; Duus, K. Reduced response to Epstein–Barr virus antigens by T-cells in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Lupus Sci. Med.* **2014**, *1*, e000015. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 166. Chen, C.-J.; Lin, K.-H.; Lin, S.-C.; Tsai, W.-C.; Yen, J.-H.; Chang, S.-J.; Lu, S.-N.; Liu, H.-W. High prevalence of immunoglobulin A antibody against Epstein-Barr virus capsid antigen in adult patients with lupus with disease flare: Case control studies. *J. Rheumatol.* 2005, 32, 44–47.
- Joo, Y.b.; Lim, Y.-H.; Kim, K.-J.; Park, K.-S.; Park, Y.-J. Association of influenza infection with hospitalisation-related systemic lupus erythematosus flares: A time series analysis. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 2021, 39, 1056–1062. [CrossRef]
- 168. Quero, L.; Hanser, E.; Manigold, T.; Tiaden, A.N.; Kyburz, D. TLR2 stimulation impairs anti-inflammatory activity of M2-like macrophages, generating a chimeric M1/M2 phenotype. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **2017**, *19*, 245. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S.; Joosten, L.A.B.; Helsen, M.M.; Walgreen, B. Shift from toll-like receptor 2 (TLR-2) toward TLR-4 dependency in the erosive stage of chronic streptococcal cell wall arthritis coincident with TLR-4-mediated interleukin-17 production. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2008, 58, 3753–3764. [CrossRef]
- 170. Abdollahi-Roodsaz, S.; Joosten, L.A.B.; Roelofs, M.F.; Radstake, T.R.D.J.; Matera, G.; Popa, C.; Van Der Meer, J.W.M.; Netea, M.G.; Berg, W.B.V.D. Inhibition of toll-like receptor 4 breaks the inflammatory loop in autoimmune destructive arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2007, 56, 2957–2967. [CrossRef]
- 171. Kim, S.-J.; Chen, Z.; Essani, A.B.; Elshabrawy, H.A.; Volin, M.V.; Volkov, S.; Swedler, W.; Arami, S.; Sweiss, N.; Shahrara, S. Identification of a novel TLR7 endogenous ligand in RA synovial fluid that can provoke arthritic joint inflammation. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **2015**, *68*, 1099–1110. [CrossRef]
- 172. Duffau, P.; Menn-Josephy, H.; Cuda, C.M.; Dominguez, S.; Aprahamian, T.R.; Watkins, A.A.; Yasuda, K.; Monach, P.; Lafyatis, R.; Rice, L.M.; et al. Promotion of Inflammatory Arthritis by Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 in a Mouse Model. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2015, 67, 3146–3157. [CrossRef]
- 173. Witas, R.; Shen, Y.; Nguyen, C.Q. Bone marrow-derived macrophages from a murine model of Sjögren's syndrome demonstrate an aberrant, inflammatory response to apoptotic cells. *Sci. Rep.* **2022**, *12*, 8593. [CrossRef]
- 174. Maria, N.I.; Steenwijk, E.C.; Ijpma, A.S.; van Helden-Meeuwsen, C.G.; Vogelsang, P.; Beumer, W.; Brkic, Z.; van Daele, P.L.A.; van Hagen, P.M.; van der Spek, P.J.; et al. Contrasting expression pattern of RNA-sensing receptors TLR7, RIG-I and MDA5 in interferon-positive and interferon-negative patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 2016, 76, 721–730. [CrossRef]
- 175. Rosales, C. Neutrophil: A cell with many roles in inflammation or several cell types? Front. Physiol. 2018, 9, 113. [CrossRef]
- 176. Stegelmeier, A.; Darzianiazizi, M.; Hanada, K.; Sharif, S.; Wootton, S.; Bridle, B.; Karimi, K. Type I Interferon-Mediated Regulation of Antiviral Capabilities of Neutrophils. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, *22*, 4726. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 177. Dömer, D.; Walther, T.; Möller, S.; Behnen, M.; Laskay, T. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Activate Proinflammatory Functions of Human Neutrophils. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 636954. [CrossRef]
- 178. Lande, R.; Ganguly, D.; Facchinetti, V.; Frasca, L.; Conrad, C.; Gregorio, J.; Meller, S.; Chamilos, G.; Sebasigari, R.; Riccieri, V.; et al. Neutrophils Activate Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells by Releasing Self-DNA–Peptide Complexes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2011, *3*, 73ra19. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Leffler, J.; Martin, M.; Gullstrand, B.; Tydén, H.; Lood, C.; Truedsson, L.; Bengtsson, A.A.; Blom, A.M. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps That Are Not Degraded in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Activate Complement Exacerbating the Disease. *J. Immunol.* 2012, 188, 3522–3531. [CrossRef]
- Herster, F.; Bittner, Z.; Archer, N.; Dickhöfer, S.; Eisel, D.; Eigenbrod, T.; Knorpp, T.; Schneiderhan-Marra, N.; Löffler, M.W.; Kalbacher, H.; et al. Neutrophil extracellular trap-associated RNA and LL37 enable self-amplifying inflammation in psoriasis. *Nat. Commun.* 2020, *11*, 105. [CrossRef]
- 181. Agarwal, S.; Loder, S.J.; Cholok, D.; Li, J.; Bian, G.; Yalavarthi, S.; Li, S.; Carson, W.F.; Hwang, C.; Marini, S.; et al. Disruption of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) Links Mechanical Strain to Post-traumatic Inflammation. *Front. Immunol.* 2019, 10, 2148. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Herrero-Cervera, A.; Soehnlein, O.; Kenne, E. Neutrophils in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 2022, 19, 177–191. [CrossRef]
- 183. Alarcon, M.F.; McLaren, Z.; Wright, H.L. Neutrophils in the Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Same Foe Different M.O. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 649693. [CrossRef]

- 184. Ma, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Zhu, L. Role of neutrophils in acute viral infection. *Immun. Inflamm. Dis.* **2021**, *9*, 1186–1196. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 185. Galani, I.E.; Andreakos, E. Neutrophils in viral infections: Current concepts and caveats. J. Leukoc. Biol. 2015, 98, 557–564. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 186. Garcia-Romo, G.S.; Caielli, S.; Vega, B.; Connolly, J.; Allantaz, F.; Xu, Z.; Punaro, M.; Baisch, J.; Guiducci, C.; Coffman, R.L.; et al. Netting Neutrophils Are Major Inducers of Type I IFN Production in Pediatric Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2011, 3, 73ra20. [CrossRef]
- Frangou, E.; Vassilopoulos, D.; Boletis, J.; Boumpas, D.T. An emerging role of neutrophils and NETosis in chronic inflammation and fibrosis in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and ANCA-associated vasculitides (AAV): Implications for the pathogenesis and treatment. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 2019, 18, 751–760. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 188. Lood, C.; Arve, S.; Ledbetter, J.; Elkon, K.B. TLR7/8 activation in neutrophils impairs immune complex phagocytosis through shedding of FcgRIIA. *J. Exp. Med.* 2017, 214, 2103–2119. [CrossRef]
- 189. Bonegio, R.G.; Lin, J.D.; Beaudette-Zlatanova, B.; York, M.R.; Menn-Josephy, H.; Yasuda, K. Lupus-Associated Immune Complexes Activate Human Neutrophils in an FcγRIIA-Dependent but TLR-Independent Response. J. Immunol. 2019, 202, 675–683. [CrossRef]
- 190. Spits, H.; Artis, D.; Colonna, M.; Diefenbach, A.; Di Santo, J.P.; Eberl, G.; Koyasu, S.; Locksley, R.M.; McKenzie, A.N.J.; Mebius, R.E.; et al. Innate lymphoid cells—A proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *13*, 145–149. [CrossRef]
- 191. Arachchige, A.S.P.M. Human NK cells: From development to effector functions. Innate Immun. 2021, 27, 212–229. [CrossRef]
- 192. Kucuksezer, U.C.; Cetin, E.A.; Esen, F.; Tahrali, I.; Akdeniz, N.; Gelmez, M.Y.; Deniz, G. The Role of Natural Killer Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 622306. [CrossRef]
- 193. Liu, M.; Liang, S.; Zhang, C. NK Cells in Autoimmune Diseases: Protective or Pathogenic? *Front. Immunol.* 2021, *12*, 624687. [CrossRef]
- 194. French, A.R.; Yokoyama, W.M. Natural killer cells and viral infections. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2003, 15, 45–51. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

195. Martinez, J.; Huang, X.; Yang, Y. Direct Action of Type I IFN on NK Cells Is Required for Their Activation in Response to Vaccinia Viral Infection In Vivo. J. Immunol. 2008, 180, 1592–1597. [CrossRef]

- 196. Nguyen, K.B.; Salazar-Mather, T.P.; Dalod, M.; Van Deusen, J.B.; Wei, X.-Q.; Liew, F.Y.; Caligiuri, M.A.; Durbin, J.E.; Biron, C.A. Coordinated and Distinct Roles for IFN-αβ, IL-12, and IL-15 Regulation of NK Cell Responses to Viral Infection. *J. Immunol.* 2002, 169, 4279–4287. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cossu, M.; van Bon, L.; Nierkens, S.; Bellocchi, C.; Santaniello, A.; Dolstra, H.; Beretta, L.; Radstake, T.R. The magnitude of cytokine production by stimulated CD56+ cells is associated with early stages of systemic sclerosis. *Clin. Immunol.* 2016, 173, 76–80. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 198. Schuster, I.S.; Wikstrom, M.E.; Brizard, G.; Coudert, J.D.; Estcourt, M.J.; Manzur, M.; O'Reilly, L.A.; Smyth, M.J.; Trapani, J.A.; Hill, G.R.; et al. TRAIL+ NK Cells Control CD4+ T Cell Responses during Chronic Viral Infection to Limit Autoimmunity. *Immunity* 2014, 41, 646–656. [CrossRef]
- 199. Liu, J.; Zhang, H.; Su, Y.; Zhang, B. Application and prospect of targeting innate immune sensors in the treatment of autoimmune diseases. *Cell Biosci.* 2022, 12, 68. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, S.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, F.; Guo, X.; Liu, T.; Zhao, Y.; Gu, B.; Chen, H.; Li, Y. Hydroxychloroquine inhibiting neutrophil extracellular trap formation alleviates hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury by blocking TLR9 in mice. *Clin. Immunol.* 2020, 216, 108461. [CrossRef]
- Kužnik, A.; Benčina, M.; Švajger, U.; Jeras, M.; Rozman, B.; Jerala, R. Mechanism of Endosomal TLR Inhibition by Antimalarial Drugs and Imidazoquinolines. J. Immunol. 2011, 186, 4794–4804. [CrossRef]
- Vlach, J.; Bender, A.T.; Przetak, M.; Pereira, A.; Deshpande, A.; Johnson, T.L.; Reissig, S.; Tzvetkov, E.; Musil, D.; Morse, N.T.; et al. Discovery of M5049: A Novel Selective Toll-Like Receptor 7/8 Inhibitor for Treatment of Autoimmunity. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 2020, 376, 397–409. [CrossRef]
- Kitai, Y.; Takeuchi, O.; Kawasaki, T.; Ori, D.; Sueyoshi, T.; Murase, M.; Akira, S.; Kawai, T. Negative Regulation of Melanoma Differentiation-associated Gene 5 (MDA5)-dependent Antiviral Innate Immune Responses by Arf-like Protein 5B. J. Biol. Chem. 2015, 290, 1269–1280. [CrossRef]
- Blum, S.I.; Tse, H.M. Innate Viral Sensor MDA5 and Coxsackievirus Interplay in Type 1 Diabetes Development. *Microorganisms* 2020, 8, 993. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhu, H.; Zhang, R.; Yi, L.; Tang, Y.; Zheng, C. UNC93B1 attenuates the cGAS–STING signaling pathway by targeting STING for autophagy–lysosome degradation. J. Med. Virol. 2022, 94, 4490–4501. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wiese, M.D.; Manning-Bennett, A.T.; Abuhelwa, A.Y. Investigational IRAK-4 inhibitors for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 2020, 29, 475–482. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 207. Winkler, A.; Sun, W.; De, S.; Jiao, A.; Sharif, M.N.; Symanowicz, P.T.; Athale, S.; Shin, J.H.; Wang, J.; Jacobson, B.A.; et al. The Interleukin-1 Receptor–Associated Kinase 4 Inhibitor PF-06650833 Blocks Inflammation in Preclinical Models of Rheumatic Disease and in Humans Enrolled in a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2021, 73, 2206–2218. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 208. Wang, Q.; Zhou, X.; Zhao, Y.; Xiao, J.; Lu, Y.; Shi, Q.; Wang, Y.; Wang, H.; Liang, Q. Polyphyllin I Ameliorates Collagen-Induced Arthritis by Suppressing the Inflammation Response in Macrophages Through the NF-κB Pathway. *Front. Immunol.* 2018, *9*, 2091. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 209. Chen, J.; Wu, W.; Zhang, M.; Chen, C. Taraxasterol suppresses inflammation in IL-1β-induced rheumatoid arthritis fibroblast-like synoviocytes and rheumatoid arthritis progression in mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **2019**, *70*, 274–283. [CrossRef]
- 210. Thompson, C.D.; Matta, B.; Barnes, B.J. Therapeutic targeting of IRFs: Pathway-dependence or structure-based? *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 2622. [CrossRef]
- Li, D.; Matta, B.; Song, S.; Nelson, V.; Diggins, K.; Simpfendorfer, K.R.; Gregersen, P.K.; Linsley, P.; Barnes, B.J. IRF5 genetic risk variants drive myeloid-specific IRF5 hyperactivation and presymptomatic SLE. JCI Insight 2020, 5, e124020. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 212. Song, S.; De, S.; Nelson, V.; Chopra, S.; LaPan, M.; Kampta, K.; Sun, S.; He, M.; Thompson, C.D.; Li, D.; et al. Inhibition of IRF5 hyperactivation protects from lupus onset and severity. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2020**, *130*, 6700–6717. [CrossRef]

Transcriptomic and proteomic profiling reveals distinct pathogenic features of peripheral non-classical monocytes in systemic lupus erythematosus



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Clinical Immunology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yclim

Transcriptomic and proteomic profiling reveals distinct pathogenic features of peripheral non-classical monocytes in systemic lupus erythematosus

Eirini Maria Stergioti^{a, b, *}, Theodora Manolakou^a, George Sentis^a, Martina Samiotaki^c Noemin Kapsala^b, Antonis Fanouriakis^b, Dimitrios T. Boumpas^{a,*,1}, Aggelos Banos^{a,*,1}

^a Laboratory of Autoimmunity and Inflammation, Center of Clinical, Experimental Surgery and Translational Research, Biomedical Research Foundation Academy of Athens, Athens 115 27, Greece

4th Department of Internal Medicine, Attikon University Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, Athens 124 62, Greece

^c Institute for Bioinnovation, Biomedical Sciences Research Center Alexander Fleming, Vari, Athens 166 72, Greece

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Systemic lupus erythematosus Non-classical monocytes M1 macrophages Cytokines Cell cycle Differentiation

ABSTRACT

Peripheral blood monocytes propagate inflammation in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Three major populations of monocytes have been recognized namely classical (CM), intermediate (IM) and non-classical monocytes (NCM). Herein, we performed a comprehensive transcriptomic, proteomic and functional characterization of the three peripheral monocytic subsets from active SLE patients and healthy individuals. Our data demonstrate extensive molecular disruptions in circulating SLE NCM, characterized by enhanced inflammatory features such as deregulated DNA repair, cell cycle and heightened IFN signaling combined with differentiation and developmental cues. Enhanced DNA damage, elevated expression of p53, G0 arrest of cell cycle and increased autophagy stress the differentiation potential of NCM in SLE. This immunogenic profile is associated with an activated macrophage phenotype of NCM exhibiting M1 characteristics in the circulation, fueling the inflammatory response. Together, these findings identify circulating SLE NCM as a pathogenic cell type in the disease that could represent an additional therapeutic target.

1. Introduction

Monocytes represent a myeloid lineage product and a major component of the innate immune system, and exert diverse immunological functions in orchestrating inflammation. Three major populations of monocytes are identified both in mice and humans; the classical monocytes (CD14⁺CD16⁻) that make up to \sim 85% of the total circulating monocyte pool, whereas the remaining ${\sim}15\%$ consists of the intermediate monocytes (CD14⁺CD16⁺) and the non-classical monocytes (CD14^{dim}CD16⁺) [1]. In monocyte differentiation, there is a linear trajectory starting with the classical monocytes (CM) that exit the bone marrow and give rise to intermediate monocytes (IM) and sequentially to non-classical monocytes (NCM) in peripheral blood circulation [2-4] with NCM representing the most mature monocytic subpopulation [5].

Circulating monocytes replenish tissue macrophages through M1/M2polarization process and dendritic cells (DCs) both in steady-state and inflammation [6-8]. Monocytes possess migratory properties and contribute to the ongoing inflammation by infiltrating tissues. It is believed that the local environment, especially the cytokines milieu, has a pivotal role in influencing their differentiation process [9].

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic, multisystem autoimmune disease that manifests diverse clinical and molecular abnormalities attributed to the loss of self-tolerance to nucleic acids and endogenous antigens and sustained autoantibody production [10,11]. Excessive and irreversible tissue damage caused by autoantibodies or immune-complex deposition affects multiple organs leading to significant morbidity and increased mortality [12,13]. Recent findings underscore the pivotal role of innate immune cell subsets in the initiation

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2023.109765 Received 28 June 2023; Accepted 4 September 2023 Available online 9 September 2023

1521-6616/© 2023 Published by Elsevier Inc.

Abbreviations: CM, Classical Monocytes: IM, Intermediate Monocytes; NCM, Non-classical Monocytes; IFNa, Interferon v; JAK/STAT, Janus kinase/Signal transducer and activator of transcription; IL2, interleukin 2; IL6, interleukin 6; TLR, Toll like receptor; IRF1, Interferon regulatory factor 1; STAT1, Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1.

Corresponding authors at: Laboratory of Autoimmunity and Inflammation, Center of Clinical, Experimental Surgery and Translational Research, Biomedical Research Foundation Academy of Athens, Athens 115 27, Greece.

E-mail addresses: eirinister@yahoo.gr (E.M. Stergioti), dboumpas@bioacademy.gr (D.T. Boumpas), abanos@bioacademy.gr (A. Banos).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

and propagation of the systemic autoimmune response and the development of end-organ damage in SLE [14]. Aberrations of monocytes underlie the SLE pathology and lead to perpetuation of inflammation and tissue injury [15-20]. Recent studies emphasize the involvement of terminally differentiated immune cell subsets on tissue damage and severity of the disease [21,22]. For instance, it has been reported that CD16⁺ DCs arise from NCM in lupus skin contributing to the development of cutaneous lupus erythematosus (CLE) [23]. In addition, circulating Ly6C^{low} non-classical monocytes undergo differentiation into M1 macrophages and are recruited to the joint, playing a pivotal role in coordinating the progression of autoimmune joint inflammation [24]. Furthermore, TLR-activated NCM infiltrate the glomerulus, representing important regulators in glomerular inflammation and kidney injury in SLE [25]. Despite the compelling evidence that NCM substantially contribute to disease progression in the target tissues, they remain the least explored monocytic cells.

Understanding the molecular pathways involved in NCM activation and function in the periphery of patients with active SLE, before migrating into the tissues can guide the development of targeted therapies to modulate their effects. To this end, various cell subset-specific molecules recently introduced in the therapeutic field, such as belimumab or anifrolumab affect monocytic function or their cross-talk with other immune cells. A better understanding of the core immune responses of NCM, could provide further insights for the design of more targeted therapeutic schemes.

In this study, we used transcriptomic and proteomic analyses to investigate disease-specific signatures of the three monocytic subsets in SLE. Herein, we report inflammatory features and extensive perturbation of NCM of patients with active SLE, including deregulated DNA repair, cell cycle, and metabolism combined with enhanced IFN signaling, differentiation and developmental cues. *Ex vivo* functional analysis suggest that enhanced DNA damage, elevated expression of p53, G_0 arrest of cell cycle and increased autophagy support the differentiation potential of SLE NCM. Immune profiling and cytokine production analysis indicate that NCM of patients with active SLE exhibit an activated M1 macrophage-like phenotype. Our findings highlight that NCM acquire a pro-inflammatory profile reminiscent of M1 macrophages in the periphery of patients, fueling the inflammatory response in SLE.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Experimental model and study participant details

2.1.1. Human subjects

Peripheral blood samples were collected from patients with SLE [n = 37, classified by the 1997 American College of Rheumatology criteria] and healthy individuals (n = 42). At the time of sampling, all patients had moderate to high disease activity (SLEDAI ≥ 8 and/or PGA ≥ 1.5) and, in the vast majority, had not received cytotoxic drugs 12 months before donation. All patients and healthy individuals were recruited through the Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology Unit, fourth Department of Internal Medicine, "Attikon" University Hospital and the Department of Rheumatology in Athens, Greece. Our study is in agreement with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki). Informed consent was obtained from all individuals before sample collection (Athens, Greece, protocol 10/22-6-2017). All patients omitted any treatment dose for at least 24 h before blood drawing. Clinical and demographic characteristics are summarized in table S1.

2.1.2. Animal studies

All procedures in mice were in accordance with institutional guidelines and were reviewed and approved by the Greek Federal Veterinary Office (1044/1319; Athens, Greece). New Zealand black (NZB) $Q \times$ New Zealand white (NZW) σ F1 mice (i.e., NZB/W-F1) spontaneously develop an autoimmune syndrome resembling human SLE. NZB/OlaHsd and NZW/OlaHsd mice were purchased from Envigo. NZB/W-F1 mice were considered diseased when exhibiting \geq 100 ng/dl of urine protein (after 6 months of life) and prediseased at 10 weeks old. All animals were maintained in the BRFAA animal facility. All NZB/W-F1 mice used in the experiments were female. All animal procedures were in concert with the ARRIVE guidelines and were conducted following the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act of 1986 and associated guidelines, EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments.

2.2. Human cell isolation from peripheral blood

Peripheral blood (12 ml) was obtained from patients with SLE and gender matched healthy individuals. Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were enriched by density gradient centrifugation of peripheral blood through a Lymphosep (Biowest, Cat. No. L0560-500) gradient. Shortly, blood was diluted 1:1 with phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) and layered over Lymphosep solution. Falcon tubes were centrifuged at 500g for 30 min with no brake at room temperature. PBMCs were collected, and cells were washed with PBS. Monocytes were isolated from PBMCs via flow cytometry. For the cell sorting of the three monocytic subsets, single-cell suspensions from fresh human PBMCs were stained with conjugated antibodies against: HLA-DR (1:100, 307,618, Biolegend), CD14 (1:100, 21,620,144, Biolegend), and CD16 (1:100, 302,012, Biolegend). Classical monocytes are defined as HLA-DR⁺CD14⁺CD16⁻, intermediate monocytes as HLA- $DR^+CD14^+CD16^+$, and non-classical monocytes as HLA-DR⁺CD14^{dim}CD16⁺ cells.

2.3. Flow cytometry and cell sorting

For analysis and isolation of immune cell subsets, single-cell suspensions from fresh human PBMCs were stained with conjugated antibodies against: HLA-DR (1:100, 307,616, 307,608, Biolegend), CD14 (1:100, 21,620,144, 301,840, Biolegend), CD16 (1:100, 302,037, 302,048, Biolegend), CD36 (1:100, 336,232, Biolegend), CD163 (1:100, 333,626, Biolegend), CD123 (1:100, 306,017, Biolegend), CD11c (1:100, 301,608, Biolegend), CD80 (1:100, 305,227, Biolegend), CD64 (1:100, 305,042, Biolegend), and CD206 (1:100, 321,106, Biolegend). All cells were Zombie negative (1/1000; 423,110, BioLegend). For the intracellular staining including Foxp3, γH2AX (Ser¹³⁹) (1:50, 613,420, Biolegend), Ki67 (1:50, 350,504, Biolegend), and cleaved caspase-3 (Asp175) (1:50, 9669S, Cell Signaling Technology), cells were fixed and stained using the Foxp3 Staining Set (Cat. No. 00-5523-00, eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For the respective mouse experiments: CD11b (1:200, 101,212, Biolegend), CD11c (1:200, 117,318, Biolegend), Ly6C (1:200, 108,430, Biolegend). Cells were sorted on a FACSAria III (BD Biosciences) using the BD FACSDiva v8.0.1 software (BD Biosciences). Analysis was performed with FlowJo software. Key resources table includes details on the antibodies (fluorochrome, clone, source, and identifier).

2.4. RNA-sequencing

2.4.1. Sample preparation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of patients with SLE (n = 7) and HI (n = 8) were stained with the following conjugated antibodies: HLA-DR (1:100, 307,618, Biolegend), CD14 (1:100, 21,620,144, Biolegend), and CD16 (1:100, 302,012, Biolegend). The 3 monocyte subsets (classical, intermediate, non-classical) were sorted using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), according to their relative expression of HLA-DR, CD14 and CD16. Sorted subsets were stored in lysis buffer at -80 °C before RNA isolation. RNA was extracted using the Arcturus PicoPure RNA Isolation Kit (Cat. No. KIT0202) as per the manufacturer's protocol. The quality of the RNA samples was performed with the Agilent Bioanalyzer RNA nano kit. RNAseq experiments were

carried out in the Greek Genome Center (GGC) of the Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens (BRFAA). RNAseq libraries were prepared with the NEBNext Ultra II Directional RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina, Quality Control was performed with the Agilent bioanalyzer DNA1000 kit, and Quantitation with the qubit HS spectrophotometric method. Approximately 25 Million 100 bp Single-End reads were generated for each sample in the Illumina Novaseq 6000 system.

2.4.2. Differential expression analysis

FastQC software was used to check the quality of sequencing data (version:0.11.9, RRID:SCR_014583) [26]. Sequences of adapters and low quality bases (Q < 30) of the 3' end were removed using Cutadapt (v:1.18, RRID:SCR_011841) [27]. Reads were aligned to the human reference genome (v:hg38) using STAR (v:2.6.1b, RRID:SCR_004463) [28] and annotated using GENCODE (v:39, RRID:SCR_014966) [29]. Samtools (v:1.9, RRID:SCR_014966) was used to sort barn files [30]. Gene expression was quantified using HTSeq (v:0.11.0, RRID: SCR_005514) [31]. Differential expression (DE) analysis was performed using the edgeR [32] software (v:3.38.1, RRID:SCR_012802, qlmQLFtest function) in R (v:4.2.0, RRID:SCR_001905) [33]. Genes with fold change $|FC| \ge 1.5$ and *P* value ≤ 0.05 were considered as significantly differentially expressed genes (DEGs). Heatmaps, volcano plots and Venn diagrams were generated using the Complex Heatmap, ggplot2 and ggVennDiagram packages (v3.4.1, RRID:SCR_014601) [34].

2.4.3. Enrichment analysis

We performed pathway and gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis using the g:Profiler web-server to explore the function of DEGs. Pathways were considered enriched when Benjamini-Hochberg corrected P value ≤ 0.05 . Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was also performed against the Hallmark set of MSigDB (v:2022.1.Hs, RRID:SCR_016863) [35] using GSEA software (v:4.2.2, RRID:SCR_003199) [36] to reveal enriched signatures in our dataset. Genes were ranked in decreasing order of the product of -log10(*P*-value) and FC. GSEA pre-ranked analysis was performed using the default settings and setting 149 as the analysis seed. Terms were considered significantly enriched when False Discovery Rate (FDR) < 25%. The full lists of differentially expressed genes and enriched terms are provided in table S2.

2.5. Proteomics

2.5.1. Sample preparation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of patients with SLE and HI (n = 9 individuals per group) were stained with the following conjugated antibodies: HLA-DR (1:100, 307,618, Biolegend), CD14 (1:100, 21,620,144, Biolegend), and CD16 (1:100, 302,012, Biolegend). The 3 monocyte subsets (classical, intermediate, non-classical) were sorted using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), according to their relative expression of HLA-DR, CD14 and CD16. The three different FACS sorted cell populations were lysed in a buffer consisting of 4% SDS and 0.1 M DTT in 0.1 M TEAB and incubated for 5 min in a 99 $^\circ\text{C}.$ Subsequently, the samples were subjected to sonication in a water bath for 15 min. The protein extracts were processed by tryptic digestion using the Sp3 protocol, including an alkylation step in 100 mM iodoacetamide (Acros Organics). 20 µg of beads (1:1 mixture of hydrophilic and hydrophobic SeraMag carboxylate-modified beads, GE Life Sciences) were added to each sample in 50% ethanol. Protein clean-up was performed on a magnetic rack. The beads were washed two times with 80% ethanol and once with 100% acetonitrile (Fisher Chemical). The captured-on beads proteins were digested overnight at 37 $^\circ\mathrm{C}$ under vigorous shaking (1200 rpm, Eppendorf Thermomixer) with 0.5 μ g Trypsin/LysC (MS grade, Promega) prepared in 25 mM Ammonium bicarbonate. Next day, the peptides were purified using a modified Sp3 clean up protocol and finally solubilized in the mobile phase A (0.1% Formic acid in water), sonicated and the peptide concentration was

determined through absorbance at 280 nm measurement using a nanodrop instrument.

2.5.2. LC-MS/MS

Samples were analyzed on a liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) setup consisting of a Dionex Ultimate 3000 nanoRSLC coupled in line with a Thermo Q Exactive HF-X Orbitrap mass spectrometer. Peptidic samples were directly injected and separated on an 25 cm-long analytical C18 column (PepSep, 1.9 µm3 beads, 75 µm ID) using a one-hour long run, starting with a gradient of 7% Buffer B (0.1% Formic acid in 80% Acetonitrile) to 35% for 40 min and followed by an increase to 45% in 5 min and a second increase to 99% in 0.5 min and then kept constant for equilibration for 14.5 min. A full MS was acquired in profile mode using a Q Exactive HF-X Hybrid Quadrupole-Orbitrap mass spectrometer, operating in the scan range of 375-1400 m/z using 120 K resolving power with an AGC of 3×106 and maximum IT of 60 ms followed by data independent acquisition method using 8 Th windows (a total of 39 loop counts) each with 15 K resolving power with an AGC of 3×105 and max IT of 22 ms and normalized collision energy (NCE) of 26. Each sample was analyzed in two technical replicas.

2.5.3. Data analysis

Orbitrap raw data were analyzed in DIA-NN v:1.8.1 (Data-Independent Acquisition by Neural Networks) through searching against the Human_Reference Proteome (downloaded from Uniprot, 20,583 proteins entries, downloaded 8/11/2022) using the library free mode of the software, allowing up to two tryptic missed cleavages and a maximum of three variable modifications/peptide. A spectral library was created from the DIA runs and used to reanalyse them (double search mode). DIA-NN search was used with oxidation of methionine residues, N-terminal methionine excision and acetylation of the protein N-termini set as variable modifications and carbamidomethylation of cysteine residues as fixed modification. The match between runs feature was used for all analyses and the output (precursor) was filtered at 0.01 FDR and finally the protein inference was performed on the level of genes using only proteotypic peptides. The identified peptides (e.g. proteotypic peptides) used in the analysis described were only those being assigned to only one particular protein (e.g. unique protein). Peptides (e.g. razor peptides) being assigned to more than one protein (e.g. protein groups) were omitted from the analysis.

2.5.4. Enrichment analysis of proteomic data

The proteomics data were processed in Perseus v:1.6.15.0. Values were log (2) transformed, a threshold of 70% of valid values in at least one group was applied and the missing values were replaced from normal distribution. For statistical analysis, Student's *t*-test was performed and permutation-based FDR was calculated and thus, the differential expressed proteins were assessed for enrichment analysis. FDR < 0.05 was used to determine significance for enriched Gene Ontology biological processes and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) terms. The full lists of differentially expressed proteins and enriched terms are provided in table S3.

2.5.5. Binding analysis for regulation of transcription (BART)

We conducted Binding Analysis for Regulation of Transcription (BART) to discover the transcription factors (TFs) responsible for binding to the regulatory regions of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) exclusively present in SLE NCM. These TFs play a pivotal role in governing the corresponding proteomic signatures. BART identifies a genome-wide cis-regulatory profile for the query genes using the MARGE method [37] and subsequently correlates the profile with a transcription factor profile derived from 6000 publicly available transcription factor ChIP-Seq datasets.

2.6. Cell cycle assessment

For the cell cycle assessment via flow cytometry, single-cell suspensions from fresh human PBMCs were first stained extracellularly with conjugated antibodies against: HLA-DR, CD14 and CD16 in 200 μ l of 5% FBS/PBS buffer for 10 min at room temperature and then, following washing with PBS, cells were fixed and stained for Ki67 (1:50, 350,504, Biolegend) using the Foxp3 Staining Set according to the manufacturer's instructions. At the end, cells were resuspended in 200 μ l 5% FBS/PBS buffer and stained with 7-AAD cellular DNA content marker (5 μ l per sample, 420,404, Biolegend). Cells were analyzed using BD FACS Celesta using the BD FACSDiva v8.0.1 software. Linear scale was used for 7-AAD. Analysis was performed with FlowJo software. Key resources table includes details on the antibodies (fluorochrome, clone, source, and identifier).

2.7. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

For the cell immunofluorescence experiments, sorted cells were seeded in coverslips pretreated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for 20 min at room temperature, and washed twice with PBS. Cells were fixed with ice-cold methanol for 10 min at room temperature. Then, cells were permeabilized by using 0.1% saponin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 2% BSA (blocking buffer). Next, cell-seeded slides were incubated with primary antibodies in blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature, followed by three washes with blocking buffer and then by secondary antibodies for 40 min at room temperature in the dark. For visualization of the nuclei, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (1/100, 10,236,276,001, Sigma-Aldrich) was used. Last, cells were mounted with mowiol mounting media (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Cat. No. P36961) and visualized using a x63 oil lens in inverted or upright confocal imaging system Leica SP5. Puncta/cell was calculated using a macro developed in Fiji software. The primary antibodies in the immunofluorescence were against LC3 (1:20, 0231-100/LC3-5F10, nanoTools), LAMP-1 (1:400, sc-19,992, Santa Cruz), and p62 (1:400, PM045, MBL) and the secondary antibodies were Alexa Fluor 555 anti-mouse IgG (1:500, A-21425, Invitrogen), Alexa Fluor 488 anti-rat IgG (1:250, A-11006, Invitrogen), and Alexa Fluor 647 anti-rabbit IgG (1:200, A-21246, Invitrogen). For the analyses, 50 to 100 cells per human individual (with at least four different areas on the coverslip) were examined for each marker using confocal microscopy. Key resources table includes details on the antibodies (fluorochrome, clone, source, and identifier).

2.8. Cytokines profiling

Released cytokines were measured with the LEGENDplex Human Macrophage/Microglia Panel (13-plex) (BioLegend, Cat. No. 740503) following the collection of supernatants at day 1 from cultured CD14^{dim}CD16⁺ cells. Data acquisition was performed on FACSAria III (BD Biosciences) and the BD FACSDiva v8.0.1 software (BD Biosciences). Analysis was conducted utilizing the LEGENDplex Data Analysis Software.

2.9. Phagocytosis assay

Time-lapse imaging of phagocytic events was performed after introducing particles to classical and non-classical sorted monocytes (10.000 cells/well) seeded in μ -slide 8 well ibiTreat chambers (Cat. No. 80826) in technical duplicates, which have a channel volume of 300 μ l. Stock solutions of pH-rodoTM Red *E. coli* Bioparticles (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Cat. No. p35361) were prepared at 1 mg/ml in Dulbecco's PBS. The suspension of particles was sonicated to disperse the particles and was added to the cell culture microplate in a 1:10 dilution before starting time-lapse imaging via Aurox microscopy. The pH-rodoTM Red *E. coli* Bioparticles have absorbance and emission maxima of 560 and 585 nm, respectively. Time lapse live cell images were acquired every 5-15 min for 1 h, five frames of z-stacking with 2-µm optic slice by Aurox confocal microscopy. Signal maximum was achieved at 30 min. On average 10–50 monocytes were analyzed using the Image J software, and the data were expressed as % of monocytes that phagocytose *E. coli* BioParticles.

2.10. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted taking into account the experimental setup using either paired or unpaired Student's *t*-test and oneway or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in GraphPad Prism v8.0.1 software, as specified in the Figure legends. Data are presented as means \pm SEM, and a significance level of P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. In the figure legends, all *P* values and *n* are reported. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software (v9.0.0). The investigators were not blinded to the sample identities and the compared samples were collected and analyzed under the same conditions. Each experiment was repeated at least three times. For LEGENDplex experiments, it was one run per assay.

3. Results

3.1. NCM display widespread gene expression changes in SLE compared to other monocytic subsets

First, we assessed the transcriptome profile of the three monocytic subsets isolated from the peripheral blood of patients with active SLE and age/sex-matched healthy individuals (HI) (Figure 1A; Supplementary Table S1). Subsets were defined by the surface markers CD14 and CD16 into CM, IM and NCM (Supplementary Fig. S1A). Principal component analysis (PCA) demonstrates that monocytes are not a homogeneous population but can be clustered in smaller, transcriptionally distinct subsets. Cluster segregation both in HI and SLE patients reveals distinct gene expression of NCM compared to the other two subsets (CM and IM) (Fig. 1B), pointing that these transcriptomic changes demarcate distinct responses of the three related monocytic cell subsets in health and SLE. We also performed PCA on each monocytic subset in HI and patients with SLE (Supplementary Fig. S1B). In tandem, CM and IM do not exhibit distinct transcriptomic profiles in HI vs SLE patients. In contrast, the NCM display more widespread gene expression changes in patients with SLE compared to HI. Both in health and disease, IM clearly represent a transition state between CM and NCM (Supplementary Fig. S1C). Thus, the transcriptomic distance is longer between NCM and any other monocytic subset, being more pronounced in SLE. Moreover, gene expression analysis identified 859 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in CM, of which 515 were up- and 344 down-regulated in SLE compared to HI. In IM, 724 DEGs were identified, of which 470 were upand 254 down-regulated in SLE compared to HI and in NCM, 1122 DEGs were identified, of which 489 were up- and 633 down-regulated in SLE compared to HI, suggesting an extensive transcriptomic rewiring of NCM in SLE compared to the other two monocytic counterparts (Fig. 1C). Of interest, 103 genes were found to be common in all three SLE monocytic subsets, representing the core monocytic SLE signature, consistent with deregulated pathways such as inflammatory response, cytokine signaling and IFN α/β response (Fig. 1D, E; Supplementary Table S2). In reference to SLE NCM, the largest group of DEGs (766 genes) was found to be exclusively differentially expressed in SLE implicating cell communication, regulation of metabolic processes and signal transduction (Fig. 1D, E; Supplementary Table S2). Together, these data suggest that NCM display widespread gene expression changes in SLE compared to other monocytic subsets rendering them molecularly distinct in terms of cellular communication and signal transduction.

3.2. SLE NCM display enriched type-I IFN signaling, inflammatory cytokine production, and altered metabolism

To further delineate the transcriptomic disparities of monocytes in SLE, we identified four clusters of genes that are uniquely or commonly deregulated in each monocytic subset in SLE using K-means clustering algorithm (Fig. 2A). Gene ontology (GO) analysis of CM clustering revealed several cascades to be deregulated in SLE CM such as IL-10 signaling pathway and inflammatory response (Fig. 2B; Supplementary Table S2). IM depicted altered TLR2 and TNF signaling in SLE (Fig. 2B; Supplementary Table S2). NCM revealed several cellular processes to be deregulated in SLE such as IL-1 processing, and IFN signaling (Fig. 2B; Supplementary Table S2). Next, in order to investigate the biological differences of each monocytic subset in SLE, Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was performed. Several key biological cascades were found to be positively enriched in SLE monocytes related to inflammatory response and the immune system, such as IFNy response, TNFa via NF-kB and JAK-STAT3 signaling, and complement activation. Metabolic pathways were differentially deregulated in the transcriptomic signature of each monocytic subset both in steady state and disease. For instance, oxidative phosphorylation was negatively enriched in SLE CM while hypoxia was negatively enriched in SLE IM and SLE NCM, indicative of differential metabolic needs of each monocytic subset (Fig. 2C). Finally, heatmaps of select genes of interest involved in deregulated mTORC1, p53, and hypoxia pathways reveal that SLE NCM pathogenicity is attributed to these processes in the inflammatory environment of the disease (Figs. 2D, E). Both hypoxia and mTORC1 signaling are involved in regulating cellular metabolism, albeit through different mechanisms [39,40]. Collectively, these findings suggest that NCM in patients with SLE possess a distinct transcriptomic signature characterized by type-I IFN signaling, diverse cytokine production and alterations in cellular metabolic processes.

3.3. Proteomic profiling unravels a phenotype transition of NCM in SLE

To decipher how the transcriptomic characteristics of monocytes can drive their functional features in SLE, we next assessed the proteome of the three sorted monocytic subsets from the peripheral blood of patients with active SLE and age/sex-matched HI (Fig. 3A; Supplementary Table S1). Proteome analysis identified 6154 unique proteins for CM, 5274 unique proteins for IM and 5389 unique proteins for NCM. PCA exhibited a fine subset-specific separation of monocytes together with a distinct distribution between healthy and SLE (Fig. 3B; Supplementary Figs. S2A and S2B). Cluster segregation reveals that monocytes can be distinguished based on their proteomic profile in the three subsets with the IM being more similar to NCM irrespective of health or disease, with a distinct protein expression profile of all monocytic subsets (Fig. 3B; Supplementary Figs. S2A and S2B). In addition, protein expression analysis identified 830 differentially expressed proteins (DEPs) in CM, of which 279 were up- and 551 down-regulated in SLE compared to HI. In IM, 146 DEPs were identified, of which 80 were up- and 66 were downregulated and in NCM, 1714 DEPs were identified, of which 250 were up- and 1464 were down-regulated in SLE as compared to HI. Notably, NCM have a significant number of DEPs in SLE compared to the other two monocytic counterparts (Fig. 3C). Furthermore, NCM possess the largest group of proteins (1341 proteins) to be exclusively differentially expressed in SLE NCM. GO analysis in the unique up- and downregulated proteins in NCM exhibited decreased metabolism and cell cycle and increased inflammatory responses, complement activation and cell differentiation (Fig. 3D; Supplementary Table S3). To identify transcription factors that bind at the regulatory regions of the DEGs found only in SLE NCM and govern these proteomic signatures, we performed Binding Analysis for Regulation of Transcription (BART) [41]. These TFs were further filtered retaining the ones linked with developmental and differentiation processes. Among the top enriched factors in SLE NCM were STAT1, IRF1 and E2F1 (Fig. 3E). Of note,

STAT1 and IRF1 are associated with polarization of monocytes to classically activated macrophages [42,43]. Taken together, the proteomic analysis denotes that SLE NCM undergo an altered differentiation process. The disrupted expression patterns of those TFs known to regulate the polarization of monocytes into M1 macrophages likely reflects the pro-inflammatory profile that NCM have acquired in SLE.

3.4. Inflammatory features, DNA repair, cell cycle and differentiation underscore the pathogenic signature of SLE NCM

To further investigate the proteomic disparities of monocytes in SLE, we identified two main clusters of proteins that were uniquely or commonly deregulated in each monocytic subset in the disease (Fig. 4A). GO analysis of CM clustering revealed several cascades to be deregulated in SLE CM such as cellular metabolic processes, and type I IFN production and signaling (Fig. 4B; Supplementary Table S3). IM depicted altered response to virus and to type I IFNs (Fig. 4B; Supplementary Table S3). NCM revealed several cellular processes to be deregulated in SLE such as cell cycle, developmental processes, IFN and cytokine signaling and metabolism (Fig. 4B; Supplementary Table S3). To further examine the biological differences of each monocytic subset in SLE, GSEA was performed revealing key features of SLE pathogenicity to be significantly deregulated in all three monocytic subsets such as the inflammatory response, and IFN α/γ response (Fig. 4C). In this setting, distinctive features of SLE NCM pathogenicity were the positively enriched complement activation and IFN signaling and negatively enriched DNA repair, fatty acid metabolism (FAM) and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) (Fig. 4D). Though the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling did not reach statistical significance, many proteins involved in this pathway were found to be significantly decreased in SLE NCM such as RPTOR, RPS6KA1, RPS6KA3, STAT2, PTEN, and TRAF2. Of note, heatmaps of select genes of interest involved in complement activation, DNA repair and OXPHOS highlight that SLE NCM are biased towards these processes in the inflammatory environment of the disease (Fig. 4E). In summary, the proteomic signature of SLE NCM stands apart from the other monocytic counterparts, underscoring the importance of cell cycle, differentiation process, and DNA repair as pivotal characteristics that drive their pathogenic potential.

3.5. Immune profiling of peripheral blood reveals reduction of NCM during active disease and initiation of a differentiation program

Since DNA repair is perturbed in SLE NCM, we next sought to investigate the DNA Damage Response (DDR) in SLE monocytic subsets by flow cytometry using yH2AX, as a main indicator of DDR activation [44,45]. We observed increased levels of γ H2AX only in NCM of patients with SLE as compared to HI, supporting exacerbated DDR in SLE NCM (Fig. 5A; Supplementary Fig. S4A). The activation of the p53 pathway in the transcriptomic signature of SLE NCM was validated in SLE NCM by confocal microscopy (Fig. 5B). Subsequently, we investigated whether the observed reduction in DNA repair, and heightened p53 pathway and DNA damage in SLE NCM, could impact cellular growth and cell cycle [46]. We found decreased frequency specifically of NCM in patients with SLE compared to HI (Figs. 5C, D). This profile was further validated in murine (NZB/W-F1) SLE peripheral monocytic subsets (Supplementary Figs. S3A and S3B). Since DDR can potentially trigger apoptosis and/or proliferation, coupled with the findings of reduced SLE NCM in the peripheral blood of patients with active disease, we investigated cell cycle dynamics within each monocytic subset in the context of the disease. Neither proliferation (Ki67) nor apoptosis (cleaved caspase-3) differed in SLE NCM when compared to HI as assessed by flow cytometry assays (Fig. 5E; Supplementary Fig. S4B). However, we found that SLE NCM accumulate in the G₀ phase of the cell cycle, implying differentiation potential (Fig. 5F; Supplementary Fig. S4C) [47-49]. Collectively, these data suggest that in SLE NCM, the increased DNA damage, p53 activation and the halting of the cell cycle support an inflammatory phenotype of NCM and a differentiation potential.



Fig. 1. NCM exhibit extensive perturbation in gene expression in SLE.

A. Graphical overview of our experimental setup. The 3 monocytic subsets were isolated using flow cytometry from the peripheral blood of patients with SLE (n = 7) and HI (n = 8) for transcriptomic analysis. **B.** PCA of gene expression profiles of the three monocytic subsets from SLE patients and HI. Point color represents cell subset (blue for CM, black for IM and purple for NCM) and point shape represents condition (hollow circle for healthy individuals, and filled circle for patients with SLE). **C.** Volcano plots of the three differential expression analyses (DEA) performed comparing (left to right), SLE CM vs HI CM, SLE IM vs HI IM, and SLE NCM vs HI NCM. Upregulated genes are denoted by red and downregulated genes are denoted by blue. Genes not reaching our significance threshold (P value <0.05) are shown in gray. **D.** Venn diagram comparing the DEGs of "SLE CM vs HI CM", "SLE IM vs HI IM", and "SLE NCM vs HI NCM". Color gradient correlates with gene count in each compartment. **E.** Enrichment analysis of Gene Ontology (GO) classification for core SLE monocytic genes (up) and expressed genes found only in SLE NCM (down).

See also Fig. S1 and Tables S1, and S2. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 2. Transcriptomic analysis identifies inflammatory response and IFN signaling as features of SLE NCM pathogenicity.

A. Heatmap showing the DEGs (from left to right) between "SLE CM and HI CM", "SLE IM and HI IM", and "SLE NCM and HI NCM". Expression values were z-score normalized. Top annotation row shows the condition of each sample colored black for HI and purple for SLE patients. **B.** Summary table showing gProfiler analysis networks of genes contained in each cluster and examples of signature genes in each cluster. **C.** Bubble plot of GSEA analysis representing enriched pathways associated with the Hallmark database in each monocytic subset in SLE patients. The size of the bubbles represents the statistical significance. **D.** GSEA plots for key pathways involved in the pathogenic features of NCM in patients with SLE (n = 7) compared to HI (n = 8).

See also Table S2. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 3. NCM display the most widespread protein expression changes in SLE characterized by altered metabolism and enhanced differentiation. **A.** Graphical overview of our experimental setup. The 3 monocytic subsets were isolated using flow cytometry from the peripheral blood of patients with SLE and HI (n = 9 individuals per group) for proteomic analysis. **B.** PCA of protein expression profiles of all monocytic subsets from SLE patients and HI in technical duplicates. Point color represents cell subset (blue for CM, black for IM and purple for NCM) and point shape represents condition (hollow circle for healthy individuals, and filled circle for patients with SLE). **C.** Volcano plots of the three differential expression analyses (DEA) performed comparing (left to right), SLE CM vs HI CM, SLE IM vs HI IM, and SLE NCM vs HI NCM. Upregulated proteins are denoted by red and downregulated proteins are denoted by blue. Proteins not reaching our significance threshold (P value <0.05) are shown in gray. **D.** Venn diagram comparing the DEPs of "SLE CM vs HI CM", "SLE IM vs HI IM", and "SLE NCM vs HI NCM". Color gradient correlates with the protein count in each compartment. Enrichment analysis of Gene Ontology (GO) classification for common downregulated (left) and upregulated (right) proteins found only in NCM. **E.** Transcription factors (TFs) related to cell differentiation and predicted to regulate the genes found as DE only in NCM SLE vs HI transcriptonic comparison (n = 54). The max TF AUC and P value were calculated by Binding Analysis of Regulation of Transcription (BART). On the left panel (proteomics) only TFs found to be differentially expressed using SLE vs HI NCM proteomic data are shown and on the right panel (transcriptomics) only TFs found to be differentially expressed using SLE vs HI NCM proteomic data are shown and on the right panel (transcriptomics) only TFs found to be differentially expressed using SLE vs HI NCM proteomic data are shown and on the right panel (transcriptomics) only TFs found



Fig. 4. The inflammatory profile of monocytes in SLE is characterized by common pathways derived from proteome and transcriptome profiling. **A.** Heatmap showing the DEPs between (from left to right) "SLE CM and HI CM", "SLE IM and HI IM", and "SLE NCM and HI NCM". Expression values were z-score normalized. Top annotation row shows the condition of each sample colored black for HI and purple for SLE patients. **B.** Summary table showing gProfiler analysis networks of proteins contained in each cluster and examples of signature proteins in each cluster. **C.** Bubble plot of GSEA analysis representing enriched pathways associated with the Hallmark database in each monocytic subset in SLE patients. The size of the bubbles represents the statistical significance. **D.** GSEA plots for key pathways involved in the pathogenic features of NCM in patients with SLE compared the H (n = 9 individuals per group).

See also Table S3. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



Fig. 5. Peripheral SLE NCM display hyper-inflammatory features and are prone to differentiate.

A. Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on CD14^{dim}CD16⁺ cells for assessing DDR activation using YH2AX in NCM of SLE patients and HI (n = 6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Representative histogram showing overlay of unstained cells (gray), stained SLE (blue), and HI (black) cells is depicted. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by Mann-Whitney Student's t-test, * P < 0.05. B. Immunofluorescence confocal microscopy for p53 (red) and DAPI (blue) in sorted NCM from HI and SLE patients (n = 3 individuals per group). One representative experiment of 3 is shown. Analyzed results for p53 are depicted as mean puncta/cell. Scale bar, 10 µm. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's *t*-test, **** *P* < 0.0001. C. Representative plots of gating strategies of the three monocytic subsets in SLE patients and HI, following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood, using flow cytometry. D. Monocytic subsets frequencies of HI and SLE patients (n = 6 individuals per group). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t-test, ** P < 0.01. E. Assessment of apoptosis (cleaved caspase-3) and proliferation (Ki67) in NCM of SLE patients and HI (n = 6 individuals per group). Representative histogram showing overlay of unstained cells (gray), stained SLE (blue), and HI (black) cells are depicted. Results are expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t-test, $P \ge 0.05$ [not significant (ns)]. F. Flow cytometric analysis for assessing cell cycle phases in NCM from SLE patients and HI (n = 7 individuals per group). The cells were stained with 7-AAD and Ki-67 for cell cycle analysis. Representative plots showing the phases of cell cycle in HI NCM and SLE NCM. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by two-way ANOVA Student's t-test, ** P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

See also Figs. S3 and S4 and Table S1. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

3.6. Enhanced autophagy may prevent SLE NCM from apoptosis and induce their differentiation towards an M1-macrophage profile

Results thus far imply that SLE NCM undergo a transition towards a terminally differentiated pro-inflammatory immune cell subset, while the proteomic profile further supports an enriched cell differentiation and developmental process. To this end, we mapped the differentiation process of NCM in patients with active SLE, by performing a broad immunophenotyping assessing the myeloid differentiation cues downstream of monocytes. SLE NCM demonstrated the most prominent increase in the expression levels of CD80 activation and M1 specificsurface marker and the most prominent decrease in the expression levels of CD123 and CD11c markers for the DC populations, implying enhanced activation and polarization towards an M1 phenotype (Fig. 6A; Supplementary Fig. S5A). An increased expression of CD163 scavenger receptor in all three monocytic subsets was also apparent, suggesting promotion of phagocytosis in SLE monocytes (Supplementary Fig. S5) [50,51]. Hence, we assessed the phagocytic activity of CM and NCM in SLE using E. coli BioParticles conjugates. Although nonsignificant differences were observed in the phagocytic abilities of CM and NCM in patients with SLE compared to HI, CM displayed a higher capacity for phagocytosis compared to NCM both in health and disease (Supplementary Fig. S6). In addition, M1-macrophages demonstrated increased frequency while CD11c⁺ DCs revealed decreased frequency in the periphery of patients with active SLE (Fig. 6B; Supplementary Figs. S7 and S8A). We also observed increased frequency of M1macrophage like NCM in SLE, indicating an amplified proinflammatory response (Fig. 6C; Supplementary Fig. S8B). Based on these findings, it can be inferred that NCM in the peripheral regions of individuals with SLE may adopt a macrophage phenotype resembling M1 characteristics, further adding to the inflammatory response and potential harm to vascular endothelium and tissues. In order to delineate the secretory phenotype of NCM in SLE, we sought to profile cytokine production in sorted NCM of patients with SLE and HI by assessing the release of various cytokines (IL-12p70, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-4, IL-10, IL-1β, Arginase, TARC, IL-1RA, IL-12p40, IL-23, IFN-y, IP-10) which have been involved in SLE pathogenesis and monocyte function. IL-16, IL-23, Arginase, and IL-10 levels were significantly upregulated in SLE NCM compared to HI, whereas IL-4 levels were significantly diminished (Fig. 6D; Supplementary Fig. S9). These data reiterate that NCM exhibit an activated macrophage-like and enriched M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype in the periphery of patients with active SLE. Since autophagy is essential for the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages [52] and thus enhance the differentiation potential of NCM in SLE, we next analyzed autophagy levels in sorted NCM from both HI and patients with active SLE. Indeed, we found upregulation of LC3 protein and a downregulation of p62 protein in patients with SLE compared to HI denoting enhanced autophagy in SLE NCM (Fig. 6E). Overall, these results suggest that enhanced autophagy may prevent SLE NCM from apoptosis and promote their skewing into a marked inflammatory phenotype.

4. Discussion

In this study, using proteomic and transcriptomic analyses of the three monocytic subsets from active SLE patients and HI, we provide evidence for an extensive perturbation of SLE NCM. Herein we report inflammatory features with type I IFN signature, complement and p53 pathway activation and metabolic deregulation with diminished oxidative phosphorylation and altered DNA repair of NCM of patients with active SLE. Our ex vivo data demonstrate that in SLE the NCM pathogenicity is characterized by increased DDR and p53 inflammatory responses, followed by G_0 cell cycle arrest and initiation of a differentiation program leading to enhanced autophagy and M1 macrophage polarization. We also provide evidence that enhanced autophagy may drive this differentiation process by preventing SLE NCM from apoptosis

and support skewing of polarization. Collectively, these findings establish a connection between the pro-inflammatory responses of NCM in SLE with an M1-macrophage like profile, further fueling the inflammatory environment in the periphery and possibly promoting vascular injury prior to their infiltration into tissues.

Monocytes have a central role in several autoimmune diseases, yet disease-specific signatures of monocytes in the context of SLE and the role of NCM in the periphery of patients with active SLE remain elusive. Recent evidence underscores a pathogenic role of NCM in SLE, by identifying TLR-activated NCM as primary regulators in the development of glomerular dysfunction and kidney injury, but delineation of the molecular events that dictate pathogenicity of NCM in both the periphery and target tissues are poorly understood [25]. Herein, we extend these observations by depicting inflammatory features, IFN response, metabolic alterations and extensive perturbation of NCM in the periphery of patients with active SLE both in the transcriptome and in the proteome level.

Monocytes are not a homogeneous cell population being divided in three distinct subsets with the IM transcriptome being close both to CM and NCM. We observed that NCM display more widespread gene expression changes in SLE compared to any other monocytic counterpart, with a large cluster of unique genes being differentially expressed only in this subset. These findings highlight the diversity of each monocytic subset and the bidirectional impact of the disease on the NCM. Enrichment analysis highlighted that all monocytic subsets display pathogenic features with enhanced inflammatory response, $IFN\alpha$ and IFNy response and cytokine signaling with activated IL2 STAT5 and IL6 JAK STAT3 cascades [53-56]. Single-cell RNA-seq data have revealed that SLE patients exhibit distinct cellular composition, with reduction of CD4⁺ T cells, monocytes, pDCs and increase of CD8⁺ T cells and B cells compared to healthy individuals. Moreover, monocytes represent the population with the largest fraction of high interferon stimulated gene expression signature in PBMCs. Enrichment of ISGexpressing monocytes was detected in patients of higher disease activity [57]. However, SLE NCM have a unique transcriptomic signature characterized - not only by increased inflammatory response and IFN α/γ signaling - but also by the elevated p53 pathway, mTORC1 signaling, and hypoxia. Disease-specific chromatin accessibility signatures characterize CD4⁺ T cells of lupus patients, correlating with severity. Specifically, transcriptional aberrations of regulatory T (Treg) cells, featuring type I interferon-related functional exhaustion has been described through single cell transcriptomics [58]. By applying this technology to a different target tissue (renal cells), various leukocyte subsets -active in disease- were mapped, such as myeloid cells, T cells, natural killer cells and B cells, exerting pro-inflammatory and inflammation-resolving responses. Highly important evidence of monocyte differentiation within the kidney add up to their pathogenetic role in lupus nephritis [59]. Importantly, single-cell data strengthen the hypothesis that on the transcriptional level, CM and NCM produced the most prominent type I IFN signature among other immune cell types, placing these cells as key modulators in disease pathogenesis [60]. Of note, p53 has been implicated in autoantibody production and progression of autoimmunity in lupus mice [61]. In addition, the activation of the mTORC1 signaling cascade and the abnormalities of autophagy are closely related with the proliferation and differentiation of immune cell subsets and inflammatory cytokine signaling contributing to the pathogenesis of SLE [62-64]. Inhibition of mTOR in SLE monocytes reduced IFNa production and STING expression leading to the amelioration of the disease [65]. In addition, renal hypoxia leads to increased infiltration of T cells in the kidney of lupus-prone mice resulting in tissue damage [66]. All these enriched pathways in the transcriptome signature of NCM underscore a proinflammatory phenotype and position this cell subset as key player in the progression of SLE.

In support of our transcriptomic data, analysis at the proteome level further highlighted a significant separation of monocytes in health and SLE. Protein expression analysis revealed a more pronounced





Е

CD11c





0

нı

SLE



CD64





0

Ĥ

SLE

LC3 / DAPI LAMP-1 / DAPI p62 / DAPI LC3 / LAMP-1 / p62 / DAPI 10 µm **** **** 80-15 LC3 puncta/cell Ξ p62 puncta/cell 10 5 10 um SLE 0 0 SLE HI SLE Ĥ

(caption on next page)

Fig. 6. Enhanced autophagy may prevent SLE NCM from apoptosis inducing their differentiation towards an M1-macrophage profile.

A. Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on $CD14^{dim}CD16^+$ cells for assessing activation, M1 polarization (CD80) and DC polarization (CD123, CD11c) in NCM of SLE patients and HI (n = 6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Representative histogram showing overlay of unstained cells (gray), stained SLE (blue), and HI (black) cells is depicted. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by Mann-Whitney Student's t-test, * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01. **B.** M1 macrophages frequencies of HI and SLE patients (n = 6 individuals per group). Representative plots of frequencies of M1 macrophages in SLE patients and HI, following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood, using flow cytometry. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by Unpaired Student's t-test, ** P < 0.01. **C.** M1-like macrophages frequencies of HI and SLE patients (n = 6 individuals per group). Representative plots of frequencies of frequencies of M1-like macrophages in SLE patients and HI, following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood, using flow cytometry. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by Unpaired Student's t-test, ** P < 0.01. **C.** M1-like macrophages frequencies of HI and SLE patients (n = 6 individuals per group). Representative plots of frequencies of M1-like macrophages in SLE patients and HI, following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood, using flow cytometry. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by Unpaired Student's t-test, ** P < 0.01. **D.** Detection of released cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-23, Arginase, IL-10, and IL-4) using LEGENDplex technology through flow cytometry at day 1 o cluture (n = 5 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained

See also Figs. S5, S6, S7, S8, and S9 and Table S1. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

perturbation of NCM in SLE compared to the other monocytic subsets. In particular, metabolism and cell cycle processes are downregulated, while inflammatory responses, cell development and differentiation are upregulated in SLE NCM. Binding analysis for the regulation of transcription revealed several TFs related to cell differentiation to bind and regulate the DEGs in SLE NCM. These TFs demonstrate altered expression levels as evidenced by SLE vs HI NCM proteomic and transcriptomic data. For instance, STAT1 being involved in M1-macrophage polarization was among the top enriched TFs that regulate DEGs in SLE NCM [42,67-69]. Moreover, RBM4 is downregulated in SLE NCM in our proteomic data; RBM4 expression suppresses polarization of macrophages towards an M1 phenotype, further supporting that this may coordinate cell identity during differentiation and cell cycle exit in SLE NCM [70]. Several other TFs that were found to regulate DEGs in SLE NCM such as IRF1, RAF1, and E2F1 are important regulators coordinating differentiation and cell cycle exit, a finding that underscores the interest of these pathways in SLE NCM [71-75]. In addition, the proteomic signature of the three monocytic subsets is also characterized by inflammatory features further validating the enriched transcriptomic pathways. Interestingly, SLE NCM displayed enriched complement, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and IFN responses and diminished oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), fatty acid metabolism (FAM) and DNA repair. EMT contributes to the development of fibrosis and it has been a feature of kidney damage in SLE [76-78]. NCM have an EMT signature in SLE suggesting that these cells may have proteins that interact with epithelial cells in the kidney mediating organ fibrosis and tissue damage. Mitochondrial OXPHOS and FAM is reduced in proinflammatory M1 macrophages which rely for their metabolic needs on glycolysis, blocking their conversion into an alternative/antiinflammatory M2 phenotype [79,80]. Defective DNA repair and DNA damage is associated with an autoimmune phenotype and the development of SLE [81-85]. NCM seem to have a defective DNA repair, making them more susceptible to DNA damage and genomic instability. These signatures in SLE NCM highlight their inflammatory phenotype and imply their distinct metabolic needs within the autoimmune environment.

In our study, SLE NCM exhibit exacerbated DDR and increased levels of p53, supporting the enriched inflammatory responses, activation of p53 pathway and altered DNA repair observed in the proteomic and transcriptomic signatures. In addition, SLE NCM demonstrated decreased frequency in the periphery of patients with active SLE which was further validated in murine lupus peripheral monocytic subsets. The lower numbers of circulating NCM in the blood of patients may be associated with their harmful recruitment in several tissue targets including the liver as observed in patients with alcoholic hepatitis (AH) [86]. The interplay of immune cells in tissues is pivotal for the development of SLE, where the liver is a top causal tissue while NCM have been shown to play great role in SLE nephritic damage [25,87]. Of note,

we have found that NCM are increased in the periphery of active PsA patients, providing additional evidence that the decreased frequency of NCM is specific to SLE and not secondary to the inflammatory milieu [88]. Since DNA repair is deregulated and DDR is enriched in SLE NCM, and these cascades are linked with cell cycle, we examined the cell cycle which is also altered in the proteomic signature of SLE NCM. SLE NCM accumulate in the G₀ phase of the cell cycle, suggesting initiation of a differentiation program. This has been demonstrated in Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSCs) which are capable of differentiation into restricted progenitors, such as common myeloid progenitors, without entering the S phase of the cell cycle and undergoing cell division [48]. During terminal differentiation, most cells exit the cell cycle and enter a prolonged or permanent G₀ cell cycle arrest [47]. A link between monocyte to macrophage differentiation and induction of cell cycle arrest has been established [49]. The enhanced DNA damage and cell cycle arrest underlie a differentiation and developmental status of NCM in the inflammatory environment of SLE.

Since the proteomic signature of SLE NCM denotes a differentiation and developmental process – a finding further validated from our ex vivo studies, we next mapped the differentiation potential of these cells. SLE NCM display enhanced polarization towards an M1 phenotype, as evidenced by elevated expression levels of CD80, while exhibiting a reduced polarization towards the dendritic cell phenotype, as indicated by decreased expression levels of CD11c and CD123. This is a specific feature for SLE NCM, as the other two monocytic subsets did not display altered levels of these surface markers. Among the various immune cell populations examined, M1 macrophages demonstrated increased frequency whereas CD11c⁺ DCs displayed decreased frequency in the periphery of individuals with active SLE. Our findings suggest that SLE NCM adopt a phenotype resembling M1 macrophages, further supporting the heightened pro-inflammatory responses. NCM secrete proinflammatory M1 cytokines such as IL-1 β (also increased in the transcriptomic analysis only in SLE NCM), IL-23, and Arginase, supporting the inflammatory potential of NCM in the periphery of patients with active SLE. Monocytes act as a bridge, linking mononuclear phagocyte precursors in the bone marrow (BM) with terminally differentiated mononuclear cells [89,90]. Emerging literature implicates autophagy as a key regulatory pathway in preventing monocytes from apoptosis and inducing their differentiation towards macrophages [52]. Enhanced autophagy in SLE NCM may prevent these cells from apoptosis and induce their differentiation towards an M1-macrophage like profile in the disease. The differentiation journey of the monocyte/macrophage lineage begins from molecular switching that unfolds in the periphery, but in the context of the disease their relation to resident or infiltrating cells is yet to be thoroughly depicted [91–93].

There remain some limitations in the present study that leave questions to be tackled in future endeavors. Although we used flow cytometry to purify monocytic subsets, we employed bulk RNA- sequencing technology- thus we cannot exclude the possibility that there is even greater heterogeneity inside each subset, yet to be described. Single studies on the already defined subsets of monocytes will add greater detail in the future. Because of the limited number of cells, we were unable to perform both transcriptome and proteome analysis in the same patients and healthy individuals. Patients had received a variety of therapies in the past although recent cytotoxic or glucocorticosteroid administration was avoided. Finally, we studied Caucasians in this study, so we cannot generalize our results to other ethnic groups. Notwithstanding these limitations, this is the first comprehensive transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of the three known subsets of peripheral monocytes in SLE combined with functional data and studies in animal models.

In conclusion, our study provides unique insights into the molecular signatures of SLE monocytes. We report here a distinct proteomic and transcriptomic profile of NCM of patients with active SLE with enhanced inflammatory features and extensive perturbation. The pathogenic profile of SLE NCM is characterized by deregulated DNA repair, cell cycle and enhanced IFN signaling, together with cell differentiation and developmental cues. Experimental screening underlined activation of p53 pathway and increased DDR in parallel with G₀ cell cycle arrest of SLE NCM corroborating initiation of a differentiation program. This defective profile of NCM of patients with SLE is linked with an activated macrophage-like and enriched M1 pro-inflammatory response. Our results suggest that enhanced autophagy may prevent SLE NCM from apoptosis and may support their skewing towards differentiation into a macrophage phenotype with M1 characteristics contributing to the inflammatory environment in the periphery where they may be damaging the endothelium prior to their migration to the tissue. Endothelial injury is a prominent feature of SLE linked vasculopathy in various tissues including blood vessels, brain, skin and kidneys [93,94]. Our findings highlight the importance of elucidating the molecular pathways that dominate each cell type in SLE in order to better map their functions in the disease and effectively target autoimmunity.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2023.109765.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: E.M.S., T.M., D.T.B., and A.B. Performed experiments: E.M.S., and M.S. Data analysis: E.M.S., G.S., and M.S. Data interpretation: E.M.S., T.M., D.T.B., and A.B. Human sample collection: N.K., A.F, and D.T.B. Project administration: D.T.B. Supervision: D.T.B. and A.B. Writing - original draft: E.M.S. Writing - review & editing: E.M. S., T.M., D.T.B., and A.B.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (agreement no. 742390) to D.T.B., and Operational Programme "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (NSRF 2014–2020) co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Regional Development Fund) to M.S.

Declaration of Competing Interest

Funders were not involved in the study design, data collection, and analysis, interpretation, or preparation of this manuscript. The authors declare no competing interests.

Data availability

All data needed to evaluate the conclusions in the paper are present in the paper and/or the Supplementary Materials. The RNA-seq datasets for this study have been deposited in the European Genome-Phenome Archive under study number EGAS00001007304. The mass spectrometry proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE partner repository with the dataset identifier PXD042539 [38].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank MDs S. Flouda and E. Sampatakaki and RN A. Stergioti for assisting with sample collection; G. Vatsellas and G. Panagopoulos from the Greek Genome Center, BRFAA for the RNAsequencing experiment; A. Apostolidou from the Flow Cytometry Facility, BRFAA and M. Grigoriou for cell sorting; E. Rigana and T. Delis for providing assistance with confocal and Aurox microscopy. We acknowledge support of this work by the project "The Greek Research Infrastructure for Personalised Medicine (pMED-GR)" (MIS 5002802) which is implemented under the Action "Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure", funded by the Operational Programme "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (NSRF 2014-2020) and co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Regional Development Fund). We also acknowledge support of this work by computational time granted from the National Infrastructures for Research and Technology S.A. (GRNET S.A.) in the National HPC facility - ARIS - under project ID pr011006_taskp-BIOSLE.

References

- T.S. Kapellos, L. Bonaguro, I. Gemünd, N. Reusch, A. Saglam, E.R. Hinkley, J. L. Schultze, Human monocyte subsets and phenotypes in major chronic inflammatory diseases, Front. Immunol. 10 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2019.02035.
- [2] A.A. Patel, Y. Zhang, J.N. Fullerton, L. Boelen, A. Rongvaux, A.A. Maini, V. Bigley, R.A. Flavell, D.W. Gilroy, B. Asquith, D. Macallan, S. Yona, The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation, J. Exp. Med. 214 (2017) 1913–1923, https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20170355.
- [3] S. Yona, K.-W. Kim, Y. Wolf, A. Mildner, D. Varol, M. Breker, D. Strauss-Ayali, S. Viukov, M. Guilliams, A. Misharin, D.A. Hume, H. Perlman, B. Malissen, E. Zelzer, S. Jung, Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis, Immunity. 38 (2013) 79–91, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.12.001.
- [4] R.N. Hanna, L.M. Carlin, H.G. Hubbeling, D. Nackiewicz, A.M. Green, J.A. Punt, F. Geissmann, C.C. Hedrick, The transcription factor NR4A1 (Nur77) controls bone marrow differentiation and the survival of Ly6C– monocytes, Nat. Immunol. 12 (2011) 778–785, https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2063.
- [5] K.L. Wong, J.J.-Y. Tai, W.-C. Wong, H. Han, X. Sem, W.-H. Yeap, P. Kourilsky, S.-C. Wong, Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets, Blood. 118 (2011) e16–e31, https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326355.
- [6] A.A. Patel, F. Ginhoux, S. Yona, Monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and neutrophils: an update on lifespan kinetics in health and disease, Immunology. 163 (2021) 250–261, https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.13320.
- [7] A.N. Orekhov, V.A. Orekhova, N.G. Nikiforov, V.A. Myasoedova, A.V. Grechko, E. B. Romanenko, D. Zhang, D.A. Chistiakov, Monocyte differentiation and macrophage polarization, Vessel Plus. 2019 (2019), https://doi.org/10.20517/2574-1209.2019.04.
- [8] C. Qu, N.-S. Brinck-Jensen, M. Zang, K. Chen, Monocyte-derived dendritic cells: targets as potent antigen-presenting cells for the design of vaccines against infectious diseases, Int. J. Infect. Dis. 19 (2014) 1–5, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijid.2013.09.023.
- R.M. Kratofil, P. Kubes, J.F. Deniset, Monocyte conversion during inflammation and injury, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 37 (2017) 35–42, https://doi.org/ 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308198.
- [10] G.C. Tsokos, M.S. Lo, P.C. Reis, K.E. Sullivan, New insights into the immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 12 (2016) 716–730, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2016.186.
- [11] A. Kaul, C. Gordon, M.K. Crow, Z. Touma, M.B. Urowitz, R. van Vollenhoven, G. Ruiz-Irastorza, G. Hughes, Systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 2 (2016) 16039, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2016.39.
- [12] A. Fanouriakis, N. Tziolos, G. Bertsias, D.T. Boumpas, Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 80 (2021) 14–25, https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218272.
- [13] E. Pieterse, J. van der Vlag, Breaking immunological tolerance in systemic lupus erythematosus, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014), https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00164.
- [14] S. Gupta, M.J. Kaplan, Bite of the wolf: innate immune responses propagate autoimmunity in lupus, J. Clin. Investig. 131 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI144918.
- [15] S. Hirose, Q. Lin, M. Ohtsuji, H. Nishimura, J.S. Verbeek, Monocyte subsets involved in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid

E.M. Stergioti et al.

arthritis, Int. Immunol. 31 (2019) 687–696, https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/ dxz036.

- [16] Z. Jin, W. Fan, M.A. Jensen, J.M. Dorschner, G.F. Bonadurer, D.M. Vsetecka, S. Amin, A. Makol, F. Ernste, T. Osborn, K. Moder, V. Chowdhary, T.B. Niewold, Single-cell gene expression patterns in lupus monocytes independently indicate disease activity, interferon and therapy, Lupus Sci. Med. 4 (2017), e000202, https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2016-000202.
- [17] H. Zhu, F. Hu, X. Sun, X. Zhang, L. Zhu, X. Liu, X. Li, L. Xu, L. Shi, Y. Gan, Y. Su, CD16+ monocyte subset was enriched and functionally exacerbated in driving Tcell activation and B-cell response in systemic lupus erythematosus, Front. Immunol. 7 (2016), https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00512.
- [18] K. Nakatani, S. Yoshimoto, M. Iwano, O. Asai, K. Samejima, H. Sakan, M. Terada, H. Hasegawa, M. Nose, Y. Saito, Fractalkine expression and CD16⁺ monocyte accumulation in glomerular lesions: association with their severity and diversity in lupus models, American J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 299 (2010) F207–F216, https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00482.2009.
- [19] A. Bergtold, A. Gavhane, V. D'Agati, M. Madaio, R. Clynes, FcR-bearing myeloid cells are responsible for triggering murine lupus nephritis, J. Immunol. 177 (2006) 7287–7295, https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7287.
- [20] T. Wada, K. Furuichi, C. Segawa-Takaeda, M. Shimizu, N. Sakai, S.-I. Takeda, K. Takasawa, H. Kida, K.-I. Kobayashi, N. Mukaida, Y. Ohmoto, K. Matsushima, H. Yokoyama, MIP-1α and MCP-1 contribute to crescents and interstitial lesions in human crescentic glomerulonephritis, Kidney Int. 56 (1999) 995–1003, https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00646.x.
- [21] A. Puchner, V. Saferding, M. Bonelli, Y. Mikami, M. Hofmann, J.S. Brunner, M. Caldera, E. Goncalves-Alves, N.B. Binder, A. Fischer, E. Simader, C.-W. Steiner, H. Leiss, S. Hayer, B. Niederreiter, T. Karonitsch, M.I. Koenders, B.K. Podesser, J. J. O'Shea, J. Menche, J.S. Smolen, K. Redlich, S. Blüml, Non-classical monocytes as mediators of tissue destruction in arthritis, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 77 (2018) 1490–1497, https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213250.
- [22] G. Thomas, R. Tacke, C.C. Hedrick, R.N. Hanna, Nonclassical patrolling monocyte function in the vasculature, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35 (2015) 1306–1316, https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304650.
- [23] Billi, C. Allison, et al., Nonlesional lupus skin contributes to inflammatory education of myeloid cells and primes for cutaneous inflammation, Science translational medicine 14 (2022) 642, https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. abn2263, eabn2263.
- [24] A.V. Misharin, C.M. Cuda, R. Saber, J.D. Turner, A.K. Gierut, G.K. Haines, S. Berdnikovs, A. Filer, A.R. Clark, C.D. Buckley, G.M. Mutlu, G.R.S. Budinger, H. Perlman, Nonclassical Ly6C- monocytes drive the development of inflammatory arthritis in mice, Cell Rep. 9 (2014) 591–604, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.032.
- [25] J. Kuriakose, V. Redecke, C. Guy, J. Zhou, R. Wu, S.K. Ippagunta, H. Tillman, P. D. Walker, P. Vogel, H. Häcker, Patrolling monocytes promote the pathogenesis of early lupus-like glomerulonephritis, J. Clin. Investig. 129 (2019) 2251–2265, https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI125116.
- [26] S. Andrews, FastQC A Quality Control Tool for High Throughput Sequence Data, Available from: https://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/, 2023.
- [27] M. Martin, Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads, EMBnet J. 17 (1) (2011) 10–12 [Internet]. Available from: http://www-h uber.embl.de/users/an-.
- [28] A. Dobin, C.A. Davis, F. Schlesinger, J. Drenkow, C. Zaleski, S. Jha, et al., STAR: Ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner, Bioinformatics 29 (1) (2013 Jan) 15–21.
- [29] A. Frankish, M. Diekhans, I. Jungreis, J. Lagarde, J.E. Loveland, J.M. Mudge, et al., GENCODE 2021, Nucleic Acids Res. 49 (D1) (2021 Jan 8). D916–23.
- [30] P. Danecek, J.K. Bonfield, J. Liddle, J. Marshall, V. Ohan, M.O. Pollard, et al., Twelve years of SAMtools and BCFtools, Gigascience 10 (2) (2021 Feb 1).
- [31] S. Anders, P.T. Pyl, W. Huber, HTSeq-A Python framework to work with highthroughput sequencing data, Bioinformatics 31 (2) (2015 Jan 15) 166–169.
- [32] M.D. Robinson, D.J. McCarthy, G.K. Smyth, edgeR: A Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data, Bioinformatics 26 (1) (2009 Nov 11) 139–140.
- [33] R Core Team, R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Founfation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2022.
- [34] H. Wickham, ggplot2, Springer New York, New York, NY, 2009.
- [35] A. Liberzon, C. Birger, H. Thorvaldsdóttir, M. Ghandi, J.P. Mesirov, P. Tamayo, The Molecular Signatures Database Hallmark Gene Set Collection, Cell Syst. 1 (6) (2015 Dec 23) 417–425.
- [36] A. Subramanian, P. Tamayo, V.K. Mootha, S. Mukherjee, B.L. Ebert, M.A. Gillette, et al., Gene Set Enrichment Analysis: A Knowledge-Based Approach for Interpreting Genome-Wide Expression Profiles [Internet], Available from: www. pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0506580102, 2005.
- [37] S. Wang, C. Zang, T. Xiao, J. Fan, S. Mei, Q. Qin, Q. Wu, X. Li, K. Xu, H.H. He, M. Brown, C.A. Meyer, X.S. Liu, Modeling *cis* -regulation with a compendium of genome-wide histone H3K27ac profiles, Genome Res. 26 (2016) 1417–1429, https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.201574.115.
- [38] Y. Perez-Riverol, J. Bai, C. Bandla, D. García-Seisdedos, S. Hewapathirana, S. Kamatchinathan, D.J. Kundu, A. Prakash, A. Frericks-Zipper, M. Eisenacher, M. Walzer, S. Wang, A. Brazma, J.A. Vizcaíno, The PRIDE database resources in 2022: a hub for mass spectrometry-based proteomics evidences, Nucleic Acids Res. 50 (2022) D543–D552, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1038.
- [39] Z. Luo, M. Tian, G. Yang, Q. Tan, Y. Chen, G. Li, Q. Zhang, Y. Li, P. Wan, J. Wu, Hypoxia signaling in human health and diseases: implications and prospects for therapeutics, Signal. Transduct. Target. Ther. 7 (2022) 218, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41392-022-01080-1.

- [40] S.E. Corcoran, L.A.J. O'Neill, HIF1α and metabolic reprogramming in inflammation, J. Clin. Investig. 126 (2016) 3699–3707, https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI84431.
- [41] Z. Wang, M. Civelek, C.L. Miller, N.C. Sheffield, M.J. Guertin, C. Zang, BART: a transcription factor prediction tool with query gene sets or epigenomic profiles, Bioinformatics. 34 (2018) 2867–2869, https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/ bty194.
- [42] T. Liang, J. Chen, G. Xu, Z. Zhang, J. Xue, H. Zeng, J. Jiang, T. Chen, Z. Qin, H. Li, Z. Ye, Y. Nie, C. Liu, X. Zhan, STAT1 and CXCL10 involve in M1 macrophage polarization that may affect osteolysis and bone remodeling in extrapulmonary tuberculosis, Gene. 809 (2022), 146040, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gene.2021.146040.
- [43] C. Xie, C. Liu, B. Wu, Y. Lin, T. Ma, H. Xiong, Q. Wang, Z. Li, C. Ma, Z. Tu, Effects of IRF1 and IFN-β interaction on the M1 polarization of macrophages and its antitumor function, Int. J. Mol. Med. 38 (2016) 148–160, https://doi.org/ 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2583.
- [44] Y. Abuetabh, H.H. Wu, C. Chai, H. Al Yousef, S. Persad, C.M. Sergi, R. Leng, DNA damage response revisited: the p53 family and its regulators provide endless cancer therapy opportunities, Exp. Mol. Med. 54 (2022) 1658–1669, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s12276-022-00863-4.
- [45] H.-L. Ou, B. Schumacher, DNA damage responses and p53 in the aging process, Blood. 131 (2018) 488–495, https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-07-746396.
- [46] K. Engeland, Cell cycle arrest through indirect transcriptional repression by p53: I have a DREAM, Cell Death Differ. 25 (2018) 114–132, https://doi.org/10.1038/ cdd.2017.172.
- [47] Y. Ma, D.J. McKay, L. Buttitta, Changes in chromatin accessibility ensure robust cell cycle exit in terminally differentiated cells, PLoS Biol. 17 (2019), e3000378, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000378.
- [48] T. Grinenko, A. Eugster, L. Thielecke, B. Ramasz, A. Krüger, S. Dietz, I. Glauche, A. Gerbaulet, M. von Bonin, O. Basak, H. Clevers, T. Chavakis, B. Wielockx, Hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into restricted myeloid progenitors before cell division in mice, Nat. Commun. 9 (2018) 1898, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-018-04188-7.
- [49] R. Lu, P.M. Pitha, Monocyte differentiation to macrophage requires interferon regulatory factor 7, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 45491–45496, https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.C100421200.
- [50] B.O. Fabriek, R. van Bruggen, D.M. Deng, A.J.M. Ligtenberg, K. Nazmi, K. Schornagel, R.P.M. Vloet, C.D. Dijkstra, T.K. van den Berg, The macrophage scavenger receptor CD163 functions as an innate immune sensor for bacteria, Blood. 113 (2009) 887–892, https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-07-167064.
- [51] J. Kneidl, B. Löffler, M.C. Erat, J. Kalinka, G. Peters, J. Roth, K. Barczyk, Soluble CD163 promotes recognition, phagocytosis and killing of Staphylococcus aureus via binding of specific fibronectin peptides, Cell. Microbiol. 14 (2012) 914–936, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2012.01766.x.
- [52] Y. Zhang, M.J. Morgan, K. Chen, S. Choksi, Z. Liu, Induction of autophagy is essential for monocyte-macrophage differentiation, Blood. 119 (2012) 2895–2905, https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-08-372383.
- [53] A. Goropevšek, M. Holcar, A. Pahor, T. Avčin, STAT signaling as a marker of SLE disease severity and implications for clinical therapy, Autoimmun. Rev. 18 (2019) 144–154, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2018.08.010.
- [54] N. Jacob, W. Stohl, Cytokine disturbances in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthrit. Res. Ther. 13 (2011) 228, https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3349.
- [55] L.S. Davis, J. Hutcheson, C. Mohan, The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis and treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus, J. Interf. Cytokine Res. 31 (2011) 781–789, https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2011.0047.
- [56] Z. Zhang, K. Maurer, J.C. Perin, L. Song, K.E. Sullivan, Cytokine-induced monocyte characteristics in SLE, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2010 (2010) 1–13, https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2010/507475.
- [57] D. Nehar-Belaid, S. Hong, R. Marches, G. Chen, M. Bolisetty, J. Baisch, L. Walters, M. Punaro, R.J. Rossi, C.-H. Chung, R.P. Huynh, P. Singh, W.F. Flynn, J.-A. Tabanor-Gayle, N. Kuchipudi, A. Mejias, M.A. Collet, A.L. Lucido, K. Palucka, P. Robson, S. Lakshminarayanan, O. Ramilo, T. Wright, V. Pascual, J. F. Banchereau, Mapping systemic lupus erythematosus heterogeneity at the singlecell level, Nat. Immunol. 21 (2020) 1094–1106, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0743-0.
- [58] C. Guo, Q. Liu, D. Zong, W. Zhang, Z. Zuo, Q. Yu, Q. Sha, L. Zhu, X. Gao, J. Fang, J. Tao, Q. Wu, X. Li, K. Qu, Single-cell transcriptome profiling and chromatin accessibility reveal an exhausted regulatory CD4+ T cell subset in systemic lupus erythematosus, Cell Rep. 41 (2022), 111606, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2022.111606.
- [59] R.K. Perez, M.G. Gordon, M. Subramaniam, M.C. Kim, G.C. Hartoularos, S. Targ, Y. Sun, A. Ogorodnikov, R. Bueno, A. Lu, M. Thompson, N. Rappoport, A. Dahl, C. M. Lanata, M. Matloubian, L. Maliskova, S.S. Kwek, T. Li, M. Slyper, J. Waldman, D. Dionne, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, L. Fong, M. Dall'Era, B. Balliu, A. Regev, J. Yazdany, L.A. Criswell, N. Zaitlen, C.J. Ye, Single-cell RNA-seq reveals cell type–specific molecular and genetic associations to lupus, Science 376 (2022) (1979), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf1970.
- [60] A. Kuan, P. Cohen, p53 is required for spontaneous autoantibody production in B6/ lpr lupus mice, Eur. J. Immunol. 35 (2005) 1653–1660, https://doi.org/10.1002/ eji.200525982.
- [61] J. He, J. Ma, B. Ren, A. Liu, Advances in systemic lupus erythematosus pathogenesis via mTOR signaling pathway, Semin. Arthritis Rheum. 50 (2020) 314–320, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2019.09.022.
- [62] Z. Oaks, T. Winans, N. Huang, K. Banki, A. Perl, Activation of the mechanistic target of rapamycin in SLE: explosion of evidence in the last five years, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 18 (2016) 73, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-016-0622-8.

- [63] D. Fernandez, A. Perl, mTOR signaling: a central pathway to pathogenesis in systemic lupus erythematosus? Discov. Med. 9 (2010) 173–178.
- [64] G. Murayama, A. Chiba, T. Kuga, A. Makiyama, K. Yamaji, N. Tamura, S. Miyake, Inhibition of mTOR suppresses IFNα production and the STING pathway in monocytes from systemic lupus erythematosus patients, Rheumatology. 59 (2020) 2992–3002, https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keaa060.
- [65] P.-M. Chen, P.C. Wilson, J.A. Shyer, M. Veselits, H.R. Steach, C. Cui, G. Moeckel, M.R. Clark, J. Craft, Kidney tissue hypoxia dictates T cell-mediated injury in murine lupus nephritis, Sci. Transl. Med. 12 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.aay1620.
- [66] Y.-B. Liang, H. Tang, Z.-B. Chen, L.-J. Zeng, J.-G. Wu, W. Yang, Z.-Y. Li, Z.-F. Ma, Downregulated SOCS1 expression activates the JAK1/STAT1 pathway and promotes polarization of macrophages into M1 type, Mol. Med. Rep. 16 (2017) 6405–6411, https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.7384.
- [67] Z.-S. Gan, Q.-Q. Wang, J.-H. Li, X.-L. Wang, Y.-Z. Wang, H.-H. Du, Iron reduces M1 macrophage polarization in RAW264.7 macrophages associated with inhibition of STAT1, Mediat. Inflamm. 2017 (2017) 1–9, https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/ 8570818.
- [68] K. Molawi, M.H. Sieweke, Transcriptional Control of Macrophage Identity, Self-Renewal, and Function, 2013, pp. 269–300, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00010-7.
- [69] N. Huangfu, W. Zheng, Z. Xu, S. Wang, Y. Wang, J. Cheng, Z. Li, K. Cheng, S. Zhang, X. Chen, J. Zhu, RBM4 regulates M1 macrophages polarization through targeting STAT1-mediated glycolysis, Int. Immunopharmacol. 83 (2020), 106432, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106432.
- [70] K. Theilgaard-Mönch, S. Pundhir, K. Reckzeh, J. Su, M. Tapia, B. Furtwängler, J. Jendholm, J.S. Jakobsen, M.S. Hasemann, K.J. Knudsen, J.B. Cowland, A. Fossum, E. Schoof, M.B. Schuster, B.T. Porse, Transcription factor-driven coordination of cell cycle exit and lineage-specification in vivo during granulocytic differentiation, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 3595, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31332-1.
- [71] C. Xie, C. Liu, B. Wu, Y. Lin, T. Ma, H. Xiong, Q. Wang, Z. Li, C. Ma, Z. Tu, Effects of IRF1 and IFN-β interaction on the M1 polarization of macrophages and its antitumor function, Int. J. Mol. Med. 38 (2016) 148–160, https://doi.org/ 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2583.
- [72] W.M. Geil, A. Yen, Nuclear Raf-1 kinase regulates the CXCR5 promoter by associating with NFATc3 to drive retinoic acid-induced leukemic cell differentiation, FEBS J. 281 (2014) 1170–1180, https://doi.org/10.1111/ febs.12693.
- [73] L. Magri, V.A. Swiss, B. Jablonska, L. Lei, X. Pedre, M. Walsh, W. Zhang, V. Gallo, P. Canoll, P. Casaccia, E2F1 Coregulates cell cycle genes and chromatin components during the transition of oligodendrocyte progenitors from proliferation to differentiation, J. Neurosci. 34 (2014) 1481–1493, https://doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2840-13.2014.
- [74] G. Thiel, M. Ekici, O.G. Rössler, Regulation of cellular proliferation, differentiation and cell death by activated Raf, Cell Communicat. Signal. 7 (2009) 8, https://doi. org/10.1186/1478-811X-7-8.
- [75] M. Sisto, D. Ribatti, S. Lisi, Organ fibrosis and autoimmunity: the role of inflammation in TGFβ-dependent EMT, Biomolecules. 11 (2021) 310, https://doi. org/10.3390/biom11020310.
- [76] C.E. Hills, P.E. Squires, The role of TGF-β and epithelial-to mesenchymal transition in diabetic nephropathy, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. (2011), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.06.002.
- [77] Y. Liu, Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in renal Fibrogenesis, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 15 (2004) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000106015.29070. E7.
- [78] Y. Liu, R. Xu, H. Gu, E. Zhang, J. Qu, W. Cao, X. Huang, H. Yan, J. He, Z. Cai, Metabolic reprogramming in macrophage responses, Biomark Res. 9 (2021) 1, https://doi.org/10.1186/s40364-020-00251-y.
- [79] J. Qing, Z. Zhang, P. Novák, G. Zhao, K. Yin, Mitochondrial metabolism in regulating macrophage polarization: an emerging regulator of metabolic inflammatory diseases, Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. Shanghai 52 (2020) 917–926, https://doi.org/10.1093/abbs/gmaa081.

- [80] T. Manolakou, P. Verginis, D.T. Boumpas, DNA damage response in the adaptive arm of the immune system: implications for autoimmunity, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (2021) 5842, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22115842.
- [81] M.P. Mireles-Canales, S.A. González-Chávez, C.M. Quiñonez-Flores, E.A. León-López, C. Pacheco-Tena, DNA damage and deficiencies in the mechanisms of its repair: implications in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, J Immunol Res 2018 (2018) 1–18, https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8214379.
- [82] R. Meas, M.J. Burak, J.B. Sweasy, DNA repair and systemic lupus erythematosus, DNA Repair (Amst) 56 (2017) 174–182, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dnarep.2017.06.020.
- [83] A.G. Senejani, Y. Liu, D. Kidane, S.E. Maher, C.J. Zeiss, H.-J. Park, M. Kashgarian, J.M. McNiff, D. Zelterman, A.L.M. Bothwell, J.B. Sweasy, Mutation of POLB causes lupus in mice, Cell Rep. 6 (2014) 1–8, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2013.12.017.
- [84] R.C. Davies, K. Pettijohn, F. Fike, J. Wang, S.A. Nahas, R. Tunuguntla, H. Hu, R. A. Gatti, D. McCurdy, Defective DNA double-strand break repair in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 64 (2012) 568–578, https://doi.org/10.1002/art.33334.
- [85] E.B. Rasmussen, L.L. Eriksen, S.R. Greisen, A.L. Hansen, M. Carstensen, T. D. Sandahl, S. Støy, T.W. Kragstrup, Diminished non-classical monocytes in the blood associate with disease severity in alcoholic hepatitis, Clin. Exp. Gastroenterol. 14 (2021) 259–267, https://doi.org/10.2147/CEG.S299775.
- [86] N.I. Panousis, G.K. Bertsias, H. Ongen, I. Gergianaki, M.G. Tektonidou, M. Trachana, L. Romano-Palumbo, D. Bielser, C. Howald, C. Pamfil, A. Fanouriakis, D. Kosmara, A. Repa, P. Sidiropoulos, E.T. Dermitzakis, D.T. Boumpas, Combined genetic and transcriptome analysis of patients with SLE: distinct, targetable signatures for susceptibility and severity, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 78 (2019) 1079–1089, https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214379.
- [87] A. Grivas, M. Grigoriou, N. Malissovas, G. Sentis, A. Filia, S. Flouda, P. Katsimpri, P. Verginis, D.T. Boumpas, Combined – whole blood and skin fibroblaststranscriptomic analysis in psoriatic arthritis reveals molecular signatures of activity, resistance and early response to treatment, Front. Immunol. 13 (2022), https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.964274.
- [88] M. Guilliams, A. Mildner, S. Yona, Developmental and functional heterogeneity of monocytes, Immunity. 49 (2018) 595–613, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. immuni.2018.10.005.
- [89] P. Italiani, D. Boraschi, From monocytes to M1/M2 macrophages: phenotypical vs. functional differentiation, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014), https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00514.
- [90] S. Wallner, C. Schröder, E. Leitão, T. Berulava, C. Haak, D. Beißer, S. Rahmann, A. S. Richter, T. Manke, U. Bönisch, L. Arrigoni, S. Fröhler, F. Klironomos, W. Chen, N. Rajewsky, F. Müller, P. Ebert, T. Lengauer, M. Barann, P. Rosenstiel, G. Gasparoni, K. Nordström, J. Walter, B. Brors, G. Zipprich, B. Felder, L. Klein-Hitpass, C. Attenberger, G. Schmitz, B. Horsthemke, Epigenetic dynamics of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation, Epigenetics Chromatin 9 (2016) 33, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-016-0079-z.
- [91] M.A. Hoeksema, M.P.J. de Winther, Epigenetic regulation of monocyte and macrophage function, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 25 (2016) 758–774, https://doi. org/10.1089/ars.2016.6695.
- [92] S. Saeed, J. Quintin, H.H.D. Kerstens, N.A. Rao, A. Aghajanirefah, F. Matarese, S.-C. Cheng, J. Ratter, K. Berentsen, M.A. van der Ent, N. Sharifi, E.M. Janssen-Megens, M. Ter Huurne, A. Mandoli, T. van Schaik, A. Ng, F. Burden, K. Downes, M. Frontini, V. Kumar, E.J. Giamarellos-Bourboulis, W.H. Ouwehand, J.W.M. van der Meer, L.A.B. Joosten, C. Wijmenga, J.H.A. Martens, R.J. Xavier, C. Logie, M. G. Netea, H.G. Stunnenberg, Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity, Science (1979) 345 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251086.
- [93] L. Moschetti, S. Piantoni, E. Vizzardi, E. Sciatti, M. Riccardi, F. Franceschini, I. Cavazzana, Endothelial dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus and systemic sclerosis: a common trigger for different microvascular diseases, Front. Med. (Lausanne). 9 (2022), https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.849086.
- [94] A. Fanouriakis, N. Tziolos, G. Bertsias, D.T. Boumpas, Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 80 (2021) 14–25, https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218272.

Supplementary Information

Transcriptomic and proteomic profiling reveals distinct pathogenic features of peripheral non-classical monocytes in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Eirini Maria Stergioti,^{a,b}* Theodora Manolakou,^a George Sentis,^a Martina Samiotaki,^c Noemin Kapsala,^b Antonis Fanouriakis,^b Dimitrios T. Boumpas,^{a,I}* and Aggelos Banos^{a,I}*

^aLaboratory of Autoimmunity and Inflammation, Center of Clinical, Experimental Surgery and Translational Research, Biomedical Research Foundation Academy of Athens, 115 27 Athens, Greece

^b4th Department of Internal Medicine, Attikon University Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, 124 62 Athens, Greece

^cInstitute for Bioinnovation, Biomedical Sciences Research Center Alexander Fleming, 166 72 Vari, Athens, Greece

*Corresponding authors: <u>eirinister@yahoo.gr</u> (E.M.S), <u>dboumpas@bioacademy.gr</u> (D.T.B.), <u>abanos@bioacademy.gr</u> (A.B.) ^I These authors contributed equally to this work.

Contents	Page
Supplementary Figure S1. Distinct transcriptomic profile of NCM compared to	2
any other monocytic subset in health and SLE.	2
Supplementary Figure S2. Distinct proteomic profile of all monocytic subsets	3
in health and SLE.	4
Supplementary Figure S3. NCM of lupus-diseased mice exhibit	4
decreased frequency in the peripheral blood.	5
Supplementary Figure S4. DNA damage and cell cycle arrest are distinct features of SLE NCM pathogenicity.	5
Supplementary Figure S5. M1 polarization and activation is a specific feature of SLE NCM.	6
Supplementary Figure S6. CM are highly phagocytic compared to NCM both in health and S	
Supplementary Figure S0. Contact inging phagocytic compared to New both in nearth and S Supplementary Figure S7. Representative flow cytometry gating strategy	8
for identification of immune cell subsets.	0
Supplementary Figure S8. Frequencies of the investigated immune cell types.	9
Supplementary Figure S9. SLE NCM do not secret anti-inflammatory cytokines.	10
Legends for tables S1 to S3	11
Supplementary Table S1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of SLE patients and healthy individuals included in this study	provided in xlsx form
Supplementary Table S2. List of gene ontology (GO) analyses in the transcriptomic data in all monocytic subsets in SLE compared to HI	provided in xlsx form
Supplementary Table S3. List of gene ontology (GO) analyses in the proteomic data in all monocytic subsets in SLE compared to HI	provided in xlsx form



в





Supplementary Figure S1. Distinct transcriptomic profile of NCM compared to any other monocytic subset in health and SLE. Related to Figure 1.

A. Gating strategy for the flow cytometry-sorted monocytic subsets, following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood and extracellular staining. **B.** PCA of gene expression profiles of (left to right) "SLE CM and HI CM", "SLE IM and HI IM", "SLE NCM and HI NCM". Point color represents condition (black for healthy individuals and purple for patients with SLE). **C.** PCA of gene expression profiles of the three healthy (left) and SLE monocytic subsets (right). Point color represents cell subset (blue for CM, black for IM and purple for NCM) and point shape represents condition (filled circle for healthy individuals, and hollow circle for patients with SLE).







Supplementary Figure S2. Distinct proteomic profile of all monocytic subsets in health and SLE. Related to Figure 3.

A. PCA of protein expression profiles of (left to right) "SLE CM and HI CM", "SLE IM and HI IM", "SLE NCM and HI NCM" in technical duplicates. Point color represents condition (black for healthy individuals and purple for patients with SLE). **B.** PCA of protein expression profiles of all monocytic subsets from SLE patients and HI in technical duplicates. Point color represents condition (black for healthy individuals and purple for patients with SLE).

NZB/W F1 SLE model



Supplementary Figure S3. NCM of lupus-diseased mice exhibit decreased frequency in the peripheral blood. Related to Figure 5. A. Representative plots of gating strategies of the three monocytic subsets in the peripheral blood of NZB/W F1 SLE diseased and prediseased mice, following PBMCs isolation, using flow cytometry. **B.** Monocytic subsets frequencies of SLE diseased (n=5) and prediseased mice (n=4). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired and Mann-Whitney Student's *t* tests, * P < 0.05.

в

С



Supplementary Figure S4. DNA damage and cell cycle arrest are distinct features of SLE NCM pathogenicity. Related to Figure 5. A. Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on CD14⁺CD16⁻ and CD14⁺CD16⁺ cells for assessing DDR activation using γ H2AX in CM and IM of SLE patients and HI (n=6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)]. B. Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on CD14⁺CD16⁻ and CD14⁺CD16⁺ cells for assessing apoptosis (cleaved caspase-3) and proliferation (Ki67) in CM and IM of SLE patients and HI (n=6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Statistical significant (mis) and IM of SLE patients and HI (n=6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)]. C. Flow cytometric analysis for assessing cell cycle phases in CM and IM from SLE patients and HI (n=7 individuals per group). The cells were stained with 7-AAD and Ki-67 for cell cycle analysis. Representative plots showing the phases of cell cycle (left to right) in HI CM and SLE CM and HI IM and SLE IM. Statistical significance was obtained by two-way ANOVA Student's t test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)].

Ap G0

G1 S G2

М



Supplementary Figure S5. M1 polarization and activation is a specific feature of SLE NCM. Related to Figure 6.

A. Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on CD14⁺CD16⁻ and CD14⁺CD16⁺ cells for assessing activation, M1 polarization (CD80) and DC polarization (CD123, CD11c) in CM and IM of SLE patients and HI (n=6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)]. **B.** Flow cytometry assay of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) gated on CD14⁺CD16⁻ and CD14⁺CD16⁺ cells for assessing phagocytosis (CD163 & CD36) in CM and IM of SLE patients and HI (n=6 individuals per group). Analyzed results are shown as mean of fluorescence intensity (MFI) per individual. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by unpaired Student's t test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)], * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01.





Supplementary Figure S6. CM are highly phagocytic compared to NCM both in health and SLE. Related to Figure 6.

Sorted CM and NCM from HI and SLE patients (n=3 individuals per group) were incubated with pHrodoTM *E. coli* BioParticles ® for 30min. One representative experiment of 3 is shown. Scale bar, 10µm. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was obtained by one-way ANOVA Student's *t* test, P \geq 0.05 [not significant (ns)], ** P < 0.01.



M1 & M2 macrophages



M1-like monocytes & M2-like monocytes



Supplementary Figure S7. Representative flow cytometry gating strategy for identification of immune cell subsets. Related to Figure 6.

Gating strategies for the flow cytometry-analyzed immune cells following PBMCs isolation from the peripheral blood of HI and SLE patients (n=6 individuals per group).



Supplementary Figure S8. Frequencies of the investigated immune cell types. Related to Figure 6.

A. Immune cell frequencies (SLE, HI; n=6 individuals per group). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Unpaired and Mann-Whitney Student's t tests, p \geq 0.05 (ns) & * P < 0.05. **B.** Immune cell frequencies (SLE, HI; n=6 individuals per group). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Unpaired and Mann-Whitney Student's t tests, p \geq 0.05 (ns).

в



Supplementary Figure S9. SLE NCM do not secret anti-inflammatory cytokines. Related to Figure 6.

Detection of released cytokines utilizing LEGENDplexTM technology through flow cytometry at day 1 of culture (n=5 individuals per group). Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Paired Student's t test, p \geq 0.05 (ns). MFI: mean fluorescent intensity

Legends for Tables S1-S3 (separate files)

Supplementary Table S1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of SLE patients and healthy individuals included in the study. Age and sex are depicted for patients with SLE and HI. For the patients with SLE, information on SLEDAI, PGA, dominant organ, disease status, and treatment at the time of sampling is also provided. SLE: Systemic lupus erythematosus; HI: healthy individual; SLEDAI: Systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index; PGA: physician global assessment; F: female; M: male; LN: lupus nephritis; NPSLE: Neuropsychiatric lupus; MTX: methotrexate; HCQ: hydroxychloroquine; AZA: Azathioprine; GCs: Glucocorticoids, MMF: mycophenolate mofetil; CYC: cyclophosphamide, RTX: rituximab, LEF: leflunomide; * : for samples used for the RNA-sequencing experiment; ** : for samples used for the proteomic experiment

Supplementary Table S2. List of gene ontology (GO) analyses in the transcriptomic data in all monocytic subsets in SLE compared to HI

Supplementary Table S3. List of gene ontology (GO) analyses in the proteomic data in all monocytic subsets in SLE compared to HI

Discussion

In this study, we have employed transcriptomic and proteomic analyses to examine the three monocytic subsets from active SLE patients and HI. Our findings demonstrate an extensive perturbation of SLE NCM. Specifically, we report inflammatory characteristics marked by a type I IFN signature, activation of the complement system, the p53 pathway, as well as metabolic deregulation, which includes reduced oxidative phosphorylation and altered DNA repair mechanisms of NCM of active SLE patients. Our ex vivo experiments further elucidate the pathogenicity of NCM in SLE, revealing an augmented DDR and heightened p53mediated inflammatory responses. These events are followed by G₀ cell cycle arrest and the initiation of a differentiation program, leading to increased autophagy and polarization toward an M1 macrophage phenotype. Moreover, our data provide evidence that enhanced autophagy may be instrumental in driving this differentiation process by preventing SLE NCM from apoptosis and support skewing of polarization. Collectively, these findings establish a link between the proinflammatory responses of NCM in SLE with an M1-macrophage like profile. This connection further contributes to the overall inflammatory milieu in the peripheral circulation and potentially promotes vascular injury prior to the infiltration of these cells into tissues.

Monocytes play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune disorders. However, the specific molecular signatures of monocytes in the context of SLE and the function of NCM in the peripheral blood of patients with active SLE remain elusive. Recent evidence underscores a pathogenic role of NCM in SLE, by identifying TLR-activated NCM as primary regulators in the development of glomerular dysfunction and kidney injury, but delineation of the molecular events that dictate pathogenicity of NCM in both the peripheral blood and target tissues are ill defined [147]. Herein, we aim to expand upon these observations by depicting inflammatory features, IFN response, metabolic alterations and extensive perturbation of NCM in the periphery of patients with active SLE both in the transcriptome and in the proteome level.

Monocytes constitute a heterogeneous cell population, which can be categorized into three distinct cell subsets. Remarkably, the transcriptome profile of IM closely resembles that of CM and NCM. Our findings reveal that, among the three monocytic subsets, NCM display more widespread gene expression changes in SLE. Notably, a substantial cluster of genes exhibits differential expression exclusively within the NCM subset. These findings underscore the inherent diversity within each monocytic subset and emphasize the bidirectional impact of the disease on the NCM. Enrichment analysis revealed that all monocytic subsets display pathogenic features with enhanced inflammatory response, IFN α and IFN γ response and cytokine signaling with activated IL2 STAT5 and IL6 JAK STAT3 cascades [161–164]. Analysis of single-cell RNA-sequencing data has depicted notable differences in cellular composition of SLE patients. Specifically, patients with SLE compared to HI demonstrate a decrease in CD4⁺ T cells, monocytes, and pDCs, alongside an increase in CD8⁺ T cells and B cells. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that monocytes constitute the population with the most prominent proportion of high ISG expression signature in PBMCs. Enrichment of ISG-expressing monocytes has been identified in patients with a more pronounced disease activity [165]. Nevertheless, it is important to emphasize that SLE NCM possess a distinctive transcriptomic signature. This signature is characterized not only by an augmented inflammatory response and enhanced IFN α/γ signaling but also by elevated activation of the p53 pathway, mTORC1 signaling, and hypoxia. Disease-specific chromatin accessibility patterns characterize CD4⁺ T cells of lupus patients, correlating with severity. Notably, singlecell transcriptomic analyses have revealed aberrations of regulatory T (Treg) cells, marked by functional exhaustion related to type I interferon activity [166]. The application of this cutting-edge technology to a different target tissue, specifically renal cells, has enabled the mapping of various leukocyte subsets that play active roles in the disease process. These subsets include myeloid cells, T cells, natural killer (NK) cells and B cells, all of which engage in both pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory responses. Additionally, compelling evidence of the differentiation of monocytes within the kidney further underscore their pathogenetic contribution to lupus nephritis [167]. Significantly, single-cell data strengthen the hypothesis that on the transcriptional level, both CM and NCM exhibit the most pronounced type I IFN signature among various immune cell types, placing these cells as key modulators in disease pathogenesis [168]. Of note, p53 has been implicated in the production of autoantibodies and the development of autoimmunity in murine models of lupus [169]. Furthermore, the activation of the mTORC1 signaling pathway and the abnormalities in autophagy are closely related with the proliferation and differentiation of immune cell subsets, as well as the signaling of inflammatory cytokines, all of which contribute to the SLE pathogenesis [170–172]. Inhibition of mTOR in SLE monocytes has been to shown to reduce IFN α production and STING expression, leading to the amelioration of the disease [173]. Additionally, renal hypoxia has been implicated with the increased infiltration of T cells in the kidney of lupus-prone mice, resulting in tissue damage [174]. All these enriched pathways in the transcriptome signature of NCM underscore their proinflammatory phenotype and position this particular cell subset as key player in the progression of SLE.

In support of our transcriptomic data, analysis at the proteome level underscores a significant separation of monocytes in HI and patients with SLE. Protein expression analysis revealed a more pronounced perturbation of NCM in SLE compared to the other monocytic subsets. Specifically, in SLE NCM, metabolic and cell cycle processes are downregulated, while inflammatory responses, cell development and differentiation are upregulated. Further analysis of the regulatory mechanisms governing transcription reveals several TFs associated with cell differentiation that bind and regulate the DEGs in SLE NCM. Notably, the expression levels of these TFs were altered, as evidenced by SLE vs HI NCM proteomic and transcriptomic data. For instance, STAT1, known to be involved in M1-macrophage polarization, ranks among the top enriched TFs that regulate DEGs in SLE NCM [175–178]. Furthermore, RBM4 is decreased in SLE NCM in our proteomic data. It is noteworthy that RBM4 expression suppresses the polarization of macrophages towards an M1 phenotype, further supporting that this may coordinate cell identity during differentiation and cell cycle arrest in SLE NCM [179]. Several other TFs that were found to regulate

104

DEGs in SLE NCM, including IRF1, RAF1, and E2F1, are important regulators that coordinate differentiation and cell cycle exit, a finding that underscores the significance of these pathways in SLE NCM [180–184]. In addition, the proteomic profile of the three monocytic subsets exhibits inflammatory features further that further substantiate the enriched transcriptomic pathways. Interestingly, SLE NCM demonstrate enriched complement, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and IFN responses and diminished oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), fatty acid metabolism (FAM) and DNA repair. The presence of an EMT signature in SLE NCM is of particular interest, as EMT has been implicated in the development of fibrosis, a recognized feature of kidney damage in SLE [185–187]. This suggests that NCM may have proteins that interact with epithelial cells in the kidney, potentially mediating organ fibrosis and tissue damage. Moreover, the observed reduction in mitochondrial OXPHOS and FAM in SLE NCM aligns with the metabolic profile of proinflammatory M1 macrophages, which rely on glycolysis for their metabolic needs, blocking their transition into an alternative/anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype [188,189]. Furthermore, deficiencies in DNA repair and DNA damage have been associated with an autoimmune phenotype and the development of SLE [190–194]. The apparent defect in DNA repair within NCM suggests that these cells may be more susceptible to DNA damage and genomic instability in SLE. Taken together, these signatures in SLE NCM underscore their inflammatory phenotype and suggest their distinctive metabolic needs within the autoimmune environment.

In our study, we observed that SLE NCM exhibit heightened DDR and elevated levels of p53, supporting the enriched inflammatory responses, activation of p53 pathway and altered DNA repair observed in the proteomic and transcriptomic signatures. Additionally, SLE NCM demonstrated reduced frequency in the peripheral blood of patients with active SLE which was further confirmed in a murine lupus peripheral monocytic subsets. The diminished presence of circulating NCM in the blood of SLE patients may be linked to their recruitment into various tissue targets, including the liver, as observed in patients with alcoholic hepatitis (AH) [195]. The interplay of immune cells within tissues holds pivotal significance in the pathogenesis of SLE, where the liver is identified as one of the primary causal tissues. Meanwhile, NCM have been shown to play great role in the renal damage observed in SLE [147,196]. Of note, it has been revealed that NCM are increased in the periphery of active PsA patients, providing additional evidence that the decreased frequency of NCM is specific to SLE and not secondary to the inflammatory milieu [197]. Given the observed dysregulation in DNA repair and the heightened DDR in SLE NCM, and since these cascades are linked with cell cycle, we examined the status of the cell cycle, which also exhibits alterations within the proteomic signature of SLE NCM. We observed that SLE NCM accumulate in the G₀ phase of the cell cycle, suggesting the initiation of a differentiation program. A similar phenomenon has been observed in Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSCs), which are capable of differentiating into restricted progenitors, such as common myeloid progenitors, without entering into the S phase of the cell cycle and undergoing cell division [198]. During terminal differentiation, most cells exit the cell cycle and enter a prolonged or permanent G₀ cell cycle arrest [199]. A link between monocyte to macrophage differentiation and induction of cell cycle arrest has been established [200]. The enhanced DNA damage and cell cycle arrest collectively reflect a state of differentiation and developmental alteration of NCM in the inflammatory environment of SLE.

Since the proteomic signature of SLE NCM denotes a differentiation and developmental process – a finding further validated from our *ex vivo* studies, we subsequently sought to delineate the differentiation potential of these cells. We revealed that SLE NCM display enhanced polarization towards an M1 macrophage phenotype, as indicated by elevated expression levels of CD80. Conversely, they displayed reduced polarization towards the dendritic cell phenotype, as evidenced by decreased expression levels of CD11c and CD123. Importantly, this particular feature is specific to SLE NCM, as the other two monocytic subsets did not exhibit altered levels of these surface markers. Furthermore, among the various immune cell populations examined, we noted an increased frequency of M1 macrophages and a decreased frequency of CD11c⁺ DCs within the peripheral circulation of patients with active SLE. Our findings suggest that SLE NCM exhibit a phenotype that closely resembles that of M1 macrophages, thereby providing additional evidence for the heightened pro-inflammatory responses observed in these cells. Of note, we

106

demonstrated that NCM release pro-inflammatory M1 cytokines such as IL-1β (which was also found to be increased in the transcriptomic analysis exclusively in SLE NCM), IL-23, and Arginase, further underscoring the inflammatory potential of NCM in the periphery of patients with active SLE. It is important to note that monocytes serve as a critical link between mononuclear phagocyte precursors in the bone marrow (BM) with terminally differentiated mononuclear cells [121,201]. Emerging literature implicates autophagy as a key regulatory pathway in preventing monocytes from apoptosis and inducing their differentiation towards macrophages [125]. In the context of SLE, the enhanced autophagy observed in SLE NCM may prevent these cells from apoptosis and induce their differentiation towards an M1-macrophage like profile in the disease. The differentiation journey of the monocyte/macrophage lineage begins from molecular switching that unfolds in the periphery, but in the context of the disease their relation to resident or infiltrating cells is yet to be thoroughly depicted [120,202,203].

In summary, our study provides unique insights into the molecular signatures of monocytes in SLE. We report a unique proteomic and transcriptomic profile, specifically in the NCM, among patients with active SLE. This profile is characterized by enhanced inflammatory features and extensive perturbation. The pathogenic identity of SLE NCM is characterized by deregulated DNA repair, cell cycle and enhanced IFN signaling, together with cell differentiation and developmental cues. Experimental screening further emphasized the activation of p53 pathway and increased DDR, concomitant with G₀ cell cycle arrest in SLE NCM, reinforcing the notion of initiation of a differentiation program. This defective profile of NCM of patients with SLE is associated with an activated macrophage-like and enriched M1 pro-inflammatory response. Our findings suggest that enhanced autophagy may serve as a mechanism to prevent SLE NCM from apoptosis and support their skewing towards differentiation into a macrophage phenotype with M1 characteristics contributing to the inflammatory environment in the periphery where they may be damaging the endothelium prior to their migration to the tissue. It is noteworthy that endothelial injury is a prominent hallmark of SLE-associated vasculopathy, affecting various tissues, including blood vessels, brain, skin and kidneys [5,204].

107

Collectively, our findings underscore the significance of elucidating the molecular pathways that dominate each cell type in SLE. Such understating is imperative in order to better map their respective roles and functions in the disease and effectively target autoimmunity.

Limitations of the study

There remain some limitations in the present study that leave questions to be tackled in future endeavors. Firstly, despite using flow cytometry to isolate the monocytic subsets, we employed bulk RNA-sequencing technology, and as a result we cannot exclude the possibility that there is even greater heterogeneity inside each subset, yet to be described. Future studies focusing on these well-defined monocyte subsets as the single-cell level may provide further insights. Secondly, due to the limited number of cells, we were unable to concurrently perform both transcriptome and proteome analysis on the same cohort of patients and HI. Moreover, patients had received a variety of therapies in the past although recent cytotoxic or glucocorticosteroid administration was avoided. Finally, our study exclusively examined Caucasians, and therefore we cannot generalize our results to other ethnic groups. Notwithstanding these limitations, this is the first comprehensive transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of the three known subsets of peripheral monocytes in SLE combined with functional data and studies in animal models. Future research endeavors are poised to provide further clarity on these complex matters.
References

- [1] N. Conrad, S. Misra, J.Y. Verbakel, G. Verbeke, G. Molenberghs, P.N. Taylor, J. Mason, N. Sattar, J.J. V McMurray, I.B. McInnes, K. Khunti, G. Cambridge, Incidence, prevalence, and co-occurrence of autoimmune disorders over time and by age, sex, and socioeconomic status: a population-based cohort study of 22 million individuals in the UK, The Lancet. 401 (2023) 1878–1890. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00457-9.
- [2] F. Angum, T. Khan, J. Kaler, L. Siddiqui, A. Hussain, The Prevalence of Autoimmune Disorders in Women: A Narrative Review, Cureus. (2020). https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.8094.
- G.J. Yuen, Autoimmunity in women: an eXamination of eXisting models, Clinical Immunology. 210 (2020) 108270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2019.108270.
- P. Invernizzi, S. Pasini, C. Selmi, M.E. Gershwin, M. Podda, Female predominance and X chromosome defects in autoimmune diseases, J Autoimmun. 33 (2009) 12–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2009.03.005.
- [5] A. Fanouriakis, N. Tziolos, G. Bertsias, D.T. Boumpas, Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus, Ann Rheum Dis. 80 (2021) 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218272.
- [6] G.C. Tsokos, M.S. Lo, P.C. Reis, K.E. Sullivan, New insights into the immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat Rev Rheumatol. 12 (2016) 716–730. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2016.186.
- [7] A. Kaul, C. Gordon, M.K. Crow, Z. Touma, M.B. Urowitz, R. van Vollenhoven, G. Ruiz-Irastorza, G. Hughes, Systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2 (2016) 16039. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2016.39.
- [8] E. Pieterse, J. van der Vlag, Breaking Immunological Tolerance in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Front Immunol. 5 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00164.
- [9] F. Fatoye, T. Gebrye, C. Mbada, Global and regional prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus in low-and-middle income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Rheumatol Int. 42 (2022) 2097–2107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-022-05183-4.
- [10] E.A.A. Christou, A. Banos, D. Kosmara, G.K. Bertsias, D.T. Boumpas, Sexual dimorphism in SLE: above and beyond sex hormones, Lupus. 28 (2019) 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/0961203318815768.
- [11] V. Rider, N.I. Abdou, B.F. Kimler, N. Lu, S. Brown, B.L. Fridley, Gender Bias in Human Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Problem of Steroid Receptor Action?, Front Immunol. 9 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00611.
- [12] M. Cojocaru, I.M. Cojocaru, I. Silosi, C.D. Vrabie, Manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus., Maedica (Bucur). 6 (2011) 330–6.
- [13] J.C. Santacruz, M.J. Mantilla, I. Rueda, S. Pulido, G. Rodriguez-Salas, J. Londono, A Practical Perspective of the Hematologic Manifestations of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Cureus. (2022). https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.22938.

- [14] H.-J. Anders, R. Saxena, M. Zhao, I. Parodis, J.E. Salmon, C. Mohan, Lupus nephritis, Nat Rev Dis Primers. 6 (2020) 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0141-9.
- [15] S. Yavuz, P.E. Lipsky, Current Status of the Evaluation and Management of Lupus Patients and Future Prospects, Front Med (Lausanne). 8 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.682544.
- [16] J. Mikdashi, O. Nived, Measuring disease activity in adults with systemic lupus erythematosus: the challenges of administrative burden and responsiveness to patient concerns in clinical research, Arthritis Res Ther. 17 (2015) 183. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-015-0702-6.
- [17] A. Fava, M. Petri, Systemic lupus erythematosus: Diagnosis and clinical management, J Autoimmun. 96 (2019) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2018.11.001.
- [18] S.-J. Lee, E. Silverman, J.M. Bargman, The role of antimalarial agents in the treatment of SLE and lupus nephritis, Nat Rev Nephrol. 7 (2011) 718–729. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2011.150.
- [19] J.N. Cashman, The Mechanisms of Action of NSAIDs in Analgesia, Drugs. 52
 (1996) 13–23. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199600525-00004.
- [20] W.-Y. Jia, J.-J. Zhang, Effects of glucocorticoids on leukocytes: Genomic and non-genomic mechanisms, World J Clin Cases. 10 (2022) 7187–7194. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v10.i21.7187.
- [21] S. Porta, A. Danza, M. Arias Saavedra, A. Carlomagno, M.C. Goizueta, F. Vivero, G. Ruiz-Irastorza, Glucocorticoids in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Ten Questions and Some Issues, J Clin Med. 9 (2020) 2709. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9092709.
- [22] F. Van Laethem, E. Baus, L.A. Smyth, F. Andris, F. Bex, J. Urbain, D. Kioussis, O. Leo, Glucocorticoids Attenuate T Cell Receptor Signaling, J Exp Med. 193 (2001) 803–814. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.193.7.803.
- U. Stifel, E.-M. Wolfschmitt, J. Vogt, U. Wachter, S. Vettorazzi, D. Tews, M. Hogg, F. Zink, N.M. Koll, S. Winning, R. Mounier, B. Chazaud, P. Radermacher, P. Fischer-Posovszky, G. Caratti, J. Tuckermann, Glucocorticoids coordinate macrophage metabolism through the regulation of the tricarboxylic acid cycle, Mol Metab. 57 (2022) 101424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101424.
- [24] P.-B. Katarzyna, S. Wiktor, D. Ewa, L. Piotr, Current treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: a clinician's perspective, Rheumatol Int. 43 (2023) 1395–1407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-023-05306-5.
- [25] S.P. Nayak, B. Bagchi, S. Roy, Effects of immunosuppressants on T-cell dynamics: Understanding from a generic coarse-grained immune network model, J Biosci. 47 (2022) 70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12038-022-00312-4.
- [26] D.Y.H. Yap, S. Yung, P. Lee, I.Y.L. Yam, C. Tam, C. Tang, T.M. Chan, B Cell Subsets and Cellular Signatures and Disease Relapse in Lupus Nephritis, Front Immunol. 11 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01732.
- [27] M.B. Amissah-Arthur, C. Gordon, Contemporary treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: an update for clinicians, Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 1 (2010) 163– 175. https://doi.org/10.1177/2040622310380100.

- [28] R. Furie, B.H. Rovin, F. Houssiau, A. Malvar, Y.K.O. Teng, G. Contreras, Z. Amoura, X. Yu, C.-C. Mok, M.B. Santiago, A. Saxena, Y. Green, B. Ji, C. Kleoudis, S.W. Burriss, C. Barnett, D.A. Roth, Two-Year, Randomized, Controlled Trial of Belimumab in Lupus Nephritis, New England Journal of Medicine. 383 (2020) 1117–1128. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001180.
- [29] R. Furie, M. Petri, O. Zamani, R. Cervera, D.J. Wallace, D. Tegzová, J. Sanchez-Guerrero, A. Schwarting, J.T. Merrill, W.W. Chatham, W. Stohl, E.M. Ginzler, D.R. Hough, Z.J. Zhong, W. Freimuth, R.F. van Vollenhoven, A phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled study of belimumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits B lymphocyte stimulator, in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 63 (2011) 3918–3930. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30613.
- [30] S. V Navarra, R.M. Guzmán, A.E. Gallacher, S. Hall, R.A. Levy, R.E. Jimenez, E.K.-M. Li, M. Thomas, H.-Y. Kim, M.G. León, C. Tanasescu, E. Nasonov, J.-L. Lan, L. Pineda, Z.J. Zhong, W. Freimuth, M.A. Petri, Efficacy and safety of belimumab in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial, The Lancet. 377 (2011) 721– 731. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61354-2.
- [31] D. Zucchi, C. Cardelli, E. Elefante, C. Tani, M. Mosca, Treat-to-Target in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Reality or Pipe Dream, J Clin Med. 12 (2023) 3348. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm12093348.
- [32] A. Rosen, L. Casciola-Rosen, Autoantigens as Partners in Initiation and Propagation of Autoimmune Rheumatic Diseases, Annu Rev Immunol. 34 (2016) 395–420. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112205.
- [33] M.K. Crow, Pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus: risks, mechanisms and therapeutic targets, Ann Rheum Dis. 82 (2023) 999–1014. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard-2022-223741.
- [34] S.N. Estadt, M.P. Maz, J. Musai, J.M. Kahlenberg, Mechanisms of Photosensitivity in Autoimmunity, Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 142 (2022) 849–856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2021.05.007.
- [35] F. Andrade, L.A. Casciola-Rosen, A. Rosen, Generation of novel covalent RNAprotein complexes in cells by ultraviolet B irradiation: Implications for autoimmunity, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (2005) 1160–1170. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.20992.
- [36] R. Yung, D. Powers, K. Johnson, E. Amento, D. Carr, T. Laing, J. Yang, S. Chang, N. Hemati, B. Richardson, Mechanisms of drug-induced lupus. II. T cells overexpressing lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 become autoreactive and cause a lupuslike disease in syngeneic mice., Journal of Clinical Investigation. 97 (1996) 2866–2871. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118743.
- [37] T.M. Rünger, B. Epe, K. Möller, Processing of Directly and Indirectly Ultraviolet-Induced DNA Damage in Human Cells, in: 1995: pp. 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-78771-3_3.
- [38] M.M. Bashir, M.R. Sharma, V.P. Werth, UVB and Proinflammatory Cytokines Synergistically Activate TNF-α Production in Keratinocytes through Enhanced Gene Transcription, Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 129 (2009) 994– 1001. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2008.332.

- [39] N. Brink, M. Szamel, A.R. Young, K.P. Wittern, J. Bergemann, Comparative quantification of IL-1β, IL-10, IL-10r, TNFα and IL-7 mRNA levels in UVirradiated human skin in vivo, Inflammation Research. 49 (2000) 290–296. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00000209.
- [40] D. Yarosh, D. Both, J. Kibitel, C. Anderson, C. Elmets, D. Brash, D. Brown, Regulation of TNFα production and release in human and mouse keratinocytes and mouse skin after UV-B irradiation, Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed. 16 (2000) 263–270. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0781.2000.160606.x.
- [41] S. Meller, F. Winterberg, M. Gilliet, A. Müller, I. Lauceviciute, J. Rieker, N.J. Neumann, R. Kubitza, M. Gombert, E. Bünemann, U. Wiesner, P. Franken-Kunkel, H. Kanzler, M.-C. Dieu-Nosjean, A. Amara, T. Ruzicka, P. Lehmann, A. Zlotnik, B. Homey, Ultraviolet radiation-induced injury, chemokines, and leukocyte recruitment: An amplification cycle triggering cutaneous lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (2005) 1504–1516. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21034.
- [42] C. Sontheimer, D. Liggitt, K.B. Elkon, Ultraviolet B Irradiation Causes Stimulator of Interferon Genes–Dependent Production of Protective Type I Interferon in Mouse Skin by Recruited Inflammatory Monocytes, Arthritis & Rheumatology. 69 (2017) 826–836. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.39987.
- J. Menke, M.-Y. Hsu, K.T. Byrne, J.A. Lucas, W.A. Rabacal, B.P. Croker, X.-H.
 Zong, E.R. Stanley, V.R. Kelley, Sunlight Triggers Cutaneous Lupus through a CSF-1-Dependent Mechanism in MRL- *Fas lpr* Mice, The Journal of Immunology. 181 (2008) 7367–7379. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.10.7367.
- [44] C.C. Berthier, L.C. Tsoi, T.J. Reed, J.N. Stannard, E.M. Myers, R. Namas, X. Xing, S. Lazar, L. Lowe, M. Kretzler, J.E. Gudjonsson, J.M. Kahlenberg, Molecular Profiling of Cutaneous Lupus Lesions Identifies Subgroups Distinct from Clinical Phenotypes, J Clin Med. 8 (2019) 1244. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8081244.
- [45] E. Reefman, H. Kuiper, P.C. Limburg, C.G.M. Kallenberg, M. Bijl, Type I interferons are involved in the development of ultraviolet B-induced inflammatory skin lesions in systemic lupus erythaematosus patients, Ann Rheum Dis. 67 (2008) 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2007.070359.
- [46] J.-W. Kim, H.-A. Kim, C.-H. Suh, J.-Y. Jung, Sex hormones affect the pathogenesis and clinical characteristics of systemic lupus erythematosus, Front Med (Lausanne). 9 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.906475.
- [47] J.-C. Guéry, Why Is Systemic Lupus Erythematosus More Common in Women?, Joint Bone Spine. 86 (2019) 297–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbspin.2018.12.004.
- [48] Q. Pan, X. Chen, S. Liao, X. Chen, C. Zhao, Y.-Z. Xu, H.-F. Liu, Updated advances of linking psychosocial factors and sex hormones with systemic lupus erythematosus susceptibility and development., PeerJ. 7 (2019) e7179. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7179.
- [49] M.K. Smatti, F.S. Cyprian, G.K. Nasrallah, A.A. Al Thani, R.O. Almishal, H.M. Yassine, Viruses and autoimmunity: A review on the potential interaction and

molecular mechanisms, Viruses. 11 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/v11080762.

- [50] A. Lerner, M. Arleevskaya, A. Schmiedl, T. Matthias, Microbes and Viruses Are Bugging the Gut in Celiac Disease. Are They Friends or Foes?, Front Microbiol. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01392.
- [51] M.I. Arleevskaya, G. Manukyan, R. Inoue, R. Aminov, Editorial: Microbial and Environmental Factors in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases, Front Immunol. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00243.
- [52] A.M. Ercolini, S.D. Miller, The role of infections in autoimmune disease, Clin Exp Immunol. 155 (2008) 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03834.x.
- [53] E.M. Stergioti, T. Manolakou, D.T. Boumpas, A. Banos, Antiviral Innate Immune Responses in Autoimmunity: Receptors, Pathways, and Therapeutic Targeting, Biomedicines. 10 (2022) 2820. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10112820.
- [54] H.M. Hussein, E.A. Rahal, The role of viral infections in the development of autoimmune diseases, Crit Rev Microbiol. 45 (2019) 394–412. https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2019.1614904.
- [55] A.H. Draborg, K. Duus, G. Houen, Epstein-Barr Virus and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Clin Dev Immunol. 2012 (2012) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/370516.
- [56] S.-F. Yu, H.-C. Wu, W.-C. Tsai, J.-H. Yen, W. Chiang, C.-Y. Yuo, S.-N. Lu, L.-C. Chiang, C.-J. Chen, Detecting Epstein-Barr virus DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells in adult patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in Taiwan, Med Microbiol Immunol. 194 (2005) 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00430-004-0230-5.
- [57] U. Moon, S. Park, S. Oh, W.-U. Kim, S.-H. Park, S.-H. Lee, C.-S. Cho, H.-Y. Kim, W.-K. Lee, S. Lee, Patients with systemic lupus erythematosus have abnormally elevated Epstein–Barr virus load in blood, Arthritis Res Ther. 6 (2004) R295. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1181.
- [58] A. Draborg, J. Jørgensen, H. Müller, C. Nielsen, S. Jacobsen, L. Iversen, E. Theander, L. Nielsen, G. Houen, K. Duus, Epstein–Barr virus early antigen diffuse (EBV-EA/D)-directed immunoglobulin A antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus patients, Scand J Rheumatol. 41 (2012) 280–289. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009742.2012.665944.
- [59] A.H. Draborg, N. Sandhu, N. Larsen, J. Lisander Larsen, S. Jacobsen, G. Houen, Impaired Cytokine Responses to Epstein-Barr Virus Antigens in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients, J Immunol Res. 2016 (2016) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6473204.
- [60] M. Larsen, D. Sauce, C. Deback, L. Arnaud, A. Mathian, M. Miyara, D.
 Boutolleau, C. Parizot, K. Dorgham, L. Papagno, V. Appay, Z. Amoura, G.
 Gorochov, Exhausted Cytotoxic Control of Epstein-Barr Virus in Human Lupus, PLoS Pathog. 7 (2011) e1002328.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002328.
- [61] B.D. Poole, A.K. Templeton, J.M. Guthridge, E.J. Brown, J.B. Harley, J.A. James, Aberrant Epstein-Barr viral infection in systemic lupus erythematosus.,

Autoimmun Rev. 8 (2009) 337–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2008.12.008.

- [62] B.D. Poole, R.H. Scofield, J.B. Harley, J.A. James, Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus, Autoimmunity. 39 (2006) 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/08916930500484849.
- [63] M. Savard, C. Bélanger, M. Tardif, P. Gourde, L. Flamand, J. Gosselin, Infection of Primary Human Monocytes by Epstein-Barr Virus, J Virol. 74 (2000) 2612– 2619. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.74.6.2612-2619.2000.
- [64] Q.-Y. Zhu, Bioinformatics analysis of the pathogenic link between Epstein-Barr virus infection, systemic lupus erythematosus and diffuse large B cell lymphoma, Sci Rep. 13 (2023) 6310. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-33585-2.
- [65] A. Sachinidis, A. Garyfallos, Involvement of age-associated B cells in EBVtriggered autoimmunity, Immunol Res. 70 (2022) 546–549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12026-022-09291-y.
- [66] M. Cooray, J.J. Manolakos, D.S. Wright, S. Haider, A. Patel, Parvovirus infection mimicking systemic lupus erythematosus, Can Med Assoc J. 185 (2013) 1342– 1344. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.121565.
- [67] S. Aslanidis, A. Pyrpasopoulou, K. Kontotasios, S. Doumas, C. Zamboulis, Parvovirus B19 infection and systemic lupus erythematosus: Activation of an aberrant pathway?, Eur J Intern Med. 19 (2008) 314–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2007.09.013.
- [68] P.S. Ramos, E.E. Brown, R.P. Kimberly, C.D. Langefeld, Genetic Factors Predisposing to Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Lupus Nephritis, Semin Nephrol. 30 (2010) 164–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semnephrol.2010.01.007.
- [69] M. Marchini, R. Antonioli, A. Lleò, M. Barili, M. Caronni, L. Origgi, M. Vanoli, R. Scorza, Hla class II antigens assoiated with lupus nephritis in italian SLE patients, Hum Immunol. 64 (2003) 462–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0198-8859(03)00017-X.
- [70] M.M.A. Fernando, C.R. Stevens, P.C. Sabeti, E.C. Walsh, A.J.M. McWhinnie, A. Shah, T. Green, J.D. Rioux, T.J. Vyse, Identification of Two Independent Risk Factors for Lupus within the MHC in United Kingdom Families, PLoS Genet. 3 (2007) e192. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0030192.
- [71] R.R. Graham, W. Ortmann, P. Rodine, K. Espe, C. Langefeld, E. Lange, A. Williams, S. Beck, C. Kyogoku, K. Moser, P. Gaffney, P.K. Gregersen, L.A. Criswell, J.B. Harley, T.W. Behrens, Specific combinations of HLA-DR2 and DR3 class II haplotypes contribute graded risk for disease susceptibility and autoantibodies in human SLE, European Journal of Human Genetics. 15 (2007) 823–830. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201827.
- [72] H. NISHINO, Lupus Erythematosus-like Syndrome with Selective Complete Deficiency of C1q, Ann Intern Med. 95 (1981) 322. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-95-3-322.
- [73] G. Hauptmann, E. Grosshans, E. Heid, Lupus erythematosus syndrome and complete deficiency of the fourth component of complement., Boll Ist Sieroter Milan. 53 (1974) suppl:228.

- [74] V. Agnello, M.M. De Bracco, H.G. Kunkel, Hereditary C2 deficiency with some manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus., J Immunol. 108 (1972) 837– 40.
- [75] L. Rönnblom, D. Leonard, Interferon pathway in SLE: one key to unlocking the mystery of the disease, Lupus Sci Med. 6 (2019) e000270. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2018-000270.
- [76] M. Sestan, N. Kifer, T. Arsov, M. Cook, J. Ellyard, C.G. Vinuesa, M. Jelusic, The Role of Genetic Risk Factors in Pathogenesis of Childhood-Onset Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Curr Issues Mol Biol. 45 (2023) 5981–6002. https://doi.org/10.3390/cimb45070378.
- Shancui-zheng, Jinping-Zhang, Guoyuan-lu, L. Liu, Zhiyong-deng,
 Polymorphism in STAT4 Increase the Risk of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus:
 An Updated Meta-Analysis, Int J Rheumatol. 2022 (2022) 1–8.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/5565057.
- [78] Q. Fu, J. Zhao, X. Qian, J.L.H. Wong, K.M. Kaufman, C.Y. Yu, M.Y. Mok, J.B. Harley, J.M. Guthridge, Y.W. Song, S.-K. Cho, S.-C. Bae, J.M. Grossman, B.H. Hahn, F.C. Arnett, N. Shen, B.P. Tsao, Association of a functional IRF7 variant with systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 63 (2011) 749–754. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.30193.
- [79] S. Sigurdsson, G. Nordmark, H.H.H. Göring, K. Lindroos, A.-C. Wiman, G. Sturfelt, A. Jönsen, S. Rantapää-Dahlqvist, B. Möller, J. Kere, S. Koskenmies, E. Widén, M.-L. Eloranta, H. Julkunen, H. Kristjansdottir, K. Steinsson, G. Alm, L. Rönnblom, A.-C. Syvänen, Polymorphisms in the Tyrosine Kinase 2 and Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Genes Are Associated with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, The American Journal of Human Genetics. 76 (2005) 528–537. https://doi.org/10.1086/428480.
- [80] L. Wen, B. Zhang, X. Wu, R. Liu, H. Fan, L. Han, Z. Zhang, X. Ma, C.-Q. Chu, X. Shi, Toll-like receptors 7 and 9 regulate the proliferation and differentiation of B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus, Front Immunol. 14 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1093208.
- [81] M.M. Azab, F.M. Mostafa, M. Khalil, M. Salama, A.A. Abdelrahman, A.A. Ali, Association of TLR7 and TLR9 genes polymorphisms in Egyptian patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Heliyon. 8 (2022) e11680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e11680.
- [82] G.J. Brown, P.F. Cañete, H. Wang, A. Medhavy, J. Bones, J.A. Roco, Y. He, Y. Qin, J. Cappello, J.I. Ellyard, K. Bassett, Q. Shen, G. Burgio, Y. Zhang, C. Turnbull, X. Meng, P. Wu, E. Cho, L.A. Miosge, T.D. Andrews, M.A. Field, D. Tvorogov, A.F. Lopez, J.J. Babon, C.A. López, Á. Gónzalez-Murillo, D.C. Garulo, V. Pascual, T. Levy, E.J. Mallack, D.G. Calame, T. Lotze, J.R. Lupski, H. Ding, T.R. Ullah, G.D. Walters, M.E. Koina, M.C. Cook, N. Shen, C. de Lucas Collantes, B. Corry, M.P. Gantier, V. Athanasopoulos, C.G. Vinuesa, TLR7 gain-of-function genetic variation causes human lupus, Nature. 605 (2022) 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04642-z.
- [83] M. Karimifar, K. Akbari, R. ArefNezhad, F. Fathi, M. Mousaei Ghasroldasht, H. Motedayyen, Impacts of FcyRIIB and FcyRIIIA gene polymorphisms on systemic lupus erythematous disease activity index, BMC Res Notes. 14 (2021) 455. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-021-05868-2.

- [84] D.E. Adams, W.-H. Shao, Epigenetic Alterations in Immune Cells of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Therapeutic Implications., Cells. 11 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11030506.
- [85] S. Farivar, F. Shaabanpour Aghamaleki, Effects of Major Epigenetic Factors on Systemic Lupus Erythematosus., Iran Biomed J. 22 (2018) 294–302. https://doi.org/10.29252/ibj.22.5.294.
- [86] G. XIAO, X. ZUO, Epigenetics in systemic lupus erythematosus, Biomed Rep. 4 (2016) 135–139. https://doi.org/10.3892/br.2015.556.
- [87] B. Richardson, Impact of aging on DNA methylation, Ageing Res Rev. 2 (2003) 245–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1568-1637(03)00010-2.
- [88] K.D. Robertson, DNA methylation and human disease, Nat Rev Genet. 6 (2005) 597–610. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1655.
- [89] G. Egger, G. Liang, A. Aparicio, P.A. Jones, Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy, Nature. 429 (2004) 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02625.
- [90] K. Oelke, Q. Lu, D. Richardson, A. Wu, C. Deng, S. Hanash, B. Richardson, Overexpression of CD70 and overstimulation of IgG synthesis by lupus T cells and T cells treated with DNA methylation inhibitors, Arthritis Rheum. 50 (2004) 1850–1860. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.20255.
- [91] Q. Lu, M. Kaplan, D. Ray, D. Ray, S. Zacharek, D. Gutsch, B. Richardson, Demethylation ofITGAL (CD11a) regulatory sequences in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 46 (2002) 1282–1291. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10234.
- [92] D. Basu, Y. Liu, A. Wu, S. Yarlagadda, G.J. Gorelik, M.J. Kaplan, A. Hewagama, R.C. Hinderer, F.M. Strickland, B.C. Richardson, Stimulatory and Inhibitory Killer Ig-Like Receptor Molecules Are Expressed and Functional on Lupus T Cells, The Journal of Immunology. 183 (2009) 3481–3487. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900034.
- [93] P. Coit, M. Jeffries, N. Altorok, M.G. Dozmorov, K.A. Koelsch, J.D. Wren, J.T. Merrill, W.J. McCune, A.H. Sawalha, Genome-wide DNA methylation study suggests epigenetic accessibility and transcriptional poising of interferonregulated genes in naïve CD4+ T cells from lupus patients, J Autoimmun. 43 (2013) 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2013.04.003.
- [94] S.A. Chung, J. Nititham, E. Elboudwarej, H.L. Quach, K.E. Taylor, L.F. Barcellos, L.A. Criswell, Genome-Wide Assessment of Differential DNA Methylation Associated with Autoantibody Production in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, PLoS One. 10 (2015) e0129813.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129813.

- [95] J. Imgenberg-Kreuz, J. Carlsson Almlöf, D. Leonard, A. Alexsson, G. Nordmark, M.-L. Eloranta, S. Rantapää-Dahlqvist, A.A. Bengtsson, A. Jönsen, L. Padyukov, I. Gunnarsson, E. Svenungsson, C. Sjöwall, L. Rönnblom, A.-C. Syvänen, J.K. Sandling, DNA methylation mapping identifies gene regulatory effects in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Ann Rheum Dis. 77 (2018) 736– 743. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212379.
- [96] T. Jenuwein, C.D. Allis, Translating the Histone Code, Science (1979). 293
 (2001) 1074–1080. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1063127.

- [97] N. Altorok, A.H. Sawalha, Epigenetics in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Curr Opin Rheumatol. 25 (2013) 569–576. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOR.0b013e328364206f.
- [98] Q. Zhang, H. long, J. Liao, M. Zhao, G. Liang, X. Wu, P. Zhang, S. Ding, S. Luo, Q. Lu, Inhibited expression of hematopoietic progenitor kinase 1 associated with loss of jumonji domain containing 3 promoter binding contributes to autoimmunity in systemic lupus erythematosus, J Autoimmun. 37 (2011) 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2011.09.006.
- [99] K.E. Sullivan, A. Suriano, K. Dietzmann, J. Lin, D. Goldman, M.A. Petri, The TNFα locus is altered in monocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, Clinical Immunology. 123 (2007) 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2006.12.008.
- [100] P. Gautam, A. Sharma, A. Bhatnagar, Global histone modification analysis reveals hypoacetylated H3 and H4 histones in B Cells from systemic lupus erythematosus patients, Immunol Lett. 240 (2021) 41–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2021.09.007.
- [101] N. Hu, X. Qiu, Y. Luo, J. Yuan, Y. Li, W. Lei, G. Zhang, Y. Zhou, Y. Su, Q. Lu, Abnormal histone modification patterns in lupus CD4+ T cells., J Rheumatol. 35 (2008) 804–10.
- [102] V.F. Ntasis, N.I. Panousis, M.G. Tektonidou, E.T. Dermitzakis, D.T. Boumpas, G.K. Bertsias, C. Nikolaou, Extensive fragmentation and re-organization of transcription in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Sci Rep. 10 (2020) 16648. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73654-4.
- [103] D.S. Pisetsky, P.E. Lipsky, New insights into the role of antinuclear antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus., Nat Rev Rheumatol. 16 (2020) 565–579. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-020-0480-7.
- [104] A. Kaul, C. Gordon, M.K. Crow, Z. Touma, M.B. Urowitz, R. van Vollenhoven, G. Ruiz-Irastorza, G. Hughes, Systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2 (2016) 16039. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2016.39.
- [105] G.C. Tsokos, M.S. Lo, P.C. Reis, K.E. Sullivan, New insights into the immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus, Nat Rev Rheumatol. 12 (2016) 716–730. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2016.186.
- [106] O. Zharkova, T. Celhar, P.D. Cravens, A.B. Satterthwaite, A.-M. Fairhurst, L.S. Davis, Pathways leading to an immunological disease: systemic lupus erythematosus., Rheumatology (Oxford). 56 (2017) i55–i66. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kew427.
- [107] A.A. Patel, Y. Zhang, J.N. Fullerton, L. Boelen, A. Rongvaux, A.A. Maini, V. Bigley, R.A. Flavell, D.W. Gilroy, B. Asquith, D. Macallan, S. Yona, The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation, Journal of Experimental Medicine. 214 (2017) 1913–1923. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20170355.
- [108] C. Jakubzick, E.L. Gautier, S.L. Gibbings, D.K. Sojka, A. Schlitzer, T.E. Johnson, S. Ivanov, Q. Duan, S. Bala, T. Condon, N. van Rooijen, J.R. Grainger, Y. Belkaid, A. Ma'ayan, D.W.H. Riches, W.M. Yokoyama, F. Ginhoux, P.M. Henson, G.J. Randolph, Minimal Differentiation of Classical Monocytes as They Survey Steady-State Tissues and Transport Antigen to Lymph Nodes, Immunity. 39 (2013) 599–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.007.

- [109] F. Geissmann, S. Jung, D.R. Littman, Blood Monocytes Consist of Two Principal Subsets with Distinct Migratory Properties, Immunity. 19 (2003) 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00174-2.
- [110] V. Wacleche, C. Tremblay, J.-P. Routy, P. Ancuta, The Biology of Monocytes and Dendritic Cells: Contribution to HIV Pathogenesis, Viruses. 10 (2018) 65. https://doi.org/10.3390/v10020065.
- [111] M. Guilliams, A. Mildner, S. Yona, Developmental and Functional Heterogeneity of Monocytes, Immunity. 49 (2018) 595–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.10.005.
- [112] S. Yona, K.-W. Kim, Y. Wolf, A. Mildner, D. Varol, M. Breker, D. Strauss-Ayali, S. Viukov, M. Guilliams, A. Misharin, D.A. Hume, H. Perlman, B. Malissen, E. Zelzer, S. Jung, Fate Mapping Reveals Origins and Dynamics of Monocytes and Tissue Macrophages under Homeostasis, Immunity. 38 (2013) 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.12.001.
- [113] R.N. Hanna, L.M. Carlin, H.G. Hubbeling, D. Nackiewicz, A.M. Green, J.A. Punt, F. Geissmann, C.C. Hedrick, The transcription factor NR4A1 (Nur77) controls bone marrow differentiation and the survival of Ly6C- monocytes, Nat Immunol. 12 (2011) 778–785. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2063.
- K.L. Wong, J.J.-Y. Tai, W.-C. Wong, H. Han, X. Sem, W.-H. Yeap, P. Kourilsky, S.-C. Wong, Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets, Blood. 118 (2011) e16–e31. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326355.
- [115] G.D. Thomas, R.N. Hanna, N.T. Vasudevan, A.A. Hamers, C.E. Romanoski, S. McArdle, K.D. Ross, A. Blatchley, D. Yoakum, B.A. Hamilton, Z. Mikulski, M.K. Jain, C.K. Glass, C.C. Hedrick, Deleting an Nr4a1 Super-Enhancer Subdomain Ablates Ly6C low Monocytes while Preserving Macrophage Gene Function, Immunity. 45 (2016) 975–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.011.
- [116] A. Tamura, H. Hirai, A. Yokota, N. Kamio, A. Sato, T. Shoji, T. Kashiwagi, Y. Torikoshi, Y. Miura, D.G. Tenen, T. Maekawa, C/EBPβ is required for survival of Ly6C- monocytes, Blood. 130 (2017) 1809–1818. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-03-772962.
- [117] A. Mildner, J. Schönheit, A. Giladi, E. David, D. Lara-Astiaso, E. Lorenzo-Vivas, F. Paul, L. Chappell-Maor, J. Priller, A. Leutz, I. Amit, S. Jung, Genomic Characterization of Murine Monocytes Reveals C/EBPβ Transcription Factor Dependence of Ly6C – Cells, Immunity. 46 (2017) 849-862.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.04.018.
- [118] C. Schmidl, K. Renner, K. Peter, R. Eder, T. Lassmann, P.J. Balwierz, M. Itoh, S. Nagao-Sato, H. Kawaji, P. Carninci, H. Suzuki, Y. Hayashizaki, R. Andreesen, D.A. Hume, P. Hoffmann, A.R.R. Forrest, M.P. Kreutz, M. Edinger, M. Rehli, Transcription and enhancer profiling in human monocyte subsets, Blood. 123 (2014) e90–e99. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-02-484188.
- [119] J.D. Buenrostro, M.R. Corces, C.A. Lareau, B. Wu, A.N. Schep, M.J. Aryee, R. Majeti, H.Y. Chang, W.J. Greenleaf, Integrated Single-Cell Analysis Maps the Continuous Regulatory Landscape of Human Hematopoietic Differentiation, Cell. 173 (2018) 1535-1548.e16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.074.
- [120] S. Wallner, C. Schröder, E. Leitão, T. Berulava, C. Haak, D. Beißer, S. Rahmann, A.S. Richter, T. Manke, U. Bönisch, L. Arrigoni, S. Fröhler, F. Klironomos, W.

Chen, N. Rajewsky, F. Müller, P. Ebert, T. Lengauer, M. Barann, P. Rosenstiel, G. Gasparoni, K. Nordström, J. Walter, B. Brors, G. Zipprich, B. Felder, L. Klein-Hitpass, C. Attenberger, G. Schmitz, B. Horsthemke, Epigenetic dynamics of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation, Epigenetics Chromatin. 9 (2016) 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-016-0079-z.

- P. Italiani, D. Boraschi, From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation, Front Immunol. 5 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00514.
- [122] K. Anbazhagan, I. Duroux-Richard, C. Jorgensen, F. Apparailly, Transcriptomic Network Support Distinct Roles of Classical and Non-Classical Monocytes in Human, Int Rev Immunol. 33 (2014) 470–489. https://doi.org/10.3109/08830185.2014.902453.
- [123] P. Chomarat, J. Banchereau, J. Davoust, A. Karolina Palucka, IL-6 switches the differentiation of monocytes from dendritic cells to macrophages, Nat Immunol. 1 (2000) 510–514. https://doi.org/10.1038/82763.
- [124] R.M. Kratofil, P. Kubes, J.F. Deniset, Monocyte Conversion During Inflammation and Injury, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 37 (2017) 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308198.
- [125] Y. Zhang, M.J. Morgan, K. Chen, S. Choksi, Z. Liu, Induction of autophagy is essential for monocyte-macrophage differentiation., Blood. 119 (2012) 2895– 905. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-08-372383.
- [126] A.M. Zawada, J.S. Schneider, A.I. Michel, K.S. Rogacev, B. Hummel, N. Krezdorn, S. Müller, B. Rotter, P. Winter, R. Obeid, J. Geisel, D. Fliser, G.H. Heine, DNA methylation profiling reveals differences in the 3 human monocyte subsets and identifies uremia to induce DNA methylation changes during differentiation, Epigenetics. 11 (2016) 259–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2016.1158363.
- K.L. Wong, J.J.-Y. Tai, W.-C. Wong, H. Han, X. Sem, W.-H. Yeap, P. Kourilsky, S.-C. Wong, Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets, Blood. 118 (2011) e16–e31. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-12-326355.
- [128] C. Weber, K.-U. Belge, P. von Hundelshausen, G. Draude, B. Steppich, M. Mack, M. Frankenberger, K.S.C. Weber, H.W.L. Ziegler-Heitbrock, Differential chemokine receptor expression and function in human monocyte subpopulations, J Leukoc Biol. 67 (2000) 699–704. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.67.5.699.
- [129] J. Cros, N. Cagnard, K. Woollard, N. Patey, S.-Y. Zhang, B. Senechal, A. Puel, S.K. Biswas, D. Moshous, C. Picard, J.-P. Jais, D. D'Cruz, J.-L. Casanova, C. Trouillet, F. Geissmann, Human CD14dim Monocytes Patrol and Sense Nucleic Acids and Viruses via TLR7 and TLR8 Receptors, Immunity. 33 (2010) 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.012.
- [130] J. Lee, H. Tam, L. Adler, A. Ilstad-Minnihan, C. Macaubas, E.D. Mellins, The MHC class II antigen presentation pathway in human monocytes differs by subset and is regulated by cytokines, PLoS One. 12 (2017) e0183594. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183594.
- [131] K.-U. Belge, F. Dayyani, A. Horelt, M. Siedlar, M. Frankenberger, B. Frankenberger, T. Espevik, L. Ziegler-Heitbrock, The Proinflammatory

CD14+CD16+DR++ Monocytes Are a Major Source of TNF, The Journal of Immunology. 168 (2002) 3536–3542. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3536.

- [132] J. Skrzeczyńska-Moncznik, M. Bzowska, S. Lo["]seke, E. Grage-Griebenow, M. Zembala, J. Pryjma, Peripheral Blood CD14 ^{high} CD16 ⁺ Monocytes are Main Producers of IL-10, Scand J Immunol. 67 (2008) 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2007.02051.x.
- [133] P. Ancuta, K.-Y. Liu, V. Misra, V. Wacleche, A. Gosselin, X. Zhou, D. Gabuzda, Transcriptional profiling reveals developmental relationship and distinct biological functions of CD16+ and CD16- monocyte subsets, BMC Genomics. 10 (2009) 403. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-403.
- [134] P. Ancuta, R. Rao, A. Moses, A. Mehle, S.K. Shaw, F.W. Luscinskas, D. Gabuzda, Fractalkine Preferentially Mediates Arrest and Migration of CD16+ Monocytes, J Exp Med. 197 (2003) 1701–1707. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20022156.
- [135] S.T. Gren, T.B. Rasmussen, S. Janciauskiene, K. Håkansson, J.G. Gerwien, O. Grip, A Single-Cell Gene-Expression Profile Reveals Inter-Cellular Heterogeneity within Human Monocyte Subsets, PLoS One. 10 (2015) e0144351. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144351.
- [136] C. Schmidl, K. Renner, K. Peter, R. Eder, T. Lassmann, P.J. Balwierz, M. Itoh, S. Nagao-Sato, H. Kawaji, P. Carninci, H. Suzuki, Y. Hayashizaki, R. Andreesen, D.A. Hume, P. Hoffmann, A.R.R. Forrest, M.P. Kreutz, M. Edinger, M. Rehli, Transcription and enhancer profiling in human monocyte subsets, Blood. 123 (2014) e90–e99. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-02-484188.
- [137] T.S. Kapellos, L. Bonaguro, I. Gemünd, N. Reusch, A. Saglam, E.R. Hinkley, J.L. Schultze, Human Monocyte Subsets and Phenotypes in Major Chronic Inflammatory Diseases, Front Immunol. 10 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02035.
- [138] A.M. Walsh, J.W. Whitaker, C.C. Huang, Y. Cherkas, S.L. Lamberth, C. Brodmerkel, M.E. Curran, R. Dobrin, Integrative genomic deconvolution of rheumatoid arthritis GWAS loci into gene and cell type associations, Genome Biol. 17 (2016) 79. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-0948-6.
- [139] A. Delgado-Vega, E. Sánchez, S. Löfgren, C. Castillejo-López, M.E. Alarcón-Riquelme, Recent findings on genetics of systemic autoimmune diseases, Curr Opin Immunol. 22 (2010) 698–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2010.09.002.
- [140] C.G. Katsiari, S.-N.C. Liossis, P.P. Sfikakis, The Pathophysiologic Role of Monocytes and Macrophages in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Reappraisal, Semin Arthritis Rheum. 39 (2010) 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2008.11.002.
- [141] H. Zhu, F. Hu, X. Sun, X. Zhang, L. Zhu, X. Liu, X. Li, L. Xu, L. Shi, Y. Gan, Y. Su, CD16+ Monocyte Subset Was Enriched and Functionally Exacerbated in Driving T-Cell Activation and B-Cell Response in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Front Immunol. 7 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00512.
- [142] R. Mukherjee, P. Kanti Barman, P. Kumar Thatoi, R. Tripathy, B. Kumar Das, B. Ravindran, Non-Classical monocytes display inflammatory features: Validation in Sepsis and Systemic Lupus Erythematous, Sci Rep. 5 (2015) 13886. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13886.

- [143] W. Jiang, L. Zhang, R. Lang, Z. Li, G. Gilkeson, Sex Differences in Monocyte Activation in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE), PLoS One. 9 (2014) e114589. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114589.
- [144] R. Biesen, C. Demir, F. Barkhudarova, J.R. Grün, M. Steinbrich-Zöllner, M. Backhaus, T. Häupl, M. Rudwaleit, G. Riemekasten, A. Radbruch, F. Hiepe, G.-R. Burmester, A. Grützkau, Sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin 1 expression in inflammatory and resident monocytes is a potential biomarker for monitoring disease activity and success of therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 58 (2008) 1136–1145. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23404.
- [145] F.M.O.P.M.G.-K.R.W.G.A.H.X.X.C.M.Y.S.M.R.M.P.M.F.W.L.C.T.M.P.R.L.M.J.E.G.J.M.K. Allison C. Billi, Non-lesional and Lesional Lupus Skin Share Inflammatory Phenotypes that Drive Activation of CD16+ Dendritic Cells, BioRxiv. (2021).
- [146] A.V. Misharin, C.M. Cuda, R. Saber, J.D. Turner, A.K. Gierut, G.K. Haines, S. Berdnikovs, A. Filer, A.R. Clark, C.D. Buckley, G.M. Mutlu, G.R.S. Budinger, H. Perlman, Nonclassical Ly6C– Monocytes Drive the Development of Inflammatory Arthritis in Mice, Cell Rep. 9 (2014) 591–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.032.
- [147] J. Kuriakose, V. Redecke, C. Guy, J. Zhou, R. Wu, S.K. Ippagunta, H. Tillman, P.D. Walker, P. Vogel, H. Häcker, Patrolling monocytes promote the pathogenesis of early lupus-like glomerulonephritis, Journal of Clinical Investigation. 129 (2019) 2251–2265. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl125116.
- [148] M.-L. Santiago-Raber, H. Amano, E. Amano, L. Baudino, M. Otani, Q. Lin, F. Nimmerjahn, J.S. Verbeek, J. V. Ravetch, Y. Takasaki, S. Hirose, S. Izui, Fcy receptor-dependent expansion of a hyperactive monocyte subset in lupusprone mice, Arthritis Rheum. 60 (2009) 2408–2417. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24787.
- [149] S. Kikuchi, M.-L. Santiago-Raber, H. Amano, E. Amano, L. Fossati-Jimack, T. Moll, B.L. Kotzin, S. Izui, Contribution of NZB Autoimmunity 2 to Y-Linked Autoimmune Acceleration-Induced Monocytosis in Association with Murine Systemic Lupus, The Journal of Immunology. 176 (2006) 3240–3247. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.5.3240.
- [150] S. Hirose, Q. Lin, M. Ohtsuji, H. Nishimura, J.S. Verbeek, Monocyte subsets involved in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis, Int Immunol. 31 (2019) 687–696. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxz036.
- [151] R. Popa, L.A. Lautaru, R. Lucretiu, D.C. Ruiu, D. Caragea, M. Olteanu, A.R. Mihailovici, C. Ene, V. Padureanu, R. Padureanu, V. Cirlig, Therapy Side Effects in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus., Curr Health Sci J. 44 (2018) 316–321. https://doi.org/10.12865/CHSJ.44.03.18.
- [152] J. Tian, Y. Luo, H. Wu, H. Long, M. Zhao, Q. Lu, Risk of adverse events from different drugs for SLE: a systematic review and network meta-analysis, Lupus Sci Med. 5 (2018) e000253. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2017-000253.
- [153] S. Tarazona, A. Arzalluz-Luque, A. Conesa, Undisclosed, unmet and neglected challenges in multi-omics studies, Nat Comput Sci. 1 (2021) 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43588-021-00086-z.

- [154] M. Ludvigsen, B. Honoré, Transcriptomics and Proteomics: Integration?, in: ELS, Wiley, 2018: pp. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0006188.pub2.
- [155] M. Hong, S. Tao, L. Zhang, L.-T. Diao, X. Huang, S. Huang, S.-J. Xie, Z.-D. Xiao, H. Zhang, RNA sequencing: new technologies and applications in cancer research, J Hematol Oncol. 13 (2020) 166. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-01005-x.
- [156] Z. Wang, M. Gerstein, M. Snyder, RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics, Nat Rev Genet. 10 (2009) 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2484.
- [157] K.R. Kukurba, S.B. Montgomery, RNA Sequencing and Analysis, Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2015 (2015) pdb.top084970. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.top084970.
- [158] M. Griffith, J.R. Walker, N.C. Spies, B.J. Ainscough, O.L. Griffith, Informatics for RNA Sequencing: A Web Resource for Analysis on the Cloud, PLoS Comput Biol. 11 (2015) e1004393. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004393.
- [159] N.I. Panousis, G.K. Bertsias, H. Ongen, I. Gergianaki, M.G. Tektonidou, M. Trachana, L. Romano-Palumbo, D. Bielser, C. Howald, C. Pamfil, A. Fanouriakis, D. Kosmara, A. Repa, P. Sidiropoulos, E.T. Dermitzakis, D.T. Boumpas, Combined genetic and transcriptome analysis of patients with SLE: distinct, targetable signatures for susceptibility and severity, Ann Rheum Dis. 78 (2019) 1079–1089. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214379.
- [160] C.S. Hughes, S. Moggridge, T. Müller, P.H. Sorensen, G.B. Morin, J. Krijgsveld, Single-pot, solid-phase-enhanced sample preparation for proteomics experiments, Nat Protoc. 14 (2019) 68–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0082-x.
- [161] A. Goropevšek, M. Holcar, A. Pahor, T. Avčin, STAT signaling as a marker of SLE disease severity and implications for clinical therapy, Autoimmun Rev. 18 (2019) 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2018.08.010.
- [162] N. Jacob, W. Stohl, Cytokine disturbances in systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Res Ther. 13 (2011) 228. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar3349.
- [163] L.S. Davis, J. Hutcheson, C. Mohan, The Role of Cytokines in the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research. 31 (2011) 781–789. https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2011.0047.
- [164] Z. Zhang, K. Maurer, J.C. Perin, L. Song, K.E. Sullivan, Cytokine-Induced Monocyte Characteristics in SLE, J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010 (2010) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/507475.
- [165] D. Nehar-Belaid, S. Hong, R. Marches, G. Chen, M. Bolisetty, J. Baisch, L. Walters, M. Punaro, R.J. Rossi, C.-H. Chung, R.P. Huynh, P. Singh, W.F. Flynn, J.-A. Tabanor-Gayle, N. Kuchipudi, A. Mejias, M.A. Collet, A.L. Lucido, K. Palucka, P. Robson, S. Lakshminarayanan, O. Ramilo, T. Wright, V. Pascual, J.F. Banchereau, Mapping systemic lupus erythematosus heterogeneity at the single-cell level, Nat Immunol. 21 (2020) 1094–1106. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-020-0743-0.
- [166] C. Guo, Q. Liu, D. Zong, W. Zhang, Z. Zuo, Q. Yu, Q. Sha, L. Zhu, X. Gao, J. Fang, J. Tao, Q. Wu, X. Li, K. Qu, Single-cell transcriptome profiling and chromatin accessibility reveal an exhausted regulatory CD4+ T cell subset in systemic

lupus erythematosus, Cell Rep. 41 (2022) 111606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111606.

- [167] A. Arazi, D.A. Rao, C.C. Berthier, A. Davidson, Y. Liu, P.J. Hoover, A. Chicoine, T.M. Eisenhaure, A.H. Jonsson, S. Li, D.J. Lieb, F. Zhang, K. Slowikowski, E.P. Browne, A. Noma, D. Sutherby, S. Steelman, D.E. Smilek, P. Tosta, W. Apruzzese, E. Massarotti, M. Dall'Era, M. Park, D.L. Kamen, R.A. Furie, F. Payan-Schober, W.F. Pendergraft, E.A. McInnis, J.P. Buyon, M.A. Petri, C. Putterman, K.C. Kalunian, E.S. Woodle, J.A. Lederer, D.A. Hildeman, C. Nusbaum, S. Raychaudhuri, M. Kretzler, J.H. Anolik, M.B. Brenner, D. Wofsy, N. Hacohen, B. Diamond, The immune cell landscape in kidneys of patients with lupus nephritis, Nat Immunol. 20 (2019) 902–914. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0398-x.
- [168] R.K. Perez, M.G. Gordon, M. Subramaniam, M.C. Kim, G.C. Hartoularos, S. Targ, Y. Sun, A. Ogorodnikov, R. Bueno, A. Lu, M. Thompson, N. Rappoport, A. Dahl, C.M. Lanata, M. Matloubian, L. Maliskova, S.S. Kwek, T. Li, M. Slyper, J. Waldman, D. Dionne, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, L. Fong, M. Dall'Era, B. Balliu, A. Regev, J. Yazdany, L.A. Criswell, N. Zaitlen, C.J. Ye, Single-cell RNA-seq reveals cell type–specific molecular and genetic associations to lupus, Science (1979). 376 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf1970.
- [169] A. Kuan, P. Cohen, p53 is required for spontaneous autoantibody production in B6/lpr lupus mice, Eur J Immunol. 35 (2005) 1653–1660. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200525982.
- [170] J. He, J. Ma, B. Ren, A. Liu, Advances in systemic lupus erythematosus pathogenesis via mTOR signaling pathway, Semin Arthritis Rheum. 50 (2020) 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2019.09.022.
- [171] Z. Oaks, T. Winans, N. Huang, K. Banki, A. Perl, Activation of the Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin in SLE: Explosion of Evidence in the Last Five Years, Curr Rheumatol Rep. 18 (2016) 73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-016-0622-8.
- [172] D. Fernandez, A. Perl, mTOR signaling: a central pathway to pathogenesis in systemic lupus erythematosus?, Discov Med. 9 (2010) 173–8.
- [173] G. Murayama, A. Chiba, T. Kuga, A. Makiyama, K. Yamaji, N. Tamura, S. Miyake, Inhibition of mTOR suppresses IFNα production and the STING pathway in monocytes from systemic lupus erythematosus patients, Rheumatology. 59 (2020) 2992–3002. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keaa060.
- [174] P.-M. Chen, P.C. Wilson, J.A. Shyer, M. Veselits, H.R. Steach, C. Cui, G. Moeckel, M.R. Clark, J. Craft, Kidney tissue hypoxia dictates T cell-mediated injury in murine lupus nephritis, Sci Transl Med. 12 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aay1620.
- [175] T. Liang, J. Chen, G. Xu, Z. Zhang, J. Xue, H. Zeng, J. Jiang, T. Chen, Z. Qin, H. Li, Z. Ye, Y. Nie, C. Liu, X. Zhan, STAT1 and CXCL10 involve in M1 macrophage polarization that may affect osteolysis and bone remodeling in extrapulmonary tuberculosis, Gene. 809 (2022) 146040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2021.146040.
- [176] Y.-B. Liang, H. Tang, Z.-B. Chen, L.-J. Zeng, J.-G. Wu, W. Yang, Z.-Y. Li, Z.-F. Ma, Downregulated SOCS1 expression activates the JAK1/STAT1 pathway and

promotes polarization of macrophages into M1 type, Mol Med Rep. 16 (2017) 6405–6411. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2017.7384.

- [177] Z.-S. Gan, Q.-Q. Wang, J.-H. Li, X.-L. Wang, Y.-Z. Wang, H.-H. Du, Iron Reduces M1 Macrophage Polarization in RAW264.7 Macrophages Associated with Inhibition of STAT1, Mediators Inflamm. 2017 (2017) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8570818.
- [178] K. Molawi, M.H. Sieweke, Transcriptional Control of Macrophage Identity, Self-Renewal, and Function, in: 2013: pp. 269–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00010-7.
- [179] N. Huangfu, W. Zheng, Z. Xu, S. Wang, Y. Wang, J. Cheng, Z. Li, K. Cheng, S. Zhang, X. Chen, J. Zhu, RBM4 regulates M1 macrophages polarization through targeting STAT1-mediated glycolysis, Int Immunopharmacol. 83 (2020) 106432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106432.
- [180] K. Theilgaard-Mönch, S. Pundhir, K. Reckzeh, J. Su, M. Tapia, B. Furtwängler, J. Jendholm, J.S. Jakobsen, M.S. Hasemann, K.J. Knudsen, J.B. Cowland, A. Fossum, E. Schoof, M.B. Schuster, B.T. Porse, Transcription factor-driven coordination of cell cycle exit and lineage-specification in vivo during granulocytic differentiation, Nat Commun. 13 (2022) 3595. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31332-1.
- [181] C. XIE, C. LIU, B. WU, Y. LIN, T. MA, H. XIONG, Q. WANG, Z. LI, C. MA, Z. TU, Effects of IRF1 and IFN-β interaction on the M1 polarization of macrophages and its antitumor function, Int J Mol Med. 38 (2016) 148–160. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2016.2583.
- [182] W.M. Geil, A. Yen, Nuclear Raf-1 kinase regulates the CXCR5 promoter by associating with NFATc3 to drive retinoic acid-induced leukemic cell differentiation, FEBS Journal. 281 (2014) 1170–1180. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12693.
- [183] L. Magri, V.A. Swiss, B. Jablonska, L. Lei, X. Pedre, M. Walsh, W. Zhang, V. Gallo, P. Canoll, P. Casaccia, E2F1 Coregulates Cell Cycle Genes and Chromatin Components during the Transition of Oligodendrocyte Progenitors from Proliferation to Differentiation, The Journal of Neuroscience. 34 (2014) 1481– 1493. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2840-13.2014.
- [184] G. Thiel, M. Ekici, O.G. Rössler, Regulation of cellular proliferation, differentiation and cell death by activated Raf, Cell Communication and Signaling. 7 (2009) 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-7-8.
- [185] M. Sisto, D. Ribatti, S. Lisi, Organ Fibrosis and Autoimmunity: The Role of Inflammation in TGFβ-Dependent EMT, Biomolecules. 11 (2021) 310. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11020310.
- [186] C.E. Hills, P.E. Squires, The role of TGF-β and epithelial-to mesenchymal transition in diabetic nephropathy, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.06.002.
- [187] Y. Liu, Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Renal Fibrogenesis, Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 15 (2004) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000106015.29070.E7.
- [188] Y. Liu, R. Xu, H. Gu, E. Zhang, J. Qu, W. Cao, X. Huang, H. Yan, J. He, Z. Cai, Metabolic reprogramming in macrophage responses, Biomark Res. 9 (2021) 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40364-020-00251-y.

- [189] J. Qing, Z. Zhang, P. Novák, G. Zhao, K. Yin, Mitochondrial metabolism in regulating macrophage polarization: an emerging regulator of metabolic inflammatory diseases, Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai). 52 (2020) 917– 926. https://doi.org/10.1093/abbs/gmaa081.
- [190] T. Manolakou, P. Verginis, D.T. Boumpas, DNA Damage Response in the Adaptive Arm of the Immune System: Implications for Autoimmunity, Int J Mol Sci. 22 (2021) 5842. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22115842.
- [191] M.P. Mireles-Canales, S.A. González-Chávez, C.M. Quiñonez-Flores, E.A. León-López, C. Pacheco-Tena, DNA Damage and Deficiencies in the Mechanisms of Its Repair: Implications in the Pathogenesis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, J Immunol Res. 2018 (2018) 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8214379.
- [192] R. Meas, M.J. Burak, J.B. Sweasy, DNA repair and systemic lupus erythematosus, DNA Repair (Amst). 56 (2017) 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2017.06.020.
- [193] A.G. Senejani, Y. Liu, D. Kidane, S.E. Maher, C.J. Zeiss, H.-J. Park, M. Kashgarian, J.M. McNiff, D. Zelterman, A.L.M. Bothwell, J.B. Sweasy, Mutation of POLB Causes Lupus in Mice, Cell Rep. 6 (2014) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.12.017.
- [194] R.C. Davies, K. Pettijohn, F. Fike, J. Wang, S.A. Nahas, R. Tunuguntla, H. Hu, R.A. Gatti, D. McCurdy, Defective DNA double-strand break repair in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus, Arthritis Rheum. 64 (2012) 568–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.33334.
- [195] E.B. Rasmussen, L.L. Eriksen, S.R. Greisen, A.L. Hansen, M. Carstensen, T.D. Sandahl, S. Støy, T.W. Kragstrup, Diminished Non-Classical Monocytes in the Blood Associate with Disease Severity in Alcoholic Hepatitis, Clin Exp Gastroenterol. Volume 14 (2021) 259–267. https://doi.org/10.2147/CEG.S299775.
- [196] N.I. Panousis, G.K. Bertsias, H. Ongen, I. Gergianaki, M.G. Tektonidou, M. Trachana, L. Romano-Palumbo, D. Bielser, C. Howald, C. Pamfil, A. Fanouriakis, D. Kosmara, A. Repa, P. Sidiropoulos, E.T. Dermitzakis, D.T. Boumpas, Combined genetic and transcriptome analysis of patients with SLE: distinct, targetable signatures for susceptibility and severity, Ann Rheum Dis. 78 (2019) 1079–1089. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214379.
- [197] A. Grivas, M. Grigoriou, N. Malissovas, G. Sentis, A. Filia, S. Flouda, P. Katsimpri, P. Verginis, D.T. Boumpas, Combined whole blood and skin fibroblasts- transcriptomic analysis in Psoriatic Arthritis reveals molecular signatures of activity, resistance and early response to treatment, Front Immunol. 13 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.964274.
- [198] T. Grinenko, A. Eugster, L. Thielecke, B. Ramasz, A. Krüger, S. Dietz, I. Glauche, A. Gerbaulet, M. von Bonin, O. Basak, H. Clevers, T. Chavakis, B. Wielockx, Hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into restricted myeloid progenitors before cell division in mice, Nat Commun. 9 (2018) 1898. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04188-7.
- [199] Y. Ma, D.J. McKay, L. Buttitta, Changes in chromatin accessibility ensure robust cell cycle exit in terminally differentiated cells, PLoS Biol. 17 (2019) e3000378. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000378.

- [200] R. Lu, P.M. Pitha, Monocyte Differentiation to Macrophage Requires Interferon Regulatory Factor 7, Journal of Biological Chemistry. 276 (2001) 45491–45496. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C100421200.
- [201] M. Guilliams, A. Mildner, S. Yona, Developmental and Functional Heterogeneity of Monocytes, Immunity. 49 (2018) 595–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.10.005.
- [202] M.A. Hoeksema, M.P.J. de Winther, Epigenetic Regulation of Monocyte and Macrophage Function, Antioxid Redox Signal. 25 (2016) 758–774. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2016.6695.
- [203] S. Saeed, J. Quintin, H.H.D. Kerstens, N.A. Rao, A. Aghajanirefah, F. Matarese, S.-C. Cheng, J. Ratter, K. Berentsen, M.A. van der Ent, N. Sharifi, E.M. Janssen-Megens, M. Ter Huurne, A. Mandoli, T. van Schaik, A. Ng, F. Burden, K. Downes, M. Frontini, V. Kumar, E.J. Giamarellos-Bourboulis, W.H. Ouwehand, J.W.M. van der Meer, L.A.B. Joosten, C. Wijmenga, J.H.A. Martens, R.J. Xavier, C. Logie, M.G. Netea, H.G. Stunnenberg, Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity, Science (1979). 345 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251086.
- [204] L. Moschetti, S. Piantoni, E. Vizzardi, E. Sciatti, M. Riccardi, F. Franceschini, I. Cavazzana, Endothelial Dysfunction in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Systemic Sclerosis: A Common Trigger for Different Microvascular Diseases, Front Med (Lausanne). 9 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2022.849086.